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Statement of Income Figures Year Change
GEL mln 2007 2006  
Revenue (1)  236 112  111%
Costs (2)  129 63  103%
Income before Tax  90 35  157%
Net Income  76 27  183%

Profitabilty Ratios Year Change

2007 2006
EPS (Fully Diluted, US$)  1.85               0.85 118% 
ROAE, % (3)  16.2                11.5 41% 
Cost/Income Ratio, %  54.6              56.5 -3% 

Balance Sheet Highlights As at period end Change
GEL mln 2007 2006
Total Assets  2,954        1,213  143%
Loans to Clients  1,676           685  145%
Total Deposits  1,355             560  142%
Shareholders’ Equity  558               375  49%

Capital Ratios(4) As at period end Change
2007 2006

Tier I Capital Adequacy Ratio, % 25.0% 45.5%  -45%
Total Capital Ratio, % 22.0% 48.1%  -54%

Selected Operating Data(5) As at period end Change

2007 2006
Branches  157 100 57
ATMs 278 124 154
Current Accounts 851,334 507,022 344,312
Retail clients 612,335 419,793 192,542
Employees (full-time)  4,459           2,226 2,233 

Ratings
Foreign Currency Local Currency Outlook

(Long-term/Short-term)
Standard & Poor's (6)  ‘B+'/'B’  ‘B'+/'B’ Stable
Moody's Investor Service  ‘B3/NP’  ‘Ba1/NP’
Fitch Ratings  ‘B+'/'B’  ‘B+'/'B’ Stable

Awards

JSC Bank of Georgia (LSE: BGEO; GSE: GEB) is the leading universal Georgian bank with operations in Georgia and Ukraine.  It is the 
largest bank by assets, loans, deposits and equity in Georgia with 35.4% market share by assets as of 31 December 2007 (market data ac-
cording to the information published by the National Bank of Georgia).  The Bank offers a full range of retail banking and corporate and 
investment banking services to its clients.  It is also the leading provider of insurance, wealth management, asset management, leasing and 
card-processing services in Georgia.

(1) Revenue equals sum of Net Interest Income, Net Fee & Commission Income, Other Non-Interest Income less Net Insurance Claims Incurred 
(2) Costs equal Other Non-Interest Expenses less Net Insurance Claims Incurred
(3) ROAE equals Net Income of the period divided by average Total Shareholders’ Equity
(4) BIS Tier I and Total Capital Adequacy Ratios are calculated on a standalone basis in accordance with the requirements of Basel Capital Accord I
(5) The operating data includes operating results of Ukrainian bank, acquired in October 2007 by Bank of Georgia
(6) Sovereign Rating of Georgia

BANK OF GEORGIA HIGHLIGHTS



FINANCIAL TRENDS

Revenue(1)

(1) Revenue equals sum of Net Interest Income, Net Fee & Commission Income, Other Non-Interest Income less Net Insurance Claims Incurred 
Note: growth rates shown as compound annual growth rates (CAGR)
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Statement of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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Dear Shareholders,
2007 was a very successful and eventful year for Bank of Georgia. 
We further consolidated our market position in Georgia, becoming 
the undisputed leader of the Georgian banking industry. Our assets 
increased by 143%, revenue by 111% and net income by 183% and 
our return on average equity reached 16.2%. 

We finished 2007 with over 705,000 retail and 100,000 corporate 
current accounts. We opened 17 new branches and installed 126 new 
ATMs in Georgia. 

In February 2007 we became the first Georgian entity to issue an 
international Eurobond – US$200 million, and in August we issued 
our first international syndicated loan – US$123.5 million.

In October 2007 we completed the acquisition of Universal Bank of 
Development and Partnership (UBDP) in Ukraine, our first signifi-
cant acquisition outside Georgia, establishing Bank of Georgia as an 
important regional player in European CIS markets.

Recognizing the management challenges presented by such rapid 
growth and development, we continued the “institutionalization” 
of Bank of Georgia by further refining our management structure 
and processes and attracting top talent from Georgia and around the 
world to strengthen our management team at all levels. The depth 
and strength of our team was confirmed by a smooth management 
transition following Lado Gurgenidze’s resignation as Chairman of 
the Supervisory Board to become Prime Minister of Georgia.

In recognition of our achievements in 2007 we received, for the sec-
ond consecutive year, The Bank of the Year Award from The Banker 
and for the third consecutive year The Best Bank in Georgia Award 
for Excellence from Euromoney.

The global financial crisis which started in the summer of 2007 had 
a limited effect on the Bank’s operational performance in 2007, al-
though its impact on our strategy and outlook for the near future will 
be more significant.

Aggressive domestic and international growth has been the founda-
tion of Bank of Georgia’s strategy in recent years. Whilst we will 
certainly continue to focus on growth, our approach to achieving it 
has become more measured in light of the changed global market 
environment.

As the leading Georgian financial institution we are uniquely po-
sitioned to remain the primary beneficiary of the rapidly growing 
demand for lending products from Georgian retail and corporate cli-
ents. However, in this challenging market environment rapid asset 
growth should be combined with an even more disciplined approach 
to risk and capital management and operational efficiency.

Successful integration of our Ukrainian business is a key priority of 
our international strategy in 2008. Developing an advanced, offshore 
private banking offering in markets with large Georgian communi-
ties which could provide an important new source of client deposits 
and fee income for the Bank, is another important aspect of our in-
ternational strategy. We will also continue to assess, in a disciplined 
and focused manner, market-entry opportunities in selected CIS 
countries. In order not to overstretch the Bank’s management and 
financial resources, we intend to make no more than one acquisition 
in 2008.

This is my first letter to you as Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
and I would like to assure you that despite the challenging market 
conditions and changes in the Bank’s management, our discipline 
and focus remain sharp and delivering shareholder value remains 
our top priority. 

I would like to thank our Board for its continuous support and active 
engagement, and also our employees, whose dedication and profes-
sionalism make Bank of Georgia’s success possible. 

Yours sincerely,

Nicholas Enukidze
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

29 April 2008
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DELIVERING RESULTS
2007 was another record year for Bank of Georgia. Without a doubt 
Bank of Georgia benefited significantly from the opportunities stem-
ming from Georgia’s rapidly developing economy, growing inflow 
of foreign investment and increasingly liberal business environment, 
but we also succeeded in managing our rapid growth, improving operat-
ing efficiency and developing new products and services to capture a 
larger market share of customers' wallet. 

Our revenue increased to GEL 235.8 million up by 110.5% com-
pared to GEL 112.0 million in 2006. Our net income reached GEL 
75.6 million up by 182.5% from GEL 26.8 million in 2006. Fully 
diluted earnings per share grew by 103.4% to GEL 2.95 per share 
(US$ 1.85), compared to GEL 1.45 (US$ 0.85) in 2006. The return 
on average equity reached 16.2%, up from 11.5% in 2006. 

Bank of Georgia’s total assets were up by 143.4% from GEL1,213.3 
in 2006 to GEL 2,953.6 in 2007, our loan portfolio grew by 144.7% 
from GEL 684.8 million in 2006 to GEL 1,675.7 million in 2007. 
Our client deposits increased by 142.2% from GEL 559.6 million in 
2006 to GEL 1,355.5 million in 2007. Our Tier I Capital Adequacy 
Ratio calculated by BIS standards stood at 25.0% and Total Capital 
Adequacy Ratio at 22.0%.

I am also very pleased to report that this record financial perfor-
mance was accompanied by strengthened asset quality, resulting in 
a decrease of NPLs / Gross Loans ratio from 2.3% in 2006 to 1.5% 
in 2007 and improvement of operational efficiency, leading to a de-
crease of our consolidated Cost / Income ratio from 56.5% in 2006 
to 54.6% in 2007.

In 2007 we significantly advanced our position on the Georgian 
market. We gained approximately 7.0% market share by assets, 
approximately 6.1% market share by gross loans and approximate-
ly 6.8% market share by client deposits, reaching market share of 

35.4%, 32.7% and 31.4% by total assets, gross loans, and client 
deposits, respectively. 

Our relentless stride towards achieving excellence in Retail Banking 
is bearing fruit. In 2007 we acquired more than 163,000 retail clients 
in Georgia, bringing the total number of retail current accounts in 
Georgia to over 705,000 by year end; at the same time we increased 
our product-to-client ratio from 2.20 in 2006 to 3.02 in 2007. We 
attracted more than 16,000 new corporate clients in Georgia, includ-
ing several of Georgia’s top companies. In addition, we continued 
improving our software systems and thereby our capability to 
support increasing client business. 

To support our commitment to expanding our Georgian business as 
well as international reach, we pursued an aggressive recruitment 
policy in 2007, bringing 2,234 new bankers, salespeople and other 
employees into our group. 

In 2007 we continued developing selected non-banking business 
lines, investing human and/or financial capital to ensure that each 
of them achieves leadership in its specific direction, development 
objectives and delivers value. 

2007 marked an important turning point for the Wealth Manage-
ment business of Bank of Georgia. The decision was made to 
strengthen the group by focusing efforts beyond the core banking 
competencies and to work towards delivering a broader Wealth 
Management platform to clients. While the relationship-based 
Wealth Management service model is still central for every client 
relationship, more aggressive growth within Georgia will come 
from delivering true Wealth Management via a holistic approach of 
providing integrated advice regarding banking, investing and asset 
management.  In a move to significantly enhance the appeal of our 
wealth management services to international clients we appointed 
Deborah Fairlamb, who joined us from UBS Private Banking in 
New York, as head of Wealth Management to spearhead business 
development efforts in order to expand our group’s wealth manage-
ment offering internationally.

Outside Georgia we plan to focus on countries with significant 
Georgian communities. Our Wealth Management services will be 
offered through Bank of Georgia’s international representative 
offices, which will serve as an important channel for acquiring new 
non-resident clients. Our first international representative Wealth 
Management office will open in 2008. 

In June 2007 we successfully concluded the merger of BCI Insurance 
Company with Aldagi, Georgia’s leading insurance company, with 
BCI acquiring Aldagi in December 2006. The combined entity now 
operates under the name Aldagi BCI and is the market leader with 
35% market share by gross premiums written.

In October 2007 Bank of Georgia successfully completed its first 
cross-border transaction by acquiring UBDP in Ukraine. 

Also in October 2007 we established Galt & Taggart Asset Management 
(GTAM), Bank of Georgia’s asset management arm, as a separate legal 
and operating unit. By 31 December 2007 GTAM had approximately 
GEL 120 million (US$ 75 million) under management. 
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Performance in 2007

The following describes Bank of Georgia’s key business lines and 
their performance in 2007.

Retail Banking comprises Bank of Georgia’s retail banking business 
in Georgia. As of year end 2007 Retail Banking served more than 
583,000 clients  and operated the country’s leading distribution 
network of  117 branches, 250 ATMs, 1,594 Point-of-sale (POS) 
terminals, and a state-of-the art call center. 

Retail Banking offers a range of products and services to clients, in-
cluding retail loans; retail deposits; issuance and processing of credit 
and other bank cards; ATMs; Internet and SMS banking services; 
payment of utility bills; money transfers and remittances; and payroll 
services to corporate clients, etc. 

We also offer a wide-range of retail lending products, such as mort-
gage loans for the purchase and renovation of residences, general 
consumer loans, consumer POS loans offered at merchants’ stores, 
auto loans, and micro-financing loans available to entrepreneurs and 
small businesses, etc. 

In 2007 we engaged Allen International, a UK based integrated stra-
tegic design consultancy, to develop our brand concept and identity, 
and to standardize branch design and retail marketing strategy.  Al-
len International completed their assignment in the fourth quarter of 
2007.  Based on Allen International’s recommendations, we remod-
eled four pilot branches, including two pioneering mortgage centers 
in Georgia. Following completion, all four branches started opera-
tions at the beginning of 2008. 

In accordance with our strategy to have a presence in every region of 
Georgia, we added 17 branches and service centers throughout the 
country and plan to open a further 30 in 2008. These new branches 
will be designed according to Allen International’s recommenda-
tions.

Establishing close relationships with merchants is an important part 
of our retail strategy. We currently work closely, at their outlets, with 
30 automobile dealers and 640 retailers providing car loans and POS 
express loans. 

The Bank’s 24 hour, state-of-the-art customer service call center, 
staffed by 25 employees as of 31 December 2007, is accessible to 
customers both by telephone and online.  

The significant growth in Bank of Georgia’s retail banking business 
in Georgia is primarily the result of expansion of the Bank’s retail 
customer base and branch network, its emphasis on sale of packaged 
products, extensive co-branding, third party alliances and increased 
demand for payroll services from corporate customers.

Selected highlights of Retail Banking in 2007

Acquired over 163,000 new clients, bringing the total number of 
Bank of Georgia’s retail clients to 583,500 at year end 2007. 

Opened 17 new branches and 126 ATMs bringing the total number 
of branches to 117 and ATMs to 250. Increased the branch sales 

force by 86% to 1,036 staff.

Increased the number of POS terminals by 1,123 bringing the total 
number of POS terminals to 1,594 at year end 2007.

Increased number of debit cards outstanding by 88.2% to approximately 
530,000 and number of credit cards outstanding from 356 in 2006 to 
108,616 in 2007. 

Increased the number of Internet banking users from 37,377 in 2006 
to 114,612 in 2007 and SMS banking users from 13,705 to 39,703. 

Corporate and Investment Banking (CIB) includes Bank of Georgia’s 
corporate client business in Georgia, which provides a range of 
services to more than 64,000 clients in Georgia, including large 
corporate, small and medium-size companies, NGOs and governmental 
entities, through an integrated client coverage model.

CIB offers a range of products and services, including corporate lending; 
current and deposit accounts; account administration and cash 
management services; payroll services; trade finance operations; 
foreign exchange transactions; and leasing. In addition, through 
Bank of Georgia’s investment banking subsidiary Galt & Taggart Se-
curities, CIB provides a full range of investment banking services. 

CIB’s corporate lending products include working capital loans, 
fixed asset financing, revolving credit lines, overdrafts, project fi-
nancing and SME loans. CIB loans are typically secured by real es-
tate, liquid inventory or equipment and can be denominated in GEL, 
US$, EUR and GBP.

Our trade finance products include pre-export financing, import fi-
nancing, issuing and confirming letters of credit and stand-by letters 
of credit, as well as the provision of guarantees. 

Our treasury offers currency conversion operations to our clients and 
enjoys the lead position with a 34% share of the foreign exchange 
market in Georgia.

Our leasing services are conducted through Bank of Georgia’s whol-
ly-owned leasing subsidiary Georgian Leasing Company (GLC), the 
second-largest leasing company in Georgia by lease portfolio. 

2007 was another year of top corporate client acquisitions. In 2007 
we attracted Georgian Oil & Gas Corporation, a dominant player in 
gas transportation; Heidelberg Cement Georgia; Coca-Cola Bottlers 
Georgia Group Companies; UAE-Based Rakeen Development; and 
EnergoPro Georgia among others.

Selected highlights of CIB in 2007

Deepened the implementation of the client coverage model as the 
number of clients served by dedicated relationship bankers increased 
from 3,606 in 2006 to 4,659 in 2007.

Expanded the number of corporate clients using the Bank’s payroll 
services to over 700 from 480 in 2006, i.e. 150,000 clients for Retail 
Banking.

Acquired over 16,000 new corporate clients bringing the total num-



2007 / Annual Report / 11

ber of corporate clients to over 64,000 up 35.9% from 2006 .

Increased  the number of GLC’s leasing projects by 140% from 55 in 
2006 to 132 in 2007.

Our Wealth Management team provides relationship-based private 
banking services to affluent Georgian and foreign individuals.  Dur-
ing 2007 the number of our Wealth Management clients increased by 
47.8% and at year end 2007 our Wealth Management team had 1,291 
clients from 36 different countries. 

In 2008 we intend to grow our Wealth Management business rapidly 
and commence offering our Wealth Management products outside 
Georgia, focusing on countries with large Georgian communities. In 
2007 we laid the foundations for this expansion by launching tax and 
real estate advisory services and initiating activities to establish in-
ternal and client education programs, as well as developing a Wealth 
Management IT support platform. 

Going forward, we intend to develop Wealth Management as a pan-
regional unit led by Bank of Georgia group’s head of Wealth Man-
agement, a position created in 2007. Deborah Fairlamb, who joined 
us from UBS Private Banking in New York, was appointed to this 
position in May 2007. 

Galt & Taggart Securities is a wholly-owned investment banking 
subsidiary of Bank of Georgia. Galt & Taggart Securities provides 
agency brokerage, sales and trading and research services to its insti-
tutional and private clients, as well as, equity and debt capital raising 
and mergers and acquisitions advisory services to its corporate cli-
ents. Galt & Taggart Securities is also engaged in proprietary invest-
ing and trading.

In 2007 Galt & Taggart Securities Georgia continued to hold the 
leading position in equities trading in Georgia, with approximately 
63% of market share in terms of trading volume on the Georgian 
Stock Exchange. Galt & Taggart Securities Ukraine was established 
in November 2006 and was developed into a strong sales and trad-
ing, research and corporate finance outfit during 2007. In 2007 Galt 
& Taggart Securities Ukraine achieved #19 position in terms of trad-
ing volume in Ukraine, with approximately 1.2% of Ukrainian mar-
ket share. 

Selected Highlights of Galt & Taggart Securities in 2007

Dmitry Kasatkin, formerly a director at ABN AMRO’ corporate fi-
nance team in London, joined Galt & Taggart Securities in March 
2007, initially as head of corporate finance and then as Chief Execu-
tive Officer.

In May 2007 Galt & Taggart Securities led the IPO of Teliani Valley, 
Georgia’s leading wine-maker, on the Georgian Stock Exchange.

In October 2007 Galt & Taggart Securities assisted Bank of Georgia 
to complete the acquisition of UBDP in Ukraine.

2007 marked the inception GTAM, comprising the Bank’s asset 
management activities. Through GTAM we provide individual and 
institutional investors with investment capability across all major as-
set classes through both universal and tailor-made products. 

GTAM currently acts as an investment adviser to several funds, with 
a primary focus on Georgia. Of these, the biggest are Galt & Taggart 
Capital (GTC), a private equity vehicle for the country’s consumer 
sector, Caucasus Energy & Infrastructure (CEI) - for the energy & 
infrastructure sectors of the economy, and SB Real Estate (SBRE) 
- for real estate. In addition, GTAM manages the country’s second 
largest Aldagi BCI pension fund and Iavnana endowment fund. 

Selected highlights of GTAM in 2007

In March and September 2007 conducted two rights issues for Galt 
& Taggart Capital (GTC) and raised a cumulative GEL 10.8 mil-
lion. 

In November 2007 launched Georgia’s first ever endowment in coop-
eration with Paata Burchuladze’s International Charity Foundation, 
Iavnana. 

In February 2008 raised US$50 million for Caucasus Energy & In-
frastructure.

In 2007 assets under management of Aldagi BCI Pension Fund grew 
142% to GEL 1.2 million, while the number of pension fund partici-
pants increased by 77% to 3,820.

As of 31 December 2007, market capitalization of GTC was GEL 
78.6 million, an increase of 46.4% from 2006.

Aldagi BCI is the Georgian insurance market leader, with approxi-
mately 35% market share as of 31 December 2007.  Bank of Geor-
gia provides insurance-related products and services through Aldagi 
BCI, its insurance subsidiary (formerly BCI).

Aldagi BCI provides a wide range of corporate and consumer insur-
ance and related products in four areas: property and casualty liabil-
ity, including general third party liability; motor third party liability, 
carriers liability, professional indemnity, bankers blanket bond, prod-
uct liability and employer liability; personal risks, including health 
insurance, personal accident, travel and term life insurance; and 
performance bonds and guarantees. The consumer insurance brand 
Chemebi, is an umbrella brand for five consumer insurance prod-
uct lines – motor insurance, life, health insurance, property insur-
ance and travel insurance. In 2007 the number of Aldagi BCI's retail 
insurance clients increased by 120.1% to 60,671. Aldagi BCI also 
increased its number of branches from 10 in 2006 to 13 in 2007 and 
stepped up selling consumer products through the Bank’s branches. 

Aldagi BCI also operates Aldagi BCI Assistance, a 24-hour tele-
phone helpline for its health insurance customers.

Aldagi BCI cooperates with a number of internationally renowned 
reinsurers such as Hannover Re., Munich Re., AIG, Lloyd’s and 
SCOR.

Major Acquisition in 2007

In the fourth quarter of 2007 we completed the acquisition of a 
98.8% equity interest in UBDP, a mid-sized bank in Ukraine. The 
aggregate consideration paid for the 98.8% equity interest amounted 
to US$ 81.7 million, i.e. P/BV (2006A) of 2.15x, based on UBDP’s 2006 
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Audited IFRS financial results. 

UBDP, which is headquartered in Kiev, served over 30,000 retail and over 
2,100 corporate clients as of 31 December 2007. As at year end 2007, UBDP’s 
total assets and shareholders’ equity stood at GEL 356.8 million and GEL 70.0 
million respectively. 

In 2007 we focused on comprehensive understanding of UBDP’s business 
processes, enhancement of its organizational structure and hiring and integra-
tion with our businesses. Since the acquisition of UBDP in October 2007 we 
have added two new branches, bringing the total to 40 branches and service 
centers located in five oblasts (regions) of Ukraine.

UBDP will continue to operate as a standalone bank, owned and controlled 
by Bank of Georgia.

Going Forward 

Opportunities and Challenges

In 2008 we envisage a number of key opportunities:

	 Continuing aggressive build-out of our Retail Banking business in Geor-
gia, benefiting from booming demand for consumer lending products 
combined with low consumer indebtedness. Leveraging our market-
leading franchise and taking advantage of the efficiencies of scale made 
available by the increased number of clients and distribution channels.

 
	 Continuing the development of our Corporate and Investment Bank-

ing business in Georgia, capitalizing on Georgia’s rapid economic 
growth and inflow of foreign investment. Further refining our inte-
grated client coverage model, focusing on fee generating products. 

	 Capturing private banking business opportunities outside Geor-
gia, focusing on countries with sizeable Georgian communities.  

… and also some key challenges:

	 Continuing the “institutionalization” of  Bank of  Georgia, hiring new, ex-
perienced managers and refining management processes and procedures. 

	 Restructuring our newly-acquired Ukrainian subsidiary 
and integrating it effectively into Bank of Georgia group. 

	 Maintaining a balanced funding base by combin-
ing reasonably priced wholesale and deposit funding de-
spite  the current uncertainty in global financial markets.

Taking into consideration our top-class management team, I am confident that 
despite the challenging global environment, we will achieve our objectives in 
2008 and beyond by maintaining focus, discipline and a positive approach that 
will deliver outstanding results and excellent value. 

Irakli Gilauri
Chief Executive Officer
29 April 2008
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There are no restrictions on foreign ownership of the banks in Geor-
gia. Out of 22 banks registered in Georgia on 30 April 2008 ten were 
controlled by foreign strategic shareholders. In, addition to VTB, 
Procredit, Société Générale and Bank TuranAlem who already were 
present in Georgia in 2006, several new international banks en-
tered the Georgian banking market since 1 January 2007. Ukrainian 
Privatbank acquired Taobank in July 2007; HSBC, which received 
a banking license in July 2007 and Halyk Savings Bank of Kazakh-
stan, which received a banking license in January 2008, are currently 
establishing their greenfiled operations in Tbilisi; UAE based Dhabi 
Group’s subsidiary JSC Kor Bank Georgia acquired Standard bank 
in March 2008.

The National Bank of Georgia is Georgia’s central bank and among 
its other responsibilities the NBG establishes mandatory financial 
ratios, monetary policy, exchange controls issues licenses and regu-
lates accounting and reporting rules. Georgian banks are required to 
maintain Tier I Capital Adequacy Ratio of 8% and Total Capital 
Adequacy Ratio of 12%.

In March 2008, the Parliament of Georgia adopted Global Competi-
tiveness of the Financial Services Sector Act submitted by the Gov-
ernment of Georgia. According to the new legislation the Financial 
Supervising Agency (FSA) will be created under the auspices of the 
National Bank of Georgia. The FSA will function autonomously as 
the sole regulator and supervisor of the financial services sector, in-
cluding banking, securities, insurance, etc.

Selected Statistical Data 

Source: State Statistics Department of the Ministry of Economic Development of Georgia, the National 
Bank of Georgia

In 2007 Georgian banking sector continued its rapid growth. Total 
banking assets increased by 71% from GEL 4,217 million (US$2,461 
million) at year-end 2006 to GEL 7,208 million (US$4,529 million) 
at year-end 2007 and reached 45% of Georgia’s Nominal GDP in 
2007(1).

Banking Sector Growth

Source: the National Bank of Georgia 

Banking sector loans grew by 72% from GEL 2,581 million at year-
end 2006 to GEL 4,425 million year-end 2007 and stood at 27% of 
Nominal GDP in 2007 as compared to 19% in 2006. Banking sec-
tor deposits increased by 51% from GEL 2,327 million at year-end 
2006 to GEL 3,511 million at year-end 2007 and comprised 22% of 
Nominal GDP in 2007 as compared to 18% in 2006. Banking sector 
borrowings increased by 127% from GEL 854 million at year-end 
2006 to GEL 1,942 million in 2007 were equal to 27% of total bank-
ing assets and 12% of Nominal GDP in 2007 compared to 20% of 
total banking assets and 6% of Nominal GDP in 2006.

The total consumer indebtedness grew by 116% from GEL 527 
million (US$307 million) at year-end 2006 to GEL 1,135 million 
(US$713 million) in 2007. Consumer debt per capita increased by 
116% from GEL 117 (US$68) at year-end 2006 to GEL 252 (US$158) 
in 2007. The banking sector NPLs(2) stood at 2.6% of total banking 
sector loans at the end of 2007 compared to 2.5% in 2006. 

Consumer Indebtness Per Capita

(1) In 2007 Georgia’s Nominal GDP was equal to GEL16,999 million (US$10,175 million) and Real GDP growth rate was 12.4%  
(2) More than 90 days overdue including principal and interest of loans
Note: Market share data are derived from the information published by the National Bank of Georgia (www.nbg.gov.ge) and represent an aggregation of standalone financial information filed by Georgian banks

Operating Environment

Source: the National Bank of Georgia
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2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Banking Sector Assets Banking Sector Loans Banking  Sector Deposits 

US$ mln

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Banking Sector Assets (US$ mln) 644 930 1,422      2,461      4,529      
Banking Sector Loans (US$ mln) 352 493 920         1,506      2,780      
Banking Sector Deposits (US$ mln) 354 539 858         1,358      2,206      
Banking Sector Equity (US$ mln) 170 204 267         519         924         
Nominal GDP (US$ mln) 3,991      5,125      6,411      7,762      10,175    
Real GDP Growth (y-o-y, %) 11.1% 5.9% 9.6% 9.4% 12.4%
GDP Per Capita (US$) 919         1,188      1,484      1,764      2,315      
CPI (year-end, %) 7.0% 7.5% 6.2% 8.8% 11.0%
Current Account Deficit (as % of GDP) 9.4% 6.7% 10.9% 14.9% 18.8%
FX Reserves (US$ mln) 191         375         477         930         1 ,346      
Net FDI (US$ mln) 331         483         542         1 ,076      1,563      
Net FDI (as % of GDP) 8.3% 9.4% 8.5% 13.9% 15.3%
Net Remittances (US$ mln) 87           194         315         420         755         
Net Remittances (as % of GDP) 2.1% 3.8% 4.9% 5.4% 7.4%
GEL/US$ Exchange Rate (e-o-p) 2.075      1.825      1.793      1.714      1.592      
GEL/Euro Exchange Rate (e-o-p) 2.592      2.485      2.125      2.256      2.332      
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Supervisory Board

Members of the Supervisory Board and Management Board

From left to right: Jyrki Talvitie, Ian Hague, Nicholas Enukidze, Allan Hirst, Kaha Kiknavelidze

Nicholas Enukidze Chairman of the Supervisory Board
Allan Hirst Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board
Jyrki Talvitie Member of the Supervisory Board
Ian Hague Member of the Supervisory Board
Kaha Kiknavelidze* Member of the Supervisory Board

Irakli Gilauri Chief Executive Officer
Irakli Burdiladze Deputy Chief Executive Officer (Chief Operating Officer)
Ramaz Kukuladze Deputy Chief Executive Officer 
Sulkhan Gvalia Deputy Chief Executive Officer (Chief Risk Officer)

Management Board

David Vakhtangishvili Chief Financial Officer
Avto Namicheishvili Group Legal Counsel

* member since February 2008
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Georgia Team

Ukraine Team

From left to right: Mikheil Gomarteli, Co-Head of Retail Banking; Gvantsa Shengelia, Head of Compliance & Internal Control; Bidzina Bejuashvili, Chief Executive Officer of Galt & Taggart Asset Man-
agement; Lekso Liparteliani, Co-Head of Corporate & Investment Banking; Natalia Beridze, Head of Human Resources; Giorgi Barkalaia, Head of Marketing & PR; Irakli Burdiladze, Chief Operating 
Officer; Thea Jokhadze, Head of Debt Capital Markets; Irakli Gilauri, Chief Executive Officer, Bank of Georgia; Macca Ekizashvili, Head of Investor Relations; Giorgi Paresishvili, Global Co-Head of 
Sales; Avtandil Namicheishvili, Group Legal Counsel; Vasil Khodeli, Co-Head of Corporate & Investment Banking; Aleksandr Olshko, Chief Information Officer; Constantin Tsereteli, Co-Head of Retail 
Banking; David Vakhtangishvili, Chief Financial Officer.

Top row from left to right: Dmytro Perepolkin, Head of Corporate & Investment Banking, UBDP; Tornike Gogichaishvili, Chief Financial Officer, UBDP; Gennady Matuzenko, Chairman of the Management 
Board, UBDP; Igor Gordeev Deputy Chairman of the Management Board, UBDP; Aleksey Teslenko, Deputy Chairman of the Management Board, UBDP; Lukas Romriel, Head of Regional Development, 
Galt & Taggart Securities (Ukraine) 
Seated, from left to right: Grigol Katamadze, Director of International Business Development, Bank of Georgia; Deborah Fairlamb, Group Head of Wealth Management, Bank of Georgia; Sulkhan Gvalia, 
Deputy Chief Executive Officer, Bank of Georgia; Ekaterina Kvantrishvili, Head of Retail Banking, UBDP.
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The following discussion may not contain all the information that 
is important to reader of this Annual Report. For a more complete 
understanding of the events, risks and uncertainties, as well as li-
quidity, market, credit and operational risks, affecting JSC Bank of 
Georgia and Subsidiaries ("Bank of Georgia" or the "Bank"), this 
Annual Report should be read in its entirety.

Statement Of Income

Revenue

Total Net Operating Income (Revenue)(1) of GEL 235.8 million in-
creased by 110.5% compared to 2006, with all revenue items con-
tributing to the strong growth. 

Revenue Distribution By Items 

GEL thousands, except for percentages 2006 2007 Share in Total Revenue

Net Interest Income 66,722 130,219 55%
Net Fee and Commission 24,686 41,748 18%
Net Gains from Trading Securities 0 2,930 1%
Net Gains from Investment Securities available-for-sale 0 2,481 1%
Net Gains from Revalutation of Investment Property 0 16,362 7%
Net Gains/(losses) from Foreign Currencies 11,942 26,710 11%
Net Insurance Income (2) 4,433 5,461 2%
Other Operating Income 4,222 9,903 4%
Total Revenue 112,005 235,814 100%

-
-
-

Net Interest Income rose by 95.2% from 2006 to GEL 130.2 mil-
lion primarily due to the loan book (Loans to Customers) growth of 
144.7%, partially offset by a 234.1% increase in the interest expense, 
attributable mostly to the increase of non-deposit funding (mainly 
due to Eurobonds and syndicated loan), which increased by 365.3% 
and a rise in deposits (Amounts due to Customers), which grew by 
142.2% compared with 2006. 

Interest Income, comprising of interest income on the gross loans, 
interest income on the Bank’s securities portfolio (interest income on 
Investment Securities), interest income on Amounts due from Credit 
Institutions and Finance Lease Receivables, grew by 141.6% to GEL 
242.3 million in 2007. The increase in Interest Income was attribut-
able primarily to the 120.0% increase in interest income on loan book 
to GEL 203.8 million, which was due to the 144.7% growth of loan 
book to GEL 1,676 million in 2007.   

The increase in Interest Income on Bank of Georgia’s securities port-
folio (interest income from Investment Securities) by GEL 23.3 mil-
lion to GEL 24.5 million was driven by the increase in investment in 
the securities portfolio at the end of 2006 and 2007. The securities 
portfolio grew by 19.1% from GEL 197.1 million in 2006 (most of 
which was acquired towards 2006) to GEL 234.9 million in 2007 
(significant portion was deposited with the NBG). Interest earned on 
Amounts due from Credit Institutions followed the rise in mandatory 
reserves with the National Banks of Georgia and Ukraine from GEL 
61.5 million in 2006 to GEL 144.6 in 2007. Interest income from 
Finance Lease Receivables grew by 261.9% to GEL 4.1 million in 
2007.

Interest Expense, consisting of interest expense on the Amounts due 
to Credit Institutions, interest expense on deposits and interest ex-
pense on Debt Securities Issued, increased by 234.1% to GEL 112.1 
million as of 31 December 2007. The growth resulted from increased 
deposits, interest expense on deposits and on Amounts due to Credit 
Institutions. In 2007 deposits increased by 142.7%, while effective 
average interest rates paid on customer account balances were 5.2% 
for GEL deposits and 6.0% for foreign currency deposits (3.0% and 
5.8% in 2006, respectively). 

Net Interest Margin (NIM) stood at a healthy 8.6% in 2007. Bank 
of Georgia’s total average interest-earning assets (3) grew by 134.9% 
to GEL 1,508 million primarily due to the growth of loan book and 
Amounts due to Credit Institutions. 

Interest Earning Assets 

Thousands, unless otherwise noted 2006 2007
Loans to credit institutions 65,475 154,560
Loans to customers 684,842 1,675,681
Finance Lease Receivable 9s ,091 46,674
Investment Securities Held-to-maturity 187,244 192,465
Total interest earning assets 946,652 2,069,380

The increase of cost of funds from 5.9% in 2006 to 7.4% in 2007, 
and the decrease in effective interest rates on the Bank’s Loans to 
Customers (from 23.5% for GEL loans and 16.0% for foreign cur-
rency loans in 2006 to 21.7% for GEL loans and 15.5% for foreign 
currency loans in 2007), led to the decrease of NIM by 180 basis 
points compared to 2006. However, the major contributors to the 
decrease of the NIM in 2007, were high liquidity maintained during 
the year, with the average liquidity ratio at 47.5% in 2007 compared 
to 30.9% in 2006, and the negative carry resulting from wholesale 
funding attracted during 2007. In 2007, the NIM was strongly sup-
ported by an increase in the proportion of higher yielding consumer 
loans in the Bank’s loan book.

Net Interest Margin(4) 

           

13.7%

10.4%

8.6%

2005 2006 2007

Net Fees and Commission Income rose by 69.1% to GEL 41.7 mil-
lion. Net Fees and Commission Income comprised fee and commis-
sion income from settlement operations, guarantees, letters of 

(1) Revenue equals sum of Net Interest Income, Net Fee & Commission Income, Other Non-Interest Income less Net Insurance Claims Incurred 
(2) Net Insurance Income equals Net Insurance Premiums Earned less Net Insurance Claims Incurred
(3) Average interest earning assets are calculated as a sum of interest earning assets as at YE 2007 and interest earning assets as at YE 2006 divided by two
(4) For the calculation of Net Interest Margin in the years presented, annual average numbers are used

DISCUSSION OF THE CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
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credit, cash collections, currency conversion operations, fees from 
brokerage and other advisory services and other fees. This growth 
was driven by the increases in sales of fee generating products and 
services listed above, an increase in the number of retail customer 
accounts and an overall increase in the volume of banking operations 
as a result of general economic growth in Georgia. 

The increase in Bank of Georgia’s Other Non-Interest Income was 
due to increased realized gains from Trading Securities (GEL 2.9 
million in 2007), available-for-sale Investment Securities (GEL 2.5 
million in 2007), Net Gain from Revaluation of Investment Property 
(GEL 16.4 million in 2007), and Gains less Losses from Foreign 
Currencies (a 123.7% increase to GEL 26.7 million in 2007, due 
to increased client base). Net Insurance Income comprised of Net 
Premiums Earned less Net Claims Incurred. Net Insurance Income 
increased by 23.2% to GEL 5.5 million, driven by the organic growth 
as well as an increase in net insurance premiums earned as a result 
of the completion of merger with Aldagi in July 2007, following the 
acquisition of Aldagi by BCI in December 2006.

Other Operating Income, which comprised of gross brokerage fees 
generated by Galt & Taggart Securities and fee income from the 
Bank’s leasing and card processing operations, increased by 134.6% 
from GEL 4.2 million in 2006 to GEL 9.9 million in 2007.

Expenses(5)  

In 2007 Bank of Georgia’s expenses increased by 103.2% to GEL 
128.7 million. The increase was driven by the growth of headcount 
due to the expansion of the Bank’s footprint, higher Salaries and 
Other Benefits expense, and administering investments across the 
business segments and acquisitions. 

Salaries and Other Benefits accounted for 58.8% of the Expenses and 
amounted to GEL 75.6 million, a 127.0% increase from 2006. The 
rise was driven by higher salaries due to the 100.3% increase in per-
sonnel during the year, reaching 4,459 employees at year end 2007. 
Performance-driven compensation increased by 108.3% to GEL 24.3 
million, reflecting growth across business segments. Share based 
components rose  by GEL 6.4 million to GEL 9.0 million in 2007. 

Administrative Expenses, which grew by 75.1% to GEL 36.2 mil-
lion, comprised expenses for occupancy and rent, security, market-
ing and advertisement, communications, operating taxes, legal and 
other professional services, office supplies, repairs and maintenance, 
personnel training and recruitment, business trips, corporate hospi-
tality and entertainment, banking services, insurance expenses and 
other administration expenses. The increases in the administration 
expenses in 2007 were due to general growth of Bank of Georgia’s 
businesses, including the increase in the number of branches and de-
velopment and implementation of new design guidelines for retail 
banking.

Depreciation increased by 67.5% to GEL 9.9 million, mostly due to 
the purchase of properties and completion of new branches. 

Cost / Income ratio continued to decline and amounted to 54.6% as 
compared to 56.5% in 2006.

Revenue & Expenses

Tax charge for the year amounted to GEL 14.1 million, a 73.0% in-
crease from prior year. The growth was due to the increase in the 
pre-tax income.  

Asset Quality

The overall asset quality is strong, with 89% of the total volume of 
gross loans to clients secured by property and other collateral. As of 
31 December 2007 the non-performing loans (NPLs) accounted for 
1.5% of total loans (NPLs are more than 90 days overdue loans in-
cluding principal and interest payment). The chart below shows the 
development of non-performing loans in terms of total gross loans 
over three years.

NPLs/Total Gross Loans

4.5%

2.3%

1.5%

2005 2006 2007

The increase in Loan Impairment Charge from GEL 13.8 million in 
2006 to GEL 17.4 million in 2007 was due to the Bank’s increased 
average gross loan portfolio. Improved credit quality led to a de-
crease in the cost of risk from 2.7% in 2006 to 1.4% in 2007. As 
a result, Loan Impairment Charge grew at a slower rate than gross 
loans.

(5) Expenses (Costs) comprise of Other Non-Interest Expense less Net Insurance Claims Incurred
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Net Provisions/Average Gross Loans (Cost of Risk)  

2.5%

2.7%

1.4%

2005 2006 2007

Balance Sheet Highlights

Assets

As of 31 December 2007 Bank of Georgia had Total Assets of GEL 
2,954 million, as compared to Total Assets of GEL 1,213 million in 
2006, an increase of 143.4%. The increase was mainly attributable 
to the loan book (Loans to Customers) growth which stood at GEL 
1,676 million, an increase of GEL 990.8 million, or 144.7% from 
2006. 

In 2007 gross loan book increased by 141.6% to GEL 1,705.6 mil-
lion compared to GEL 705.9 million in 2006. This growth in 2007 
was driven by increased consumer and residential mortgage lending, 
which grew to GEL 331.1 million, or 260.3%, and to GEL 236.4 
million, or 187.2%,  respectively. The majority of lending was still 
accounted for by commercial loans, which grew by 132.2% to GEL 
936.7 million in 2007.

Private companies accounted for 56.7% of total gross loan book (in-
cludes portion of Micro Loans), increasing to GEL 967.0 million or 
122.7% in 2007. Loans to individuals of GEL 699.5 million, grew 
186.1% compared to 2006, and representing 41.1% of total gross 
loans. Loans extended to state-owned entities in the amount of GEL 
38.1 million, or a 40.1% increase from 2006, continued to hold the 
smallest share with 2.2% of  the total gross loan book.  

Bank of Georgia maintained a well diversified loan book across vari-
ous sectors of the economy. By the end of 2007, ten largest borrow-

ers accounted for 13% of the total gross loan book, down from 15% 
in 2006.

Gross Loans By Customer Type & Corporate Loans By Sector

Corporate 
Loans, 59%

Individuals, 41%

Trade and 
services, 64%

Construction, 
15%

Agriculture , 6% Mining, 
5%

Energy , 1% Transport and 
communication, 

1%

Cash and cash equivalents, which accounted for 13.7% of Total As-
sets, grew by 275.6% to GEL 405.8 million in 2007, mostly a result 
of high liquidity maintained during the year. The average liquidity 
ratio, based on the NBG standards, was 47.5% in 2007, higher than 
the NBG's 30% requirement. 

Liabilities

The largest liability item, Amounts due to Customers, or deposits, 
grew by 142.2% to GEL 1,355.5 million in 2007 compared to GEL 
559.7 million in 2006.  

The increase in deposits was driven by 211.6% and 104.1% increases 
in time deposits and current accounts, respectively. As of 31 Decem-
ber 2007 time deposits had grown to GEL 618.4 million compared to 
GEL 198.5 million in 2006, while current account balances grew to 
GEL 737.1 million compared to GEL 361.2 million in 2006. 

Deposits By Type 

137.3

361.2

737.1

132.2
198.5

618.4

2005 2006 2007

Current accounts Time deposits

GEL million

Private companies accounted for 48.9% of the deposits, increasing 
to GEL 662.8 million or 216.7% in 2007. Individual deposits of GEL 
583.0 million, grew 113.0% compared to 2006, comprising 43.0% 
of total deposits. Deposits of  state-owned entities in the amount of 
GEL 109.7 million, or a 43.0% increase from 2006, continued to 
hold the smallest share with 8.1% of total deposits.  
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As of 31 December 2007, ten largest customers accounted for 22.3% 
(or GEL 302.2 million), of the deposits.  The diversification of Bank 
of Georgia’s deposit base according to the customer deposits by in-
dustry is reflected below.

Breakdown Of Deposits By Industry

Individuals, 

43%

Trade and 

services, 26%

Governmental, 
8%

Energy, 6 %

Mining, 5%

Construction, 
5%

Transport and 
communication,

5%

Agriculture, 
0 .02 %

Other, 3%

In 2007, Amounts due to Credit Institutions, increased by GEL 677.4 
million or 301.9 % from the prior year and amounted to GEL 901.8 
million as of 31 December 2007. 

Equity

As of 31 December 2007, authorized share capital comprised of 
32,835,619 ordinary shares, of which 27,154,918 were issued and 
fully paid compared to 25,202,009 ordinary shares issued and fully 
paid as of 31 December 2006. 

The ordinary share issuance during 2007 related to a) the transfer of 
650,000 ordinary shares in the form of GDRs to Abacus Corporate 
Trustee Limited under Bank’s Executive Employee Compensation 
Plan (EECP); b) the conversion of a loan facility from HBK Semper 
Augustus into 1,157,401 ordinary shares, and c) compensation of 
Supervisory Board members and top management in the amount of 
145,502 ordinary shares. 

Regulatory Capital And Capital Adequacy (BIS) 

Bank of Georgia maintained a well-capitalised position, based on 
Tier I and Total Capital Ratios (BIS) as of 31 December 2007 and 31 
December 2006.

Total Capital was GEL 409.8 million at 31 December 2007, com-
pared with GEL 386.6 million in 2006, an increase of GEL 23.2 
million. This growth was moderate because of deductions related to 
investment in the Ukrainian bank acquired in October 2007. 

Risk-weighted assets increased by 131.2% to GEL 1,859 million 
in 2007 from GEL 804.1 in 2006, mostly driven by the loan book 
growth.

National Bank of Georgia requires capital adequacy calculation 
based on the NBG methodology, which is done on a standalone ba-
sis. Based on the NBG calculation method, Bank of Georgia's Tier 
I and Total Capital Ratios as of 31 December 2007 were at 13.2%, 
and 13.1%, respectively, and above the statutory minimum of 8% for 
Tier I and 12% for Total Capital. In 2006, Tier I and Total Capital 
amounted to 23.2% and 28.5%, respectively. 

SHAREHOLDERS

As of 31 December 2007, Bank of Georgia continued to maintain 
a diversified shareholder base, with more than 100 Western insti-
tutional shareholders owning approximately 85% of the Bank’s eq-
uity both through Global Depositary Receipts (GDRs) and ordinary 
shares.  As of 31 December 2007, the following companies owned 
more than 5% of Bank of Georgia shares. 

As of 31 December 2007 the members of the Supervisory Board and 
Management Board owned 214,146 shares of Bank of Georgia. In 
addition, the members of the Supervisory Board and Management 
Board were awarded 244,617 and 185,000 GDRs in 2007 and 2006, 
respectively. These awards are subject to three year vesting. The fol-
lowing table depicts the interest of the members of the Supervisory 
Board and Management Board as of 31 December 2007.

Management Report

Shareholder Shares Held GDRs Vested

Sulkhan Gvalia 188,050 13,333 
Ramaz Kukuladze 23,094 1,666 
Irakli Gilauri 1,587 16,666 
Nicholas Enukidze 1,045 - 
Irakli Burdiladze 370 - 
Total 214,146 31,665 

31 December 2007

31 December 2007

Bank of New York (Nominees) Limited 71.38%

Firebird Avrora Fund 5.39%

Firebird Republic Fund 5.27%

East Capital Financial Institutions 5.03%

Others 12.93%
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EVENTS SINCE THE END OF 2007
On 10 January 2008 the Bank announced that it obtained a US$ 65 million senior loan facility arranged, structured and provided by Merrill 
Lynch International. The term of the facility is 13 months and can be extended to 24 and 36 months by mutual consent. 

On 13 February 2008 the Bank sold four million new ordinary shares in the form of GDRs at a price of US$ 25 per GDR. The offering raised 
gross proceeds of US$ 100 million. The offering represents approximately 14.7% of the issued share capital before the offering. The Offer 
Price is equal to 1.6% discount to the prevailing closing market price on the date of the offering. ING Bank acted as Sole Bookrunner, Uni-
credit Group was the Joint Lead Manager and Galt and Taggart Securities acted as Selling Agent of the offering.  

On 23 January 2008 the shareholders’ extraordinary general meeting (EGM) of the Bank acknowledged the resignation of Mr. Lado Gur-
genidze, Chairman of the Supervisory Board to become Prime Minister of Georgia and elected Mr. Kaha Kiknavelidze as a member of the 
Supervisory Board. Subsequently, Nicholas Enukidze, Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board since November 2006 and Acting Chairman 
since November 2007, was elected by the Supervisory Board as Chairman of the Supervisory Board.



24 / JSC Bank of Georgia 



2007 / Annual Report / 25

The following discussion may not contain all the information that is 
important to reader of this Annual Report. For a more complete un-
derstanding of risk management process and procedures of Bank of 
Georgia and Subsidiaries, please refer to the Note 28 of the accom-
panying Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of JSC Bank of 
Georgia and Subsidiaries.

Risk is an inherent part of business activities of Bank of Georgia. 
The Bank’s risk management system is based on the principle of 
continually assessing risk throughout the life of any operation. Risk 
is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measure-
ment and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. This 
process of risk management is critical to Bank of Georgia’s continu-
ing profitability and each individual within the Bank is accountable 
for the risk exposures relating to his or her responsibilities.

The major risk types identified by the Bank are liquidity risk, market 
risk, credit risk and operational risk. 

Risk Management Structure

Bank of Georgia conducts its risk management activities within the 
framework of its unified risk management system. Responsibility for 
the conduct of the Bank’s risk management activities are divided 
among Bank of Georgia’s principal risk management bodies.  

Supervisory Board is responsible for the overall risk management 
approach and for approving the risk strategies and principles. 

Management Board has overall responsibility for the Bank’s asset, 
liability and risk management activities, policies and procedures 
as well as monitoring the overall risk process within the Bank. The 
Management Board delegates individual risk management functions 
to each of the various decision making bodies within the Bank.

Audit Committee has the overall responsibility for the development 
of the risk strategy and implementing principles, frameworks, poli-
cies and limits. It is responsible for the fundamental risk issues and 
manages and monitors relevant risk decisions. The Audit Committee 
is an independent body and is directly monitored by the Supervisory 
Board.

Treasury is responsible for managing the Bank’s assets and liabilities 
and the overall financial structure and is also primarily responsible 
for managing funding and liquidity risks of the Bank.

Risk management processes throughout Bank of Georgia are audited 
annually by the internal audit function that examines both adequacy 
of the procedures and Bank of Georgia’s compliance with the pro-
cedures. Internal Audit discusses the results of all assessments with 
management, and reports its findings and recommendations to the 
Audit Committee.

Credit Committee supervises and manages the Bank’s credit risks 
i.e. approves individual transactions, establishes credit risk catego-
ries and provisioning rates on such transactions. Deputy CEO/ Chief 

Risk Officer adopts, in consultation with the Bank’s CEO and Chief 
Financial Officer, decisions on the acceleration and write-off of non-
performing loans.  The Credit Committee is comprised of four tiers 
of subcommittees.

Subcommittee Chair Approval Limit for 
Corporate Loans (US$)

Approval Limit for 
Retail Loans (US$)

Tier I Deputy Director of Credit Risk Management Department 10,000-100,000 10,000-50,000
Tier II Director of Credit Risk Management Department 100,000-200,000 50,000-200,000
Tier III Deputy CEO/Chief Risk Officer
Tier IV CEO

Supervisory Board

200,000-500,000
>500,000

>4,000,000

Asset and Liabilities Management Committee (ALCO) establishes 
policy with respect to capital adequacy, market limits, medium and 
long term liquidity risk and interest rates. Specifically, ALCO

	 Sets interbank lending limits, open currency position limits 
with respect to overnight and intraday positions and stop-loss 
limits

	 Monitors compliance with established value-at-risk (VAR) 
limits on possible losses 

	 Sets ranges of interest rates for different maturities
	 Reviews financial reports and indices

ALCO is composed of Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Deputy CEO/
Chief Risk Officer, Chief Operating Officer (COO), Chief Financial 
Officer (CFO),  Head of Financial Risk Management, Head of Trea-
sury, Head of Trade Finance and Head of Debt Capital Markets and 
is chaired by the CEO.

Risk Management and Reporting

Bank of Georgia measures risk using a method which reflects both 
the expected loss likely to arise in normal circumstances and unex-
pected losses, which are an estimate of the ultimate actual loss based 
on statistical models. These models use probabilities derived from 
historical experience, adjusted to reflect the economic environment. 
Bank of Georgia also runs worse case scenarios that could arise in 
the event those extreme events (however unlikely to occur) do, in 
fact, occur. 

Monitoring and controlling risks is primarily performed based on 
limits established by the Bank. These limits reflect the business 
strategy and market environment of Bank of Georgia as well as the 
level of risk that it is willing to accept, with additional emphasis 
on selected industries. The Bank also conducts ongoing monitoring 
and control allowing efficient adjustments in case of any unexpected 
changes in the conditions on which the preliminary risk assessment 
was made. In addition the Bank monitors and measures the overall 
risk bearing capacity in relation to the aggregate risk exposure across 
all risks types and activities.

Information compiled from all the businesses is examined and pro-
cessed in order to analyse, control and identify early risks. This in-
formation is presented and explained to the Management Board, and 
the head of each business division. The report includes aggregate 
credit exposure, hold limit exceptions, liquidity ratios and risk pro-

RISK MANAGEMENT
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file changes. Senior management assesses the appropriateness of the 
allowance for credit losses on a quarterly basis. The Management 
Board receives a comprehensive risk report once a quarter which 
is designed to provide all the necessary information to assess and 
conclude on the risks of Bank of Georgia.

Specifically tailored risk reports are prepared and distributed in for 
all levels throughout the Bank in order to ensure that all business 
divisions have access to extensive, relevant and up-to-date informa-
tion.

A daily briefing is given to the Management Board and all other rel-
evant employees of Bank of Georgia on the utilisation of market 
limits on proprietary investments and liquidity, plus any other risk 
developments.

Risk Mitigation and Excessive Risk Concentration

As part of its overall risk management, Bank of Georgia uses de-
rivatives and other instruments to manage exposures resulting from 
changes in interest rates, foreign currencies, equity risks, credit risks, 
and exposures arising from forecast transactions. While these are in-
tended for hedging, these do not qualify for hedge accounting. 

Bank of Georgia actively uses collateral to reduce its credit risks. 

Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged 
in similar business activities, or activities in the same geographic re-
gion, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability 
to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes 
in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate 
the relative sensitivity of the Bank’s performance to developments 
affecting a particular industry or geographical location.

In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risks, the Bank’s poli-
cies and procedures include specific guidelines to focus on maintain-
ing a diversified portfolio. Identified concentrations of credit risks 
are controlled and managed accordingly. 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that Bank of Georgia will be unable to meet 
its payment obligations when they fall due under normal and stress 
circumstances. The liquidity risk management framework models 
the ability of the Bank to fund under both normal conditions and 
during a crisis situation. To limit this risk, management has arranged 
diversified funding sources in addition to its core deposit base, man-
ages assets with liquidity in mind, and monitors future cash flows 
and liquidity on a daily basis. This incorporates an assessment of ex-
pected cash flows and the availability of high grade collateral which 
could be used to secure additional funding if required.

Bank of Georgia maintains a portfolio of highly marketable and di-
verse assets that can be easily liquidated in the event of an unfore-
seen interruption of cash flow. Bank of Georgia also has committed 
lines of credit that it can access to meet its liquidity needs. In addi-
tion, the Bank maintains a cash deposit (obligatory reserve) with the 
NBG, the amount of which depends on the level of customer funds 
attracted. 

The liquidity position is assessed and managed by the Bank primar-
ily on a standalone basis, based on certain liquidity ratios established 
by the NBG. As at 31 December, these ratios were as follows:

2006 2007
Average liquidity ratio for the period 30.9% 47.5%

Maximum liquidity ratio 65.7% 92.7%

Minimum liquidity ratio 19.6% 19.5%

Average liquidity ratio is calculated on a standalone basis for JSC 
Bank of Georgia as annual average of daily liquidity ratios computed 
as percentage of liquid assets in liabilities determined by National 
Bank of Georgia as follows:

Liquid assets - comprise cash, cash equivalents and other assets that 
can be immediately converted into cash. Those assets include in-
vestment securities issued by Georgian Government plus Certified 
Deposits issued by NBG up to 10% of liabilities used in calculation 
of average liquidity ratio and not including amounts due from credit 
institutions other than inter-bank deposits and/or debts securities of 
Government and Central Banks of non-OECD countries, amounts 
due to Nostro Accounts that are under lien, impaired inter-bank de-
posits, amounts on obligatory reserve with NBG that are pledged due 
to borrowings from NBG.

Liabilities  - comprise sum of total liabilities and off-balance sheet 
commitments not including subordinated loans, those commitments 
that are to be exercised or settled not earlier than six month from 
reporting date, financial guarantees and letter of credits fully col-
lateralized by cash covers in the Bank,  commitments due to dealing 
operations with foreign currencies. Maximum and minimum rates of 
liquidity ratio are taken from historical data of appropriate reporting 
years.

The chart below summarizes the maturity profile of the Bank's finan-
cial liabilities as of 31 December 2007 based on contractual undis-
counted repayment obligations. Repayments which are subject to no-
tice are treated as if notice were to be given immediately. However, 
the Bank expects that many customers will not request repayment on 
the earliest date the Bank could be required to pay and the chart does 
not reflect the expected cash flows indicated by the Bank's deposit 
retention history. (For the detailed breakdown of the maturity profile 
of the financials liabilities,  please see the accompanying Notes to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements).

Undiscounted Financial Liabilities 
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Bank of Georgia has commitments and contingent liabilities in re-
spect of, inter alia, guarantees, letters of credit on behalf of its cli-
ents. While these instruments bear a credit risk similar to that of 
loans granted to clients, the outstanding contractual amount of any 
guarantee or letter of credit does not necessarily represent future 
cash requirements, as many of these commitments may expire or 
terminate without need to be funded. The Bank also has commitment 
in respect of operating leases and capital expenditures. 

The following chart shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the 
Bank’s commitments and contingencies. 

114.8 

36.3 

14.5 11.5 

114.4 

76.6 
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Bank of Georgia expects that not all of the contingent liabilities or 
commitments will be drawn before expiry of the commitments.

The maturity analysis does not reflect the historical stability of cur-
rent accounts. Their liquidation has historically taken place over 
a longer period than indicated in the charts above. These balances 
are included in amounts due in less than three months in the charts 
above. 

Funding

Sources of funds

Diversification of funding is an important component of Bank of 
Georgia’s liquidity management strategy. The principal sources of 
liquidity are deposits (or Amounts due to Customers), debt issues, 
proceeds from sales of securities, interbank deposit agreements, 
principal repayments on loans, interest income and fee and commis-
sion income. As of 31 December 2007 Bank of Georgia’s all funding 
was unsecured as it was bound by negative pledge commitments to 
its lenders.

Deposits are a consistent source of funding for Bank of Georgia. 
As of 31 December 2007 deposits amounted to GEL 1,355 million. 
Additional sources of funding are interbank deposits, which at 31 
December 2007 stood at GEL 80.1 million.

Funding flexibility is also provided by Bank of Georgia’s ability to 
raise wholesale funding from international markets. During 2007 
Bank of Georgia raised in aggregate US$458.5 million in long-term 
funding. The issuances included:

In January 2007 Bank of Georgia drew down US$12.5 million from 
the US$12.5 million Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij voor 
Ontwikkelingslanden N.V. (FMO) 7-year loan facility entered into 
by Bank of Georgia in December 2006.

In January 2007 Bank of Georgia drew down US$5.0 million from 
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) loan 
and participation facilities entered into by Bank of Georgia in 2005. 
Of this amount, US$1.8 million was a loan to Bank of Georgia and 
US$3.2 million was EBRD’s participation in the form of a deposit 
with Bank of Georgia to be utilised directly by the sub-borrower.

In February 2007 Bank of Georgia issued a US$200 million debut 
five-year Eurobond. The Eurobond was issued at par and carries a 
9% per annum coupon rate paid semi-annually.

In July 2007 Bank of Georgia’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Georgian 
Leasing Company, raised US$7.5 million, ten-year loan facility from 
WorldBusiness Capital. 

In August 2007 Bank of Georgia raised a US$35 million, ten-year 
subordinated loan facility through Merrill Lynch.

In August 2007 Bank of Georgia raised a US$123.5 million debut 
syndicated loan arranged by Asian Development Bank and Citi in 
three tranches with 12-month, 18-month and 3-year maturities.

In October 2007 Bank of Georgia raised a US$15 million, ten-year 
subordinated loan facility from Semper Augustus B.V., a fund affili-
ated with HBK Capital Investment. 

The GEL denominated coupon bonds issued by Bank of Georgia in 
2005 matured in September 2007. 

In August 2007 a fund affiliated with HBK Investments L.P. con-
verted US$25 million subordinated convertible loan into 1,157,407 
Bank of Georgia common shares. The conversion price per share 
equaled GEL 35.95. 

The foregoing loans bear fixed or floating interest rates tied to LIBOR.  
Interest rates for the Bank’s US$ borrowings range from 4.0% to 
LIBOR plus 7.5% in 2007, and from 4.0% to LIBOR plus 6.2% in 
2006. Interest rates for the Bank’s Euro borrowings range from 4.0% 
to EURIBOR plus 4.5% in 2007 and from 2.0% to LIBOR plus 4.5% 
in 2006. 

In addition, Bank of Georgia has trade finance lines from various 
international financial institutions and credit lines for interbank op-
erations from both Georgian and non-resident banks. 
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Market Risk

Bank of Georgia is exposed to market risk, which is the risk that the 
fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctu-
ate due to changes in market variables such as interest rates, foreign 
exchanges, and equity prices.  

Bank of Georgia classifies exposures to market risk into either trad-
ing or non-trading portfolios. Trading and non-trading positions are 
managed and monitored using other sensitivity analysis. Except for 
the concentrations within foreign currency, Bank of Georgia has no 
significant concentration of market risk.

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in inter-
est rates will affect future cash flows or the fair values of financial 
instruments. 

The sensitivity of the income statement is the effect of the assumed 
changes in interest rates on the net interest income for one year, 
based on the floating rate non-trading financial assets and financial 
liabilities held at 31 December 2007. The sensitivity of equity is cal-
culated by revaluing fixed rate available-for-sale financial assets at 
31 December 2007 for the effects of the assumed changes in inter-
est rates based on the assumption that there are parallel shifts in the 
yield curve.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable pos-
sible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, 
of Bank of Georgia’s income statement. (For the exposure to interest 
rates as of 31 December 2006, please see the accompanying Notes 
to Consolidated Financial Statements).

During 2007 and 2006 sensitivity analysis did not reveal significant 
potential effect on Bank of Georgia’s equity.

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Management 
Board has set limits on positions by currency based on the NBG 
regulations. Positions are monitored on a daily basis. 

The table below indicates the currencies to which Bank of Georgia 
had significant exposure at 31 December 2007 on its trading and non-
trading monetary assets and liabilities and its forecast cash flows. 
The analysis calculates the effect of a reasonably possible movement 
of the currency rate against the Georgian Lari, with all other vari-
ables held constant on the income statement (due to the fair value of 
currency sensitive non-trading monetary assets and liabilities). The 
effect on equity does not differ from the effect on the income state-
ment. A negative amount in the table reflects a potential net reduction 
in income statement or equity, while a positive amount reflects a net 
potential increase. During 2007 and 2006 sensitivity analysis did not 
reveal significant potential effect to Bank of Georgia’s equity.

Currency

Change in
Currency Rate

in %

Effect on
Profit before

Tax 
Effect on

Equity

Change in
Currency Rate

in %  

Effect on
Profit before 

Tax 

Effect on
Equity

2006 2006 2006 2007 2007 2007

EUR 4.2% (2) -  4.6% 104 -  
GBP 7.4% (9) -  5.0% (137) -  
RUR 0.1% 24 -  
UAH 0.7% 8 -  0.7% (38) -  
USD 3.6% (327) - 3.5% (2,450) -

Prepayment risk is the risk that the Bank will incur a financial loss 
because its customers and counterparties repay or request repayment 
earlier or later than expected, such as fixed rate mortgages when in-
terest rates fall.

Bank of Georgia uses regression models to project the impact of 
varying levels of prepayment on its net interest income. The model 
makes a distinction between the different reasons for repayment (e.g. 
relocation, refinancing and renegotiation) and takes into account the 
effect of any prepayment penalties. The model is back tested against 
actual outcomes. (For further details, please see the accompanying 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that the Bank will incur a loss because its cus-
tomers, clients or counterparties will be unable to pay amounts in full 
or when due. Bank of Georgia provides credit to corporate and retail 
clients. Loans advanced are typically short, medium and long term 
and secured by collateral. 

Bank of Georgia manages and controls its credit risk by setting limits 
on the amount of risk it is willing to accept with respect to individual 
counterparties and for geography and industry concentrations, and 
by monitoring exposures in relation to such limits. 

Bank of Georgia also mitigates its credit risk by obtaining collateral 
and using other security arrangements. The Bank monitors the mar-
ket value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance 
with the underlying agreement, and monitors the market value of 
collateral obtained during its review of the adequacy of the allow-
ance for the loan impairment.

Credit quality review process, established by the Bank, provides ear-
ly identification of possible changes in the creditworthiness of coun-
terparties, including regular collateral revisions. Counterparty limits 
are established by the use of a credit risk classification system, which 
assigns each counterparty a risk rating. Risk ratings are subject to 
regular revision. The credit quality review process allows Bank of 

Management Report

Increase in basis points
Sensitivity of net 
interest income Sensitivity of equity

Currency 2007 2007 2007

UAH 0.75% -                             267                              
EUR 0.75% (71)                             -                              
USD 0.75% (3,097)                        -                              

Decrease in basis points
Sensitivity of net 
interest income Sensitivity of equity

Currency 2007 2007 2007

UAH -1.25% -                             (445)                            
EUR -1.50% 142                             -                              
USD -1.25% 5,393                          -                              
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Georgia and its subsidiaries to assess the potential loss as a result of 
the risks to which it is exposed and take corrective action.

Credit risk arising from derivative financial instruments is, at any 
time, limited to those with positive fair values, as recorded in the 
balance sheet. 

Guarantees that are available to Bank of Georgia's customers may 
require that the Bank make payments on their behalf. Such pay-
ments are collected from customers based on the terms of the letter 
of credit. They expose the Bank to similar risks to loans and these are 
mitigated by the same control processes and policies.

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk of the 
balances sheet, including derivatives as of 31 December 2007 and 
31 December 2006. The maximum gross exposure is shown before 
the effect of mitigation through the use of master netting and col-
lateral agreements. Those financial instruments that are recorded at 
fair value represent the current credit risk exposure but not the maxi-
mum exposure that could arise in the future as the result of changes 
in values. (For more detail on the maximum exposure to credit risk 
for each class of financial instrument please see the accompanying 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

Gross Maximum
Exposure

Gross Maximum
Exposure

GEL thousands, unless otherwise noted 2006 2007

Cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on hand) 68,966 312,060
Trading securities - 6,342
Amounts due from credit institutions 65,475 154,560
Loans to customers 684,842 1,675,681 

Finance Lease Receivable, net 9,091 46,674

Investment securities 197,131 234,851

  - Available-for-sale 9,887 42,387

  - Held-to-maturity
187,244
 

192,464
1,025,505
 

2,430,168
Financial commitments and contingencies 168,608

 
208,299

Total Credit exposure 1,194,113
 

2,638,467

The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Bank’s inter-
nal credit ratings. It is Bank of Georgia’s policy to maintain accurate 
and consistent risk ratings across the credit portfolio. This facilitates 
focused management of the applicable risks and the comparison of 
credit exposures across all lines of business, geographic regions and 
products. The rating system is supported by a variety of financial 
analytical tools to provide the main inputs for the measurement of 
counterparty risk. All internal risk ratings are tailored to the vari-
ous categories and are derived in accordance with Bank of Georgia’s 
rating policy. The attributable risk ratings are assessed and updated 
regularly. 

The table below reflects credit quality of each class of asset for the 
loan-related balance sheet lines as of 31 December 2007. (For the 
credit quality of each class of asset as of 31 December 2006, please 
see the accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial State-
ments).

Past due loans to customers include those that are only past due by a 
few days. 

The credit risk assessment policy for non-past due and individually 
non-impaired financial assets has been determined by the Bank as fol-
lows:

A financial asset that has neither been in past due more than 30 days nor 
individually impaired is assessed as a financial asset with High Grade;

A financial asset that is neither past due nor impaired for reporting 
date, but historically used to be past due more than 30 days is assessed 
as a financial asset with Standard Grade;

A financial asset that is neither past due nor impaired for reporting 
date, but historically used to be past due more than 60 days or bor-
rower of this loan has at least an additional borrowing in past due more 
than 60 days as of reporting date is assessed as a financial asset with 
Sub-Standard Grade.

An analysis of past due loans, by age, is provided below. The majority 
of the past due loans are not considered to be impaired. (For analysis 
of the past due loan by age as of 31 December 2006, please see the 
accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

The main considerations for the loan impairment assessment include 
whether any payments of principal or interest are overdue by more 
than 150 days or there are any known difficulties in the cash flows 
of counterparties, credit rating downgrades, or infringement of the 
original terms of the contract. Bank of Georgia addresses impair-
ment assessment in two areas: individually assessed allowances and 
collectively assessed allowances.

Bank of Georgia determines the allowances appropriate for each in-
dividually significant loan on an individual basis. Items considered 
when determining allowance amounts include the sustainability of 
the counterparty’s business plan, its ability to improve performance 
once a financial difficulty has arisen, projected receipts and the ex-
pected dividend payout should bankruptcy ensue, the availability of 
other financial support and the realisable value of collateral, and the 
timing of the expected cash flows. The impairment losses are evalu-
ated at each reporting date, unless unforeseen circumstances require 
more careful attention.
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Less than 30 days 31 to 60 days 61-90 days More than 90 days Total

GEL thousands, unless otherwise noted 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007
Amounts due from credit institutions - - - 564 564         
Loans to customers
   Corporate lending 22,549  1 ,774  80  4,371  28,774    
   Micro-loans 2,175  -  -  -  2 ,175      
   Consumer lending 10,008  58  40  1,180  11,286    
   Residential mortgages 2,640  47  31  -  2 ,718      
   Other 567 616 411  -  1,594      
Total 37,939  2,495 562  6,115  47,111    
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Allowances are assessed collectively for losses on loans to custom-
ers that are not individually significant (including credit cards, resi-
dential mortgages and unsecured consumer lending) and for individ-
ually significant loans where there is not yet objective evidence of 
individual impairment. Allowances are evaluated on each reporting 
date with each portfolio receiving a separate review.

The collective assessment takes account of impairment that is likely 
to be present in the portfolio even though there is no yet objective 
evidence of the impairment in an individual assessment. Impairment 
losses are estimated by taking into consideration of the following 
information: historical losses on the portfolio, current economic con-
ditions, the appropriate delay between the time a loss is likely to 
have been uncured and the time it will be identified as requiring an 
individually assessed impairment allowance, and expected receipts 
and recoveries once impaired. Local management is responsible for 
deciding the length of this period which can extend for as long as one 
year. The impairment allowance is then reviewed by credit manage-
ment to ensure alignment with Bank of Georgia’s overall policy.

Financial guarantees and letters of credit are assessed and provision 
made in a similar manner as for loans.

The following table shows the geographical concentration of the 
Bank’s assets and liabilities. (For the geographical concentration of 
the Bank’s assets and liabilities as of 31 December 2006, please see 
the accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

Operational Risk

Operational risks arise from various operational activities of the 
Bank. Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, 
human error, fraud or external events. When controls fail to perform, 
operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regu-
latory implications, or lead to financial loss. The Bank cannot expect 
to eliminate all operational risks, but through a control framework 
and by monitoring and responding to potential risks, the Bank is able 
to manage the risks. Controls include effective segregation of duties, 
access, authorisation and reconciliation procedures, staff education 
and assessment processes, including the use of internal audit.

Compliance and Internal Control

The Compliance and Internal Control department is responsible for 
developing and updating  policies and procedures and ensuring that 
these policies and procedures meet or exceed applicable legal and 
regulatory requirements.  It is also responsible for monitoring and 
assessing the levels of the Bank’s internal control systems to detect 
any infringement or errors on the part of the Bank’s departments and 
divisions.

The Bank has a comprehensive, Board-approved anti-money laun-
dering (AML) and “know-your-customer” (KYC) policy that is 
based on international regulatory standards in AML/CFT field as 
well as requirements posed by Georgian legislation. Bank of Geor-
gia adheres to the stricter of the two sets of requirements, and in 
pursuit of its goal aimed at preventing the Bank from being used as 
a vehicle for money laundering, has ensured its full compliance with 
the 2005/60/EC (3rd AML Directive), in Q3, 2007.  The AML policy 
and KYC procedures are implemented, maintained and monitored by 
its AML Compliance Unit, which is also responsible for staff train-
ing, achieved via comprehensive multi-level program, designed to 
meet specific exposure risks of Bank of Georgia personnel. 

In 2007, the Bank has further enhanced its technological facilities 
by implementing AML software allowing fully-automated monitor-
ing of all transactions for live detection of possible matches with 
international and local “black-listed” entities. Bank of Georgia is in 
process of implementing another AML software product that will 
allow sophisticated transaction pattern analysis and client behavior 
modeling for early detection of possible risks associated with money 
laundering and terrorist financing.
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GEL thousands, unless otherwise noted Georgia OECD CIS & Other Foreign Banks Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 105,393       207,049     93,328                                         405,770       
Trading securities -               -             6,342                                           6,342           
Amounts due from credit institutions 140,852       609            13,099                                         154,560       
Loans to customers 1,452,649    -             223,032                                       1,675,681    
Net investments in lease 46,674         -             -                                               46,674         
Investment securities
- available-for-sale 6,234           231            35,922                                         42,387         
- held-to-maturity 184,201       -             8,263 192,464       
Other assets 396,938       17,281       15,514 429,733       

2,332,941    225,170     395,500  2 ,953,611    

Liabilities
Due to credit institutions 104,731       791,054     6,010 901,795       
Due to customers 1,085,505    -             269,971  1 ,355,476    
Debt securities issued -               -             4,993  4,993           
Other liabilities 116,454       6,673         10,228 133,356       

1,306,691    797,727     291,202  2 ,395,620    

Net balance sheet position 1,026,250    (572,557)    104,298 557,991       

2007
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The following discussion sets forth certain risks and uncertainties 
that Bank of Georgia believes are material and could cause the 
Banks’ business, prospects, financial condition or results of opera-
tions to be materially adversely affected.  However, other factors 
could also adversely affect Bank of Georgia results and so the fac-
tors discussed in this report should not be considered to be a com-
plete set of all potential risks and uncertainties. 

Risks Relating to Emerging Markets 

Emerging markets are subject to greater risk than more developed 
markets, including in some cases significant political, economic and 
legal risks. Emerging economies such as Georgia’s are subject to 
rapid change and the information set out in this Annual Report may 
become outdated relatively quickly.  

Risk Relating to Business

Management of Growth 

Bank of Georgia has experienced a dramatic growth in the past few 
years and intends to continue to further expand its branch network, 
develop its business areas and as part of its growth strategy, seeks to 
pursue sensible acquisition opportunities in Georgia and regionally. 
There can be no assurance that Bank of Georgia will achieve positive 
returns on any investment that it makes.  

Bank of Georgia devotes substantial management resources to the 
development of strategic plans for organic growth and identification 
of possible acquisitions, including substantial expenditures to gener-
ate growth. If these strategic plans do not deliver as expected, Bank 
of Georgia’s could grow at a slower rate or decline.

Overall growth of Bank of Georgia’s business requires greater al-
location of management resources away from daily operations. In 
addition, the management of such growth will require among other 
things, continued development of the Bank’s financial and infor-
mation management control systems, the ability to integrate new 
branches or new acquisitions with existing operations, the ability to 
attract and retain sufficient numbers of qualified management and 
other personnel, the continued training of such personnel, adequate 
supervision and the maintenance of customer services. If the Bank 
fails to properly manage its growth, such failure may have a material 
adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of opera-
tions or prospects.  

As the Bank’s success depend, in part, on its ability to continue to 
retain, motivate and attract qualified and experienced banking and 
management personnel,  it  aims to be the employer of choice in the 
Georgian banking industry and has introduced attractive compensa-
tion packages for its personnel, including a bonus incentive scheme.  
However, there can be no assurance that the Bank will be able to 
successfully recruit and retain necessary qualified personnel.  The 
loss or diminution in the services of members of the Bank’s senior 
management team or an inability to recruit, train and/or retain neces-
sary personnel could have a material adverse effect on its business, 
results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Risks Associated with Planned Transactions

As part of its strategy, the Bank is actively and selectively consider-
ing regional expansion opportunities and aims to continue its region-
al expansion.  Achievement of the Bank’s acquisition strategy will 
be dependent on a number of conditions, including identification of 
suitable targets, satisfactory completion of due diligence and obtain-
ing required corporate and governmental approvals.  There can be no 
assurance that potential transactions will be completed on terms ac-
ceptable to the Bank or at all.  In the event that planned transactions 
are delayed or not consummated, the Bank’s ability to diversify and 
expand its banking operations may suffer and its prospects could be 
materially adversely affected. 

Competition

The Georgian market for financial services is becoming increas-
ingly competitive. Bank of Georgia principally competes with other 
domestic banks, and its most significant competitors include TBC 
Bank, VTB, ProCredit Bank, Cartu Bank and Bank Republic (Socié-
té Générale).  In the future, the Bank expects increased competition 
in all areas of its business.  In addition, it is likely that there will be 
increased competition from foreign banks and/or possible mergers 
between foreign and local banks.  The new entrants are: Ukrainian 
Privatbank; HSBC; Halyk Savings Bank of Kazakhstan; and UAE 
based Dhabi Group’s subsidiary JSC Kor Bank Georgia.

If Bank of Georgia is unable to continue to compete successfully 
in the Georgian banking sector or to execute its business strategy, 
this could have a material adverse effect on the Bank’s business and 
results of operations.  

Regulation of the Georgian Banking Industry

Bank of Georgia is subject to banking regulations and requirements 
in Georgia, which have been adopted by the Georgian Parliament 
and are supervised by the NBG. The regulations and requirements 
include a general banking licence and compliance with mandatory 
financial ratios. All banking operations and various related opera-
tions in Georgia require a general banking licence from the NBG. In 
addition, the NBG requires Georgian banks to regularly file periodic 
reports, and Georgian authorities, including the NBG, have the right 
to, and do, conduct periodic inspections of Bank of Georgia’s opera-
tions throughout each year. 

Although Bank of Georgia has such a general banking licence, there 
is no assurance that Bank of Georgia will be able to maintain such 
licence or obtain a new general banking licence if necessary in the 
future. Applying for a NBG licence may be a burdensome and time-
consuming process. The NBG may, in its discretion, impose addi-
tional requirements or deny Bank of Georgia’s request for a licence, 
which could harm Bank of Georgia’s business and results of opera-
tions. The loss of an NBG licence, a breach of the terms of an NBG 
licence by Bank of Georgia or the failure to obtain an NBG licence 
in the future could result in cashflow difficulties and penalties which 
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may include temporary administration of Bank of Georgia by the 
NBG and/or fines imposed by the NBG on Bank of Georgia, which 
may, in turn, affect the Bank’s ability to fulfill its payment obliga-
tions, and would have a material adverse effect on its business, finan-
cial condition, results of operations and prospects. If Bank of Geor-
gia loses its general banking licence, this will result in its inability to 
perform any banking operations. 

From time to time in the past, Bank of Georgia has breached certain 
mandatory financial ratios set by the NBG, in part due to its high rate 
of growth. Management believes that Bank of Georgia is currently 
in material compliance with all of the NBG’s mandatory financial 
ratios in all material respects. However, no assurance can be given 
that Bank of Georgia will not breach mandatory ratios in the future 
or that it will be able to obtain a waiver for any such breach. In addi-
tion, inspections by regulatory authorities may conclude retrospec-
tively that Bank of Georgia has violated laws, decrees or regulations, 
and Bank of Georgia may be unable to refute any such allegations or 
prevent or remedy any such violations. 

Generally, legislation relating to banks in Georgia is less developed 
than in other jurisdictions and is subject to varying interpretations 
and inconsistent application, and legislative drafting has not always 
kept pace with the demands of the market. Existing laws and regula-
tions could be amended, the manner in which laws and regulations 
are enforced or interpreted could change and new laws or regulations 
could be adopted. Any finding by regulatory authorities that Bank 
of Georgia has violated laws, decrees or regulations could result in 
the imposition of sanctions, which could include fines, penalties, the 
initiation of a temporary administration of Bank of Georgia by the 
NBG or the suspension, amendment or termination of Bank of Geor-
gia’s general banking licence. Any of the foregoing developments 
could have a material adverse effect on Bank of Georgia’s business, 
financial condition, results of operations and prospectus as well as 
the trading price of Bank of Georgia’s securities.

Exposure to Credit Risk of Georgian Corporations and 
Individuals 

Bank of Georgia is exposed to credit risks of corporations and indi-
viduals in Georgia. Financial performance of Georgian corporations 
is generally more volatile, and the credit quality of Georgian corpo-
rates on average is less predictable, than that of similar companies 
doing business in more mature markets and economies. An accurate 
assessment of default risk on loans provided to corporate clients may 
be difficult for Bank of Georgia to make due to the unpredictabil-
ity of economic conditions in Georgia and abroad. Even though the 
Bank requires regular disclosure of its corporate clients’ financial 
statements, such financial statements may not always present a 
complete and accurate picture of each client’s financial condition. 
Furthermore, Bank of Georgia’s corporate clients do not typically 
have extensive or externally verified credit histories.  Therefore, not-
withstanding Bank of Georgia’s credit risk evaluation procedures, it 
may be unable to correctly evaluate the current financial condition of 
each prospective corporate borrower and to accurately determine the 
ability of such corporate borrower to repay.  Similarly, the financial 
condition of private individuals transacting business with the Bank is 
difficult to assess and predict as the vast majority of retail borrowers 
have no or very limited credit history.  

While the substantial majority of Bank of Georgia’s loans to custom-
ers are secured by collateral, if a significant number of its corporate 
or individual borrowers and/or guarantors experience poor financial 
performance due to a significant deterioration in Georgian or regional 
general economic conditions, including a devaluation of the Lari, or 
volatility in certain sectors of the Georgian or regional economies or 
if their financial condition deteriorates significantly for any reason,  
Bank of Georgia could suffer material adverse effect on  its financial 
performance and results of operations. 

Absence of Centralized Credit Information

Credit Info Georgia (CIG), founded by Bank of Georgia, jointly with 
certain other Georgian banks and with Creditinfo Group, a European 
provider of credit information solution, serves as the centralised 
credit bureau in Georgia.  While Georgian banks contribute only 
negative customer credit information to CIG, CIG is not yet fully 
developed.  Due to the lack of an existing fully developed centralised 
credit bureau in Georgia, the Bank may be unable to confirm in-
formation provided by credit applicants or determine whether other 
banks have previously extended credit to such applicant. The Bank 
may therefore be exposed to credit risks which it may not be able 
to accurately assess and provide for, which could have a material 
adverse effect on the Bank’s financial condition and results of opera-
tions.  While certain Georgian legislations has been drafted to ad-
dress the absence of centralized credit information, no assurance can 
be given that such draft legislation will be finally adopted into law or, 
if adopted, will be effective.

Enforcement of Security under Georgian law 

The Bank enters into security and/or guarantee arrangements for the 
substantial majority of its loans made to individuals and legal entities.  
Under Georgian law, security (which includes over real property and 
movable property) and guarantees (other than bank guarantees) are 
considered secondary obligations, which automatically terminate if 
the secured or guaranteed obligation is terminated. A mortgage under 
Georgian law is a pledge over real property, such as land and build-
ing, which requires state registration to be valid. Under Georgian 
law, a pledge over movable property is perfected either through reg-
istration or through possession. However, in practice it is not uncom-
mon to have unexpected and/or conflicting claims of secured credi-
tors over property subject to a movables pledge because registration 
of movables pledges (other than share pledges) is not mandatory. In 
addition, pledges over chattels are often rather impracticable due to 
practical inability of the pledgee to restrict subsequent sale of such 
movable property. Therefore, the Bank may have difficulty enforcing 
movables pledges when customers default on their loans.  

For enforcement of pledges over movable property and foreclosure 
over real property, the method of enforcement (by court or other-
wise) can be pre-agreed in the pledge/mortgage document. 

Market Risks

Bank of Georgia is exposed to market risks, including currency ex-
change rate risk and interest rate risk.  Although Bank of Georgia 
sets limits and performs certain other measures aimed at reducing 
currency exchange rate risk, currency exchange rate fluctuations may 
adversely affect the Bank.  A significant portion of Bank of Georgia’s 
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consumer loan portfolio is denominated in Lari, and therefore it may 
be exposed to currency risk when it receives funding denominated 
in foreign currencies.  

The Bank is exposed to risks resulting from mismatches between the 
interest rates on its interest-bearing liabilities and interest-earning 
assets.  While the Bank monitors interest rates with respect to its as-
sets and liabilities, and generally matches its interest rate positions, 
interest rate movements may adversely affect the Bank’s financial 
position.  The Bank’s results of operations largely depend on its net 
interest income.  There can be no assurance that Bank of Georgia’s 
strategies and measures taken by the management will protect it 
from the negative effect of a future decrease of interest rates.  In-
terest rates are highly sensitive to a number of factors beyond the 
Bank’s control, including the NBG’s reserve policy and domestic 
and international economic and political conditions.  A significant 
decrease in market interest rates could reduce the Bank’s net interest 
income and adversely affect the Bank’s business, financial condition 
and results of operations.

In addition, Bank of Georgia’s access to the international capital 
markets makes it subject to additional risks inherent in interest rate 
and currency exchange rate volatility.  Although the Bank seeks to 
minimize such risks by considering the possibility of using deriva-
tive instruments, no assurance can be given that these measures will 
be effectively implemented or that they will allow the Bank to mini-
mize the impact of currency exchange rate and interest rate volatility. 
If the Bank’s risk management procedures and limits do not mini-
mize the impact of market risks on the Bank, its business, financial 
condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.  

Liquidity risks

Bank of Georgia is also exposed to liquidity risk arising out of mis-
matches between the maturities of the Bank’s assets and liabilities, 
which may result in the Bank being unable to meet its obligations in 
a timely manner. 

Bank of Georgia’s liquidity is managed through sales and purchases 
of securities, interbank borrowing and lending, borrowing from the 
NBG and issuing debt instruments, as well as cash flow and liquid-
ity gap analysis. In the future, Bank of Georgia aims to continue 
to diversify its funding sources by accessing the international and 
Georgian debt markets through syndicated loan facilities and debt 
security issues.  

Bank of Georgia’s ability to continue to access these markets and 
lenders to an extent sufficient to meet its funding needs, including 
the refinancing of outstanding debt falling due, could be adversely 
affected by a number of factors, including Georgian and internation-
al economic conditions and, in particular, the state of the Georgian 
banking system.  

The cost and availability of financing are influenced by credit rat-
ings. A reduction in the current ratings may adversely affect Bank 
of Georgia’s access to liquidity sources, increase cost of funding 
and decrease number of parties willing to lend. The following table 
shows Bank of Georgia’s ratings as of 31 December 2007 and 31 
December 2006. 

Bank of Georgia’s access to funding, including as a result of its credit 
ratings by Fitch, Moody’s and S&P, and its liquidity risk manage-
ment policy will enable it to meet its liquidity needs.  Nevertheless, 
any difficulties experienced by  Bank of Georgia in accessing the 
Georgian or international debt market, or maturity mismatches be-
tween the Bank’s assets and liabilities may, together or separately, 
have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition, 
results of operations or prospects of the Bank.  

Technological risks

Bank of Georgia’s businesses are dependent on the ability to process 
a large number of transactions efficiently and accurately. Bank of 
Georgia financial performance and its ability to meet its strategic ob-
jectives will depend to a significant extent upon the functionality of 
its information technology systems and the ability of those systems 
to keep pace with the rapid expansion of the Bank’s business opera-
tions.  Any disruption to the functionality of the Bank’s information 
technology systems, or delays in increasing the capacity of those sys-
tems, may lead to delays in the Bank’s decision-making processes 
and risk management procedures or a disruption in the Bank’s busi-
ness activities, any of which could have a material adverse effect 
on the business, financial condition, results of operations and pros-
pects.  Furthermore, the expansion of the Bank’s operations and the 
introduction of new technologies result in correspondingly greater 
technological risks, as the financial consequences of any failure of 
equipment, networks or software become more severe.  

Restrictive Covenants

Bank of Georgia is party to a number of loan agreements that contain 
covenants imposing significant operating and financial restrictions 
on Bank of Georgia.  These restrictions require Bank of Georgia to 
maintain compliance with specified financial ratios and significantly 
limit, and in some cases prohibit, among other things, the ability of 
Bank of Georgia and certain of its subsidiaries to incur additional 
indebtedness, create liens on assets, undertake corporate reorganisa-
tions, enter into business combinations or engage in certain transac-
tions with companies within the Bank.  From time to time in the past, 
Bank of Georgia has breached certain of these covenants. While the 
Bank has obtained waivers from the relevant lenders in respect of 
its past breaches when they took place, there can be no assurance 
that waivers will be granted for any breaches in the future.  As of 31 
December 2006 and 2007, Bank of Georgia complied with all the 
covenants of the loans received from credit institutions.

A failure by the Bank to comply with the covenants in its loan agree-
ments would constitute a default under the relevant agreements and 
could trigger a cross-default under other agreements to which Bank 
of Georgia is a party.  In the event of such a default, Bank of Geor-
gia’s obligations under one or more of these agreements could, under 
certain circumstances, become immediately due and payable, which 
would have a material adverse effect on Bank of Georgia’s business, 
financial condition, results of operations or prospects.  

Rating 2s 00 26 007

Standard & Poor’s ‘B+’/‘B’; Stable Outlook ‘B+’/‘B’; Stable Outlook
Fitch Ratings ‘B-’/‘B’; Positive Outlook ‘B+’/‘B’; Stable Outlook
Moody’s ‘B3/NP’ (FC) & ‘Baa3/P-3’ (LC); 

Stable Outlook
‘B3/NP’ (FC) & ‘Ba1/NP’ (LC);  
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Risks Related to Georgia 

Since the restoration of its independence in 1991, Georgia has un-
dergone a substantial political transformation from a constituent 
republic of the former Soviet Union to an independent sovereign 
democracy. Political conditions in Georgia were highly volatile in 
the 1990s and in the early part of this decade. Since January 2004, 
following the peaceful uprising in November 2003, known as the 
“Rose Revolution”, Mikheil Saakashvili has served as President of 
Georgia. Although the first few years of President Saakashvili’s term 
in office were marked by relative political stability and the intro-
duction of policies oriented towards the acceleration of political and 
economic reforms, a number of high-profile events since 2006 have 
decreased President Saakashvili’s popular support and have trig-
gered a wave of popular protests. On 7 November 2007, after five 
days of demonstrations blocking the main avenue outside the Parlia-
ment, the riot police broke up the protests and a two-week state of 
emergency banning all privately-owned broadcast media and public 
gatherings was imposed. On 8 November 2007, President Saakash-
vili announced that early presidential elections would be held on 5 
January 2008, thereby reducing his constitutional term by a year, and 
that a plebiscite would be held on rescheduling parliamentary elec-
tions for spring 2008. Although President Saakashvili was re-elected 
on 5 January 2008 with 53.5% of the vote, the post-election period 
was marked by opposition protests demanding further reform to the 
electoral law ahead of the upcoming parliamentary elections on 21 
May 2008, tensions increased following constitutional amendments 
adopted on 12 March 2008 relating to the composition of Parliament. 
The opposition protests were largely peaceful and have abated in 
recent weeks as opposition parties focus on the election campaign. 
Parliamentary Speaker Nino Burjanadze, a leader of the 2003 Rose 
Revolution, surprised Georgia’s political establishment on 21 April 
2008 when she announced that she will not run for re-election in 
the upcoming parliamentary elections due to disagreements over the 
composition of the ruling party’s list of MP candidates. Although she 
confirmed that she would not join the opposition. 

In light of such recent political developments, there can be no assur-
ance that the Government will be able to maintain political and civil 
stability or that reform and economic growth will not be hindered 
as a result of the political disruptions. Any adverse changes in the 
political climate in Georgia, in particular any such changes affecting 
the stability of the Government or involving a rejection or reversal 
of its current reform policies, may have negative effects on the Bank 
and could materially adverse effect its operations. 

 Regional Tensions

Since the restoration of its independence in 1991, Georgia has had 
ongoing disputes with local separatists in Abkhazia and South Os-
setia. These disputes have led to sporadic violence and breaches of 
peace-keeping operations. Moreover, relations with Russia have 
been strained since the restoration of Georgia’s independence in 
1991. Despite the steps Georgia has taken to diversify its energy 
sources and reduce its dependence on Russia, in common with other 
CIS countries, Georgia continues to import gas from Russia. Policy 
differences over the best approach to negotiating with the separatists 
in Abkhazia and South Ossetia, and Russia’s role in the unresolved 
disputes, are a continued cause of bilateral tension.

In addition, recent events in Kosovo could spark a deterioration in 
Georgia’s relations with the local separatists and Russia, as Russia 
has warned that the decision by the United States and some Euro-
pean Union (EU) member states to recognise Kosovo’s indepen-
dence could be treated as a precedent for Abkhazia. The Government 
has repeatedly stated over the last year that any move by Russia to 
use Kosovo as a precedent for Abkhazia or South Ossetia would be 
treated as a hostile act. On 6 March 2008, Russia stated that it was 
unilaterally withdrawing from a 1996 CIS treaty banning trade and 
certain other economic links with Abkhazia. As the withdrawal from 
such treaty re-opens the possibility of arms sales and other Russian 
military assistance, the President has announced that there is a zero-
tolerance policy for the further militarisation of Abkhazia. On 21 
March 2008, the Russian State Duma, the lower house of parliament, 
passed a non-binding statement calling the Russian government to 
consider the expediency of recognising Abkhazia and South Os-
setia. In addition, President Vladimir Putin of Russia promised to 
increase Russian support for Abkhazia and South Ossetia if Georgia 
is awarded a North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO) Member-
ship Action Plan (MAP). On 16 April 2008, Vladimir Putin, signed a 
decree instructing the Russian government to co-operate with the “de 
facto” authorities in Abkhazia and South Ossetia in economic, trade 
and other areas, and to recognise some documents issued by them. 
The decree also stated that the Russian foreign ministry should look 
at providing consular services to the regions’ residents.

Tensions increased on 20 April 2008 when a Georgian surveillance 
drone was shot down over Abkhazia, by what the Georgian govern-
ment claims was a Russian MiG-29. Russia denied its air force was 
in the area. The conflict was addressed by the U.N. Security Council 
and brought criticism from some Western countries against Russia’s 
actions.

On 29 April 2008, Russia despatched extra peacekeeping troops to 
Abkhazia and although the increase in peacekeepers is within the 
limits set out in the 1994 UN brokered ceasefire agreement, the Eu-
ropean Union accused Russia of stoking tensions. Russia alleges that 
this step was in response to the deployment of Georgian military to 
the Georgian Government controlled region of Upper Abkhazia, an 
accusation that the Georgian Government denies.  

Any attempt by the Russian government to recognise Abkhazia, 
South Ossetia or both or to provide arms, munitions or other military 
assistance to the separatists or to otherwise materially interfere in 
Georgia’s internal affairs could increase political uncertainty, create 
instability and potentially lead to hostilities, all of which would have 
a detrimental impact on the Georgian economy. In addition, any ma-
terial increase in tensions between the Government and the separat-
ists in Abkhazia and/or South Ossetia would have a negative effect 
on the stability of Georgia both in political and economic terms. 

Economic Instability

Since the dissolution of the Soviet Union in the early 1990s, Geor-
gia’s society and economy have undergone a rapid transformation 
from a one-party state with a centrally-planned economy to a plural-
ist democracy with a market economy. This transformation has been 
marked by periods of significant instability resulting at various times 
in declines in GDP, hyperinflation, an unstable currency, high levels 
of state debt relative to GDP, the existence of a “black” and “grey” 
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market economy, high unemployment and underemployment and the 
impoverishment of a large portion of the Georgian population.

Over the past five years, the Government has aggressively imple-
mented economic reforms, which have resulted in increasing GDP 
growth and FDI, a moderate rate of appreciation of the Lari and a 
stable rate of inflation. There can be no assurance, however, that 
these trends will continue or will not be reversed. A material depre-
ciation of the Lari relative to the U.S. Dollar or the Euro, changes 
in monetary policy, inflation or other factors could adversely affect 
Georgia’s economy in the future and could negatively affect Bank of 
Georgia’s business.

Exchange Rates and Inflation

There was significant instability in the Lari-U.S. Dollar exchange 
rate following the Russian financial crisis of August 1998. While the 
Lari has appreciated against the U.S. Dollar since 2001, the ability of 
the Government and the NBG to limit any volatility of the Lari will 
depend on a number of political and economic factors, including the 
Government’s ability to control inflation, the availability of foreign 
currency reserves and FDI inflows. According to estimates provided 
by the Department of Statistics, inflation as measured by the period 
end Consumer Price Index (CPI) in Georgia was 6.2% in 2005, 8.8% 
in 2006 and 11.0% in 2007. Although the rate of inflation has been 
stable in recent years, any return to high and sustained inflation could 
lead to market instability, a financial crisis, a reduction in consumer 
purchasing power and erosion of consumer confidence. Any of these 
events could lead to deterioration in the performance of Georgia’s 
economy and could lead to decreased demand for Bank of Georgia’s 
products and services.

Currency Regulation

Although the Lari is a fully convertible currency, there is generally 
no market outside Georgia for the exchange of the Lari. A market ex-
ists within Georgia for the conversion of Lari into other currencies, 
but it is limited in size. According to the NBG, in 2007, the total 
volume of trading turnover in the Lari-U.S. Dollar and Lari-Euro 
markets amounted to U.S.$14.2 billion and €2.7 billion, respectively. 
The exchange rate of the Lari against the U.S. Dollar is fixed at the 
Tbilisi Interbank Foreign Exchange, which is used to determine the 
official exchange rate of Lari against foreign currencies. According 
to the NBG, the NBG had in excess of U.S.$1.4 billion worth of 
currency reserves as at 31 December 2007. While the Government 
believes that the reserves will be sufficient to sustain the domestic 
currency market in the short term, there can be no assurance that 
a relatively stable market will continue indefinitely and a lack of 
growth of this currency market may hamper the development of 
Georgia’s economy, negatively affect Bank of Georgia’s business 
and the businesses of its corporate clients, and in turn, Bank of Geor-
gia’s business and prospects.

Developing Legal System

Georgia is still developing an adequate legal framework required for 
the proper functioning of a market economy. Several fundamental 
Georgian civil, criminal, tax, administrative and commercial laws 
have only recently become effective. The recent nature of much of 
Georgian legislation and the rapid evolution of the Georgian legal 

system place the quality, the enforceability and underlying constitu-
tionality of laws in doubt and result in ambiguities and inconsisten-
cies in their application.

In addition, the court system is understaffed and under-funded, and 
judges and courts in Georgia are generally inexperienced in the area 
of business and corporate law. Most court decisions are not readily 
available to the public, and enforcement of court judgments can, in 
practice, be difficult in Georgia. The uncertainties of the Georgian 
judicial system could have a negative effect on the economy and 
Bank of Georgia’s ability to operate in Georgia could be adversely 
affected by difficulties in protecting and enforcing its rights and by 
future changes to local laws and regulations.

Risks Related to Money Laundering and/or Terrorist Fi-
nancing

Although the Bank has implemented a comprehensive anti-money 
laundering (AML) and “know-your-customer” (KYC) policy, moni-
tored by its AML Compliance Department, and adheres to all re-
quirements under Georgian legislation aimed at preventing it being 
used as a vehicle for money laundering, there can be no assurance 
that these measures will be completely effective. If the Bank in the 
future fails to comply with timely reporting requirements or other 
AML regulations and/or is associated with money laundering and/
or terrorist financing, its reputation, result of operations, financial 
conditions and prospects may be adversely affected.  In addition, 
involvement in such activities may carry criminal or regulatory fines 
and sanctions.  

Social Risks

Restructuring of the Georgian government by the Saakashvili admin-
istration has significantly reduced the number of state employees, 
adding to unemployment and social instability, despite substantially 
increased salaries for most remaining state workers.  Unemploy-
ment, and the failure of salaries and benefits in the public and private 
sectors to keep pace with the increasing cost of living in Georgia 
have led in the past, and could lead in the future, to labour and social 
unrest.  Any consequences of social unrest could restrict the Bank’s 
operations and lead to the loss of revenue, materially adversely af-
fecting its business and prospects.  

Uncertainties of Georgian Tax System 

A new Georgian Tax Code entered into force in January 2005. The 
number of taxes has been reduced from 22 to seven and the admin-
istrative procedures have been simplified. In order to make the tax 
reform revenue-neutral, the tax base was broadened by eliminating 
many existing tax exemptions, excise tax rates were increased and 
tax collection strengthened. In the new Tax Code, the VAT rate has 
been reduced to 18.0% and VAT exemptions reduced to a minimum. 
As of January 1, 2008, the corporate income tax rate was reduced 
from 20% to 15%. In addition to corporate taxes, prior to January 
1, 2008, enterprises had to pay additional social tax on an aggregate 
amount of gross wages.  In 2005 this payroll tax rate was reduced 
from 33% to 20% and, subsequently, as of January 1, 2008 was abol-
ished.

Until 2005, individuals in Georgia were subject to personal income 
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tax at rates ranging from 12% to 20%. Effective January 1, 2005, a 
flat tax rate of 12% was introduced for all levels of income. After 
1 January, 2008, simultaneously with the abolition of social taxes, 
personal income tax rate was increased and now it ranges from 12% 
to 25%. 

Furthermore, following recent amendments to the Tax Code from 
January 1, 2009 (i) tax on interest income received from deposits 
placed with licensed institutions and publicly-traded fixed income 
securities admitted to trading on a local stock exchange with a free 
float exceeding 25% will be abolished, (ii) capital gains on the secu-
rities admitted to trading on a local stock exchange with a free float 
exceeding 25% will be abolished and (iii) tax on dividend income 
from equities admitted to trading on a local stock exchange with a 
free float exceeding 25% will be abolished.  

The Government is planning certain amendments to the Tax Code, 
including further lowering income tax rates, however no assurances 
can be given that such amendments would materialise in the future.

In addition, certain amendments to the Tax Code were passed by 
the Parliament in December 2006 with the text of such amendments 
being published and/or made available later than the effective date 
of such amendments. Continuation of similar practices may have 
a negative impact on the Georgian business climate in general and 
may create particular operational issues for commercial entities, in-
cluding the Bank.

The new Tax Code has not been in force for a significant period 
of time compared to more developed market economies, and, as a 
result, there is uncertainty as to its application. Differing opinions 
regarding the interpretation of various provisions exist both among 
and within governmental ministries and organisations, including 
the tax authority, creating uncertainties and inconsistencies, exac-
erbated by continuous changes to the Tax Code and the difficulty of 
overturning decisions of the tax authorities. While Bank of Georgia 
believes that it is currently in compliance with the tax laws affect-
ing its operations, it is possible that relevant authorities could take 
differing positions with regard to interpretative issues, which may 
result in a material adverse effect on the Bank’s results of operations 
and financial condition.

In addition, Georgia faces considerable difficulties in ensuring im-
partiality of court system with respect to tax claims, especially when 
large amounts are being contested by tax payers. Inability of the 
Georgian court system to properly constrain tax police in connec-
tion with certain tax matters has been notorious over the past several 
years. Although certain steps are being taken to remedy the current 
situation, there can be no assurance that such practices will not con-
tinue in the future, which may result in a material adverse effect on 
the Bank’s results of operation and financial conditions.

Statistical Information 

A range of ministries and institutions, including the Ministry of Fi-
nance, the NBG, the Department of Statistics and the Ministry of 
Economic Development, produce statistics relating to Georgia and 
its economy. Georgia adheres to the IMF General Data Dissemina-

tion Standards. However, these statistics may be more limited in 
scope and published less frequently than in the case of other coun-
tries such that adequate monitoring of key fiscal and economic in-
dicators may be difficult. Statistical data appearing in this Report 
has, unless otherwise stated, been obtained from public sources and 
documents. Similar statistics may be obtainable from other sources, 
but the underlying assumptions, methodology and, consequently, the 
resulting data may vary from source to source.

Foreign judgments may not be enforceable against Bank 
of Georgia

Bank of Georgia is incorporated under the laws of Georgia and most 
of its assets are located in Georgia. In addition, most of Bank of 
Georgia’s management and executive officers reside or are located 
outside of the United Kingdom. As a result, it may not be possible 
for investors to affect service of process upon Bank of Georgia or 
its management or executive officers. There is a possibility that a 
lawsuit based upon UK laws cannot be brought in an original action 
in Georgia and that a foreign judgment based upon UK laws will not 
be enforced in Georgia, under certain circumstances.

Generally, foreign court judgments are recognised and enforceable 
in Georgia unless there is a pending case on the same matter in Geor-
gian courts, the courts of the country rendering the judgment do not 
recognise the judgments of Georgian courts, the judgment contradicts 
basic legal principles of Georgia, or one of several other conditions 
is not satisfied. No treaty exists between Georgia and most Western 
jurisdictions (including the United Kingdom and The Netherlands) 
for the reciprocal enforcement of foreign court judgments, which 
may require new proceedings to be brought in Georgia in respect of 
a judgment already obtained in any such jurisdiction against Bank of 
Georgia or its directors or executive officers. In addition, Georgian 
courts have limited experience in the enforcement of foreign court 
judgments. The limitations described above, including the general 
procedural grounds set out in Georgian legislation for the refusal to 
recognise and enforce foreign court judgments in Georgia, may sig-
nificantly delay the enforcement of any such judgment, or potentially 
deprive interested party of effective legal recourse for claims. 

Volatility of the Trading Market  

The market for Bank of Georgia securities will be influenced by eco-
nomic and market conditions in Georgia and, to varying degrees, 
interest rates, currency exchange rates and inflation rates in other 
countries, such as the United States, the Member States of the EU 
and elsewhere. There can be no assurance that an active trading mar-
ket for Bank of Georgia securities will develop further, or, if one 
does develop, that events in Georgia, in the CIS or elsewhere will 
not cause market volatility or that such volatility will not adversely 
affect the liquidity or the price of Bank of Georgia securities or that 
economic and market conditions will not have any other adverse ef-
fect. 
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This document contains statements that constitute “forward-looking statements”, including, but not limited to, statements concerning our 
expectations, projections, objectives, targets, goals, strategies, future events, future revenues or performance, capital expenditures, financ-
ing needs, plans or intentions relating to acquisitions, competitive strengths and weaknesses, plans or goals relating to financial position and 
future operations and development.

While these forward-looking statements represent our judgments and future expectations concerning the development of our business, a num-
ber of risks, uncertainties and other factors could cause actual developments and results to differ materially from our expectations.

These factors include, but are not limited to, (1) general market, macroeconomic, governmental, legislative and regulatory trends, (2) move-
ments in local and international currency exchange rates; interest rates and securities markets, (3) competitive pressures, (4) technological 
developments, (5) changes in the financial position or credit worthiness of our customers, obligors and counterparties and developments in the 
markets in which they operate, (6) management changes and changes to our group structure and (7) other key factors that we have indicated 
could adversely affect our business and financial performance, which are contained elsewhere in this document and in our past and future 
filings and reports, including those filed with the respective authorities.

When relying on forward-looking statements, investors should carefully consider the foregoing factors and other uncertainties and events.  
Accordingly, we are under no obligations (and expressly disclaim and such obligations) to update or alter our forward-looking statements 
whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise.
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RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
We hereby confirm that to the best of our knowledge: 

(i)	 the financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS,  give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial posi-
tion and profit or loss of JSC Bank of Georgia and Subsidiaries and its consolidated undertakings, taken as a whole; and

       (ii) 	 the management report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of JSC 
Bank of Georgia and Subsidiaries and its consolidated undertakings, taken as a whole, together with a description of the 
principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

Irakli Gilauri

Chief Executive Officer

29 April 2008
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of JSC Bank of Georgia –  
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of JSC Bank of Georgia and Subsidiaries which 
comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2007, and the consolidated income statement, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 
 
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and 
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and 
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements 
are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of JSC 
Bank of Georgia and Subsidiaries as at 31 December 2007, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
 
 
 
15 April 2008 

Ernst &Young Audit LLC
Kote Abkhazi Street. 44
Tbilisi. 0105. Georgia

Tel:	 +995 (32) 43 9375
Fax:	 +995 (32) 43 9376
www.ey.com/georgia

Sps ernst end iang auditi
saqarTvelo, 0105, Tbilisi
kote afxazis quCa 44

tel:	 +995 (32) 43 9375
faqsi:	+995 (32) 43 9376
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of JSC Bank of Georgia –  
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of JSC Bank of Georgia and Subsidiaries which 
comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2007, and the consolidated income statement, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 
 
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and 
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and 
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements 
are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of JSC 
Bank of Georgia and Subsidiaries as at 31 December 2007, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
 
 
 
15 April 2008 

JSC Bank of Georgia and Subsidiaries  2007 Consolidated Financial Statements 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
 

As of 31 December 2007  
 

(Thousands of Georgian Lari) 

1 

 
 Notes 2007 2006 
Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 7 405,770 108,045 
Trading securities  8 6,342 – 
Amounts due from credit institutions 9 154,560 65,475 
Loans to customers, net 10 1,675,681 684,842 
Finance lease receivables, net 11 46,674 9,091 
Investment securities: 12   
  - available–for-sale  42,387 9,887 
  - held–to-maturity   192,464 187,244 
Investments in associates 13 5,208 496 
Investment property  14 35,065 1,224 
Property and equipment, net 15 204,656 66,828 
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net 16 115,989 43,429 
Current and deferred income tax assets 17 1,557 – 
Prepayments  5,942 3,476 
Other assets, net 18, 19 61,316 33,289 
Total assets  2,953,611 1,213,326 
    
Liabilities     
Amounts due to credit institutions  20 901,795 224,381 
Amounts due to customers 21 1,355,476 559,646 
Debt securities issued  22 4,993 1,073 
Current and deferred income tax liabilities 17 37,209 8,138 
Provisions 18, 24 1,003 672 
Other liabilities 19 95,144 44,558 
Total liabilities  2,395,620 838,468 
    
Equity 23   
Share capital  27,155 25,202 
Additional paid-in capital  315,415 277,440 
Treasury shares  (1,737) (1,004) 
Other reserves  67,354 5,257 
Retained earnings   136,342 63,746 
Total equity attributable to shareholders of the Bank  544,529 370,641 
Minority interests  13,462 4,217 
Total equity  557,991 374,858 
    
Total liabilities and equity  2,953,611 1,213,326 
 
Signed and authorised for release on behalf of the Management Board of the Bank 
 
 
Irakli Gilauri              General Director 
 
  
David Vakhtangishvili                          Chief Financial Officer 
 
15 April 2008 
 

 
 

The accompanying notes on pages 5 to 60 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
 

For the year ended 31 December 2007  
 

(Thousands of Georgian Lari) 
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 Notes 2007 2006 
Interest income     

Loans to customers  203,759 92,612 
Investment securities – held-to-maturity  23,394 414 
Investment securities – available-for-sale  1,073 792 
Amounts due from credit institutions  9,942 5,310 
Finance lease receivables   4,136 1,143 

  242,304 100,271 
Interest expense     

Amounts due to credit institutions  (58,072) (14,128) 
Amounts due to customers  (53,419) (19,245) 
Debt securities issued   (594) (176) 

      (112,085) (33,549) 
Net interest income  130,219 66,722 
Loan impairment charge 10 (17,409) (13,766) 
Net interest income after loan impairment charge  112,810 52,956 
    Fee and commission income  48,358 28,139 
Fee and commission expense  (6,610) (3,453) 
Net fee and commission income 25 41,748 24,686 
    Net gains from trading securities   2,930 – 
Net gains from investment securities available-for-sale 23 2,481 – 
Net gains from revaluation of investment property 14 16,362 – 
Net gains/(losses) from foreign currencies:    

- dealing  22,395 12,049 
- translation differences  4,315 (107) 

Net insurance premiums earned  14,260 6,260 
Other operating income  9,903 4,222 
Other non-interest income  72,646 22,424 
    Salaries and other employee benefits 26 (75,639) (33,316) 
General and administrative expenses  26 (36,164) (20,649) 
Depreciation, amortization and impairment  15,16 (9,863) (5,887) 
Net insurance claims incurred   (8,799) (1,827) 
Other operating expenses  (7,392) (3,654) 
Reversal of impairment of other assets and provisions 18 365 170 

Other non-interest expenses  (137,492) (65,163) 
    Profit before income tax expense  89,712 34,903 
Income tax expense 17 (14,070) (8,131) 
Profit for the year  75,642 26,772 

 

Attributable to:    
 - shareholders of the Bank  72,484 26,983 
 - minority interests  3,158 (211) 
  75,642 26,772 
Earnings per share:  23   
 - basic earnings per share  2.958 1.622 
 - diluted earnings per share  2.947 1.445 
 

Signed and authorised for release on behalf of the Management Board of the Bank 
Irakli Gilauri                                   General Director 
 
David Vakhtangishvili                             Chief Financial Officer 
 
15 April 2008 

The accompanying notes on pages 5 to 60 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
 

For the year ended 31 December 2007  
 

(Thousands of Georgian Lari) 

3 

 
 

 Attributable to shareholders of the Bank 

Minority 
interests 

Total 
equity 

 
Share 
capital 

Additional 
paid-in 
capital 

Treasury 
shares 

Other 
reserves 

Retained 
earnings Total 

         
31 December 2005  14,729 32,922 (81) 5,369 37,427 90,366 1,096 91,462 
         
Increase in share capital arising from share-

based payments (Note 23) 175 2,343 68 – – 2,586 – 2,586 
Depreciation of revaluation reserve,  

net of tax  – – – (112) 112 – – – 
Total income and expenses  
recognised directly in equity 175 2,343 68 (112) 112 2,586 – 2,586 
         
2006 profit – – – – 26,983 26,983 (211) 26,772 

Total income and expenses for the year 175 2,343 68 (112) 27,095 29,569 (211) 29,358 
         
Increase in share capital (Note 23) 10,298 249,571 – – – 259,869 – 259,869 
Share offering costs recognised  

directly in equity – (5,040) – – – (5,040) – (5,040) 
Dividends to shareholders of the Bank (Note 

23) – – – – (776) (776) – (776) 
Acquisition of additional interests in existing 

subsidiaries by minority shareholders – – – – – – 3,454 3,454 
Acquisition of minority interests  

in existing subsidiaries – – – – – – (122) (122) 
Purchase of treasury shares  – (2,356) (991) – – (3,347) – (3,347) 
         
31 December 2006 25,202 277,440 (1,004) 5,257 63,746 370,641 4,217 374,858 
Net change in investment  

securities  available-for-sale, net of tax  – – – 859 – 859 – 859 
Revaluation of property  

and equipment and Investment Property,  
net of tax  – – – 59,295 – 59,295 964 60,259 

Increase in share capital arising from share-
based payments (Note 23) 146 948 – – – 1,094 – 1,094 
Depreciation of revaluation reserve,  

net of tax – – – (112) 112 – – – 
Share offering costs adjustment – 1,321 – – – 1,321 – 1,321 
Currency translation differences  – – – 2,055 – 2,055 – 2,055 
Total income and expenses  
recognised directly in equity 146 2,269 – 62,097 112 64,624 964 65,588 
         
2007 profit  – – – – 72,484 72,484 3,158 75,642 

Total income and expenses for the year 146 2,269 – 62,097 72,596 137,108 4,122 141,230 
Increase in share capital (Note 23) 1,807 37,751 – – – 39,558 – 39,558 
Acquisition of additional interests in existing 

subsidiaries by minority shareholders – – – – – – 3,494 3,494 
Acquisition of minority 

interests in existing subsidiaries – – – – – – (87) (87) 
Minority interests arising on  

acquisition of subsidiary – – – – – – 1,716 1,716 
Sale of treasury shares – 9,600 – – – 9,600 – 9,600 
Purchase of treasury shares  – (11,645) (733) – – (12,378) – (12,378) 

31 December 2007 27,155 315,415 (1,737) 67,354 136,342 544,529 13,462 557,991 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes on pages 5 to 60 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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For the year ended 31 December 2007  
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 Notes 2007 2006 
Cash flows from operating activities    
Interest received  234,083 96,231 
Interest paid  (88,027) (28,088) 
Fees and commissions received   48,357 28,139 
Fees and commissions paid  (6,608) (3,453) 
Net realized gains from trading securities  2,764 – 
Net realized gains from investments securities  2,481 – 
Net realized gains in foreign currencies  22,395 12,046 
Recoveries of loans to customers previously written off  10 7,918 3,263 
Insurance premiums received   19,336 3,070 
Insurance claims paid   (6,554) (1,492) 
Other operating income received  9,504 3,877 
Salaries and other employee benefits paid  (53,838) (30,462) 
General and administrative and operating expenses paid  (41,298) (20,984) 
Cash flows from operating activities before  
changes in operating assets and liabilities  150,513 62,147 
    Net (increase) decrease in operating assets     
    Amounts due from credit institutions  (82,753) (28,816) 
Trading securities  (6,168) - 
Loans to customers  (774,471) (396,543) 
Finance lease receivables  (38,078) (4,778) 
Other assets  (11,504) (10,914) 
Net increase (decrease) in operating liabilities    
    Amounts due to credit institutions  604,576 136,065 
Amounts due to customers  537,984 248,982 
Other liabilities  2,970 3,774 
Net cash flows from operating activities before income tax  383,069 9,917 
    Income tax paid  (3,854) (203) 
Net cash from operating activities  379,215 9,714 
    Cash flows from investing activities    
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired  5 (12,256) 259 
Purchase of investment securities  (11,838) (186,288) 
Purchase of investments in associates  13 (5,275) (496) 
Proceeds from sale of investments in associates 13 700 – 
Purchase of investment property 14 (10,499) (1,224) 
Purchase of property and equipment and intangible assets 15, 16 (74,238) (30,277) 
Net cash used in investing activities  (113,406) (218,026) 
    Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from increase in share capital  38,908 259,770 
Purchase of treasury shares  (11,728) (3,347) 
Sale of treasury shares  9,600 - 
Purchase of additional interests by minority shareholders, net of cash acquired  3,494 3,454 
Purchase of additional interests in existing subsidiaries, net of cash acquired  303 – 
Proceeds from debt securities issued  (9,045) – 
Redemption of debt securities issued   49 (70) 
Dividends paid to shareholders of the Bank  – (579) 
Net cash from financing activities  31,581 259,228 
    
Effect of exchange rates changes on cash and cash equivalents  335 (107) 
        
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  297,725 50,809 
    Cash and cash equivalents, beginning  108,045 57,236 

Cash and cash equivalents, ending  7 405,770 108,045 
 
 

  
 
 

The accompanying notes on pages 5 to 60 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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JSC Bank of Georgia and Subsidiaries Notes to 2007 Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

(Thousands of Georgian Lari) 
 
 

5 

1. Principal Activities 
 
JSC Bank of Georgia (the “Bank”) was established on 21 October 1994 as a joint stock company under the laws of Georgia, and 
was formerly known as State Bank Binsotsbanki. The Bank operates under a general banking license issued by the National Bank 
of Georgia (“NBG”; the Central Bank of Georgia) on 15 December 1994. The Bank is the ultimate parent of a group of 
companies (the “Group”) incorporated in Georgia, Ukraine and Cyprus, primary business activities include providing banking, 
leasing, insurance, brokerage, asset and wealth management services, to corporate and individual customers.  The list of 
companies included in the Group is provided in Note 2.  The Bank is the Group’s main operating unit and accounts for most of 
the Group’s activities.  
 
The Bank accepts deposits from the public and extends credit, transfers payments in Georgia and international and 
exchanges currencies. Its main office is in Tbilisi, Georgia. At 31 December 2007 the Bank has 117 operating outlets in all 
major cities of Georgia (2006: 100). The Bank’s registered legal address is 3 Pushkin Street, Tbilisi 0105, Georgia. 
 
As of 31 December 2007 and 2006 the following shareholders owned more than 5% of the outstanding shares of the 
Bank. Other shareholders individually owned less than 5% of the outstanding shares.  
 

Shareholder 
31 December 2007, 

 % 
 31 December 2006, 

% 
Bank of New York  (Nominees), Limited  71.38%  43.01% 
Firebird Avrora Fund 5.39%  5.81% 
Firebird Republics Fund 5.27%  5.67% 
East Capital Financial Institutions 5.03%  5.42% 
Bank Austria Creditanstalt –  16.53% 
Others 12.93%  23.56% 
Total 100.00%  100.00% 

 
As of 31 December 2007, the members of the Supervisory Board and Board of Directors owned 214,146 shares (0.787%) 
(2006: 622,366 shares or 2.47%) of the Bank. Interests of the members of the Supervisory Board and Management Board 
were as follows: 
 

Shareholder 
31 December 2007, 

shares held 
31 December 2006, 

shares held 
Sulkhan Gvalia 188,050 224,000 
Ramaz Kukuladze 23,094 22,122 
Irakli Gilauri 1,587 – 
Nicholas Enukidze 1,045 – 
Irakli Burdiladze 370 – 
Lado Gurgenidze – 376,244 
Total 214,146 622,366 

 
In addition to shares held, the members of the Supervisory Board and Management Board were awarded 244,617 and 
185,000 Global Depository Receipts (“GDR”) in 2007 and 2006, respectively. The awards are subject to three-year vesting. 
As of 31 December 31, 2007 and 2006 31,665 GDRs owned by the members of the Supervisory Board and Management 
Board vested and comprised as follows: 
 

Member of the Supervisory Board and/or Management Board 

31 December 2007 
and 2006, GDRs 

vested 
Irakli Gilauri 16,666 
Sulkhan Gvalia 13,333 
Nicholas Enukidze – 
Ramaz Kukuladze 1,666 
Irakli Burdiladze  – 
Total 31,665 

 
 
In November and December 2006, 8,880,207 shares of the Bank in the form of Global Depository Receipts (“GDRs”) 
were sold on the London Stock Exchange (the “LSE”) pursuant to an initial public offering to institutional investors. 
7,440,207 shares in the form of GDRs were sold by the Bank while the balance was sold by the selling shareholders. Each 
GDR represents 1 ordinary share of the Bank. Bank of New York (“BNY”) acts as a depository for these shares. 

JSC Bank of Georgia and Subsidiaries Notes to 2007 Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. Basis of Preparation 
 

General 
 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”).  
 
The Bank and its Georgian-based subsidiaries are required to maintain their records and prepare their financial statements 
for regulatory purposes in Georgian Lari in accordance with IFRS, while Subsidiaries established outside of Georgia are in 
their respective local currencies. These consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention 
except for the measurement at fair value of financial assets and liabilities held for trading, available-for-sale securities, 
investment property and revalued property and equipment.  
 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of Georgian Lari (“GEL”), except per share amounts 
and unless otherwise indicated.  
 
Subsidiaries 
 

The consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2007 and 2006 include the following direct and indirect subsidiaries:  
 

Subsidiary 

31 December 
2007 

Ownership/ 
voting, % 

31 December 
2006 

Ownership/ 
voting, % Country 

Date of 
incorporation Industry 

Date of 
acquisition 

JSC Insurance Company Aldagi-BCI  100.0% 100.0% Georgia 22/06/2007 Insurance – 
JSC Insurance Company BCI (a) 100.0% Georgia 30/12/1995 Insurance 21/12/2006 
JSC Insurance Company Aldagi (a) 100.0% Georgia 11/08/1998 Insurance 30/12/2004 
JSC Galt & Taggart Securities 100.0% 100.0% Georgia 19/12/1995 Brokerage and asset management 28/12/2004 
Georgian Leasing Company LLC 100.0% 100.0% Georgia 29/10/2001 Leasing 31/12/2004 
JSC Insurance Company Europace (b) 100.0% Georgia 09/09/1998 Insurance (non–life) 18/10/2005 
JSC Galt & Taggart Capital 71.6% 77.0% Georgia 24/05/2006 Investment  – 
JSC SB Outdoor and Indoor 100.0% 77.0% Georgia 09/06/2006 Advertising  – 
Brokerage Company Hedji LLC 100.0% 100.0% Georgia 22/05/2002 Brokerage 17/04/2006 
Tavazi LLC 100.0% 100.0% Georgia 31/03/2001 Brokerage 20/04/2006 
JSC DBL.ge  100.0% – Georgia 23/04/2007 Investment  – 
JSC DBL Capital 100.0% – Georgia 27/04/2007 Brokerage – 
Georgian Securities LLC 100.0% – Georgia 19/06/2000 Brokerage  8/10/2007 
JSC Universal Bank of Development  

and Partnership 98.8% – Ukraine 26/01/1994 Banking 1/10/2007 
JSC Galt and Taggart Bank  100.0% – Georgia 30/12/1996 Banking 31/05/2007 
Galt and Taggart Tax Advisory LLC 100.0% – Georgia 25/09/2007 Tax consulting – 
JSC Caucasus Energy and Infrastructure  100.0% – Georgia 7/06/2007 Investment  – 
JSC SB Trade 100.0% – Georgia 26/02/2007 Import and distribution – 
SB Transport LLC 100.0% – Georgia 20/02/2007 Transportation – 
Metro Net LLC 100.0% – Georgia 23/04/2007 Communication services  – 
“Club 24” LLC 100.0% – Georgia 27/11/2007 Entertainment – 
Galt and Taggart Asset Management LLC 100.0% – Georgia 31/05/2007 Asset management – 
Real Estate Brokerage-LUX LLC 100.0% – Georgia 16/11/2007 Real estate brokerage – 
GTAM limited  80.0% – Cyprus 23/10/2007 Asset management – 
Vere + LLC 100.0% – Georgia 22/05/1996 Real estate 6/02/2007 
GC Holdings LLC 100.0% 100.0% Georgia 29/10/2007 Investment   
JSC Georgian Card 55.7% 55.4% Georgia 17/01/1997 Card processing 20/10/2004 
Nova Technology, LLC 51.00% – Georgia 19/03/2007 Electronic payment services 11/11/2007 
Intertour LLC 83.7% 64.4% Georgia 29/03/1996 Travel agency 25/04/2006 
Georgian-American Medical  

Rehabilitation Center Nautilus LLC (b) 100.0% Georgia 05/04/2004 Fitness centre 9/03/2006 
JSC SB Reestri 100.0% 100.0% Georgia 29/05/2006 Registrar – 
Metro Service + LLC 100.0% 81.6% Georgia 10/05/2006 Business servicing – 
Direct Debit Georgia LLC 100.0% 77.0% Georgia 22/02/2006 Electronic payment services – 
JSC My Family Clinic 100.0% 60.0% Georgia 3/10/2005 Healthcare – 

JSC Bank of Georgia and Subsidiaries Notes to 2007 Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. Basis of Preparation (continued) 
 
Subsidiaries 
 

Subsidiary 

31 December 
2007 

Ownership/ 
voting, % 

31 December 
2006 

Ownership/ 
voting, % Country 

Date of 
incorporation Industry 

Date of 
acquisition 

 

JSC Prime Fitness  100.0% 77.0% Georgia 03/07/2006 Fitness centre – 
JSC SB Real Estate 100.0% 77.0% Georgia 27/09/2006 Real estate – 
Holiday Travel LLC 100.0% 64.4% Georgia 11/02/2005 Travel agency 4/09/2006 
United Securities Registrar of Georgia, LLC 100.0% 100.0% Georgia 25/01/1999 Registrar 30/09/2006 
ICT Delameni LLC (c) 100.0% Georgia 30/03/1999 Registrar 22/08/2006 
Company Center LLC (c) 100.0% Georgia 21/10/1996 Registrar 9/08/2006 
Register Center LLC (c) 100.0% Georgia 25/01/1999 Registrar 30/09/2006 
Galt and Taggart Holding Limited  100.0% 100.0% Cyprus 03/07/2006 Holding company – 
Galt and Taggart Securities (Ukraine) LLC 100.0% 100.0% Ukraine 23/10/2006 Brokerage – 
Georgian Brokers Company LLC 100.0% 100.0% Georgia 23/06/1999 Brokerage 21/12/2006 
Aldagi-Assistance LLC (b) 100.0% Georgia 22/02/2000 Insurance 21/12/2006 

 
(a) The subsidiary merged with JSC Insurance Company Aldagi-BCI in 2007. 
(b) The subsidiary is either under liquidation, have been liquidated, or share ownership have been disposed of or sold, and 

therefore is not consolidated as of 31 December 2007. 
(c) The subsidiary merged with JSC United Securities Registrar of Georgia in 2007. 
 
 

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  
 
Subsidiaries 
 
Subsidiaries, which are those entities in which the Group has an interest of more than one half of the voting rights, or 
otherwise has power to exercise control over their operating and financial activities, are consolidated. Subsidiaries are 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are no longer consolidated from the date that 
control ceases. All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are 
eliminated in full; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 
transferred.  
 
Acquisition of subsidiaries 
 
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. Identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values 
at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. 
 
The excess of purchase consideration over the Group’s share in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of the acquisition is less than the Group’s share in the net fair value 
the difference is recognised directly in the consolidated income statement. 
 
Minority interest is the interest in subsidiaries not held by the Group. Minority interest at the balance sheet date represents 
the minority shareholders' share in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the 
subsidiary at the acquisition date and the minorities' share in movements in equity since the acquisition date. Minority 
interest is presented within equity. 
 
Losses allocated to minority interest do not exceed the minority interest in the equity of the subsidiary unless there is a 
binding obligation of the minority to fund the losses. All such losses are allocated to the Group. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Subsidiaries (continued) 
 
Step-up acquisition 
 
For business combination involving exchange transaction in stages by successive phase purchases, each exchange 
transaction is treated separately by the Bank, using the cost of the transaction and fair value information at the date of each 
exchange transaction, to determine the amount of any goodwill associated with that transaction. This results in a step-by-
step comparison of the cost of the individual investments with the Bank’s interest in the fair values of the acquiree’s 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at each step.   
 
Increases in ownership interests in subsidiaries 
 
The differences between the carrying values of net assets attributable to interests in subsidiaries acquired and the 
consideration given for such increases at the date of increase in ownership interests are charged or credited to retained 
earnings. 
 
Investments in associates 
 
Associates are entities in which the Group generally has between 20% and 50% of the voting rights, or is otherwise able to 
exercise significant influence, but which it does not control or jointly control. Investments in associates are accounted for 
under the equity method and are initially recognised at cost, including goodwill. Subsequent changes in the carrying value 
reflect the post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate. The Group’s share of its associates’ 
profits or losses is recognised in the consolidated income statement, and its share of movements in reserves is recognised 
in equity. However, when the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the 
Group does not recognise further losses, unless the Group is obliged to make further payments to, or on behalf of, the 
associate. 
 
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest 
in the associates; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the 
asset transferred.  
 
Financial assets 
 
Initial recognition 
 
Financial assets in the scope of IAS 39 are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. When financial assets are 
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, 
directly attributable transaction costs. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets upon initial 
recognition. 
 
Date of recognition 
 
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that the Group commits 
to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of 
assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.  
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 
Financial assets classified as held for trading are included in the category ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss’. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. 
Derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated and effective hedging instruments. Gains or 
losses on financial assets held for trading are recognised in the consolidated income statement. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  
 
Financial assets (continued) 
 
Held-to-maturity investments 
 
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held-to-maturity 
when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold them to maturity. Investments intended to be held for an 
undefined period are not included in this classification. Held-to-maturity investments are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. Amortised cost is computed as the amount initially recognised minus principal repayments, plus or minus 
the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between the initially recognised amount 
and the maturity amount. This calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums and discounts. For investments carried 
at amortised cost, gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement when the investments are impaired, 
as well as through the amortisation process. 
 
Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. They are not entered into with the intention of immediate or short-term resale and are not classified as 
trading securities or designated as investment securities available-for-sale. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of income when the loans and 
receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not 
classified in any of the three preceding categories. After initial recognition available-for sale financial assets are measured at 
fair value with unrealized gains or losses being recognised as a separate component of equity until the investment is 
derecognised or until the investment is determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously 
reported in equity is included in the consolidated income statement. However, interest calculated using the effective 
interest method is recognised in the consolidated income statement. 
 
Determination of fair value 
 
The fair value of financial instruments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by reference to 
quoted market bid prices for long positions and ask price for short positions at the close of business on the balance sheet 
date, without any deduction for transaction costs. For all other financial instruments where there is no active market, fair 
value is determined using valuation techniques. Valuation techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions,  
which are determined not to be a result of a forced transaction, involuntary liquidation or distress sale, reference to the 
current market value of similar instrument, discounted cash flow analysis and other relevant valuation models. 
 
Offsetting 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated balance sheet when there is a 
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, amounts due from the National Bank of Georgia (“NBG”) and the 
National Bank of Ukraine (“NBU”), excluding obligatory reserves, and amounts due from credit institutions that mature 
within ninety days of the date of origination and are free from contractual encumbrances. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  
 
Derivative financial instruments  
 
In the normal course of business, the Group enters into various derivative financial instruments including forwards and 
swaps in the foreign exchange and capital markets. Such financial instruments are held for trading and are initially 
recognised in accordance with the policy for initial recognition of financial instruments and are subsequently measured at 
fair value. The fair values are estimated based on quoted market prices or pricing models that take into account the current 
market and contractual prices of the underlying instruments and other factors. Derivatives are carried as assets when their 
fair value is positive and as liabilities when it is negative. Gains and losses resulting from these instruments are included in 
the consolidated income statement as gains less losses from trading securities or gains less losses from foreign currencies 
dealing, depending on the nature of the instrument. 
 
Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are treated as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their 
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contracts, and the host contract is not itself 
held for trading or designated at fair value through profit and loss. The embedded derivatives separated from the host are 
carried at fair value on the trading portfolio with changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated income statement. 
 
Promissory notes 
 
Promissory notes purchased are included in trading securities, or in amounts due from credit institutions or in loans to 
customers or in available-for-sale securities, depending on their substance and are accounted for in accordance with the 
accounting policies for these categories of assets. 
 
Borrowings  
 
Issued financial instruments or their components are classified as liabilities, where the substance of the contractual 
arrangement results in the group having an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to 
satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of each or another financial asset for a fixed number of 
own equity instruments. Such instruments include amounts due to NBG, amounts due to credit institutions, amounts due 
to customers and debt securities issued. There are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less 
directly attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement when the 
borrowings are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process. 
 
Leases 
 

i. Finance - Group as lessor 
The Group recognizes finance lease receivables in the consolidated balance sheet at value equal to the net investment in 
lease, starting from the date of commencement of the lease term. In calculating the present value of the minimum lease 
payments the discount factor used is the interest rate implicit in the lease. Initial direct costs are included in the initial 
measurement of the finance lease receivables. Lease payments received are apportioned between the finance income and 
the reduction of the outstanding lease receivable. Finance income is based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate 
of return on the net investment outstanding.  
  
ii. Operating - Group as lessee  

Leases of assets under which the risks and rewards of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are classified as 
operating leases. Lease payments under an operating lease are recognized as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term and included into other administrative and operating expenses.  
 
iii. Operating - Group as lessor  
The Group presents assets subject to operating leases in the consolidated balance sheet according to the nature of the 
asset. Lease income from operating leases is recognized in the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term as other income. The aggregate cost of incentives provided to lessees is recognized as a reduction of rental 
income over the lease term on a straight-line basis. Initial direct costs incurred specifically to earn revenues from an 
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  
 
Impairment of financial assets 
 
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired.  
 
A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment 
as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss 
event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can 
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing 
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the 
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 
 
Amounts due from credit institutions and loans to customers 
 
For amounts due from credit institutions and loans to customers carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses 
individually whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually 
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective 
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in 
a group of financial assets with similar credit risks characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that 
are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not 
included in a collective assessment of impairment.  

 
If there is an objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future 
expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an 
allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement. Interest income 
continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount based on the original effective interest rate of the asset. Loans 
together with the associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all 
collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Group. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated 
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a future write-off is later 
recovered, the recovery is credited to the consolidated income statement. 
 
The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. If a loan 
has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate. The 
calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects the cash flows that may 
result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable. 

 
For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of the Group’s internal 
credit grading system that considers credit risk characteristics such as asset type, industry, geographical location, collateral 
type, past-due status and other relevant factors. 

 
Future cash flows on a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of 
historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group. Historical loss experience is 
adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the years on which 
the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently. 
Estimates of changes in future cash flows reflect, and are directionally consistent with, changes in related observable data from 
year to year (such as changes in unemployment rates, property prices, commodity prices, payment status, or other factors that are 
indicative of incurred losses in the group or their magnitude). The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash 
flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. 
 
Held-to-maturity financial investments 

 
For held-to-maturity investments the Group assesses individually whether there is objective evidence of impairment. If 
there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows. The carrying amount of the asset 
is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement. 

 
If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases because of an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised, any amounts formerly charged are credited to the consolidated income statement. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  
 
Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment 
and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in the consolidated statement on 
income, is transferred from equity to the consolidated income statement. Reversals in respect of equity instruments classified 
as available-for-sale are not recognised in the consolidated income statement. Reversals of impairment losses on debt 
instruments are reversed through the consolidated income statement if the increase in fair value of the instrument can be 
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss were recognised in profit or loss.  
 
Renegotiated loans 

 
Where possible, the Group seeks to restructure loans rather than to take possession of collateral. This may involve 
extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions. Once the terms have been renegotiated, 
the loan is no longer considered past due. Management continuously reviews renegotiated loans to ensure that all criteria 
are met and that future payments are likely to occur. The loans continue to be subject to an individual or collective 
impairment assessment, calculated using the loan’s original effective interest rate. 
 
De-recognition of financial assets and liabilities 
 
Financial assets 
 
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognised where: 
 

 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 
 the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset, or retained the right to receive cash flows 

from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a 
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and 

 the Group either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

 
Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent 
of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the 
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration that the Group could be required to repay. 
 
Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option (including a cash-settled option or 
similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is the amount of the 
transferred asset that the Group may repurchase, except that in the case of a written put option (including a cash-settled 
option or similar provision) on an asset measured at fair value, the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is limited 
to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise price. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
 
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the 
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of 
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognised in the consolidated income statement. 
 
Financial guarantees 

 
In the ordinary course of business, the Group gives financial guarantees, consisting of letters of credit, guarantees and 
acceptances. Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the consolidated financial statements at fair value, in ‘Other 
liabilities’, being the premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group’s liability under each guarantee is 
measured at the higher of the amortised premium and the best estimate of expenditure required to settle any financial 
obligation arising as a result of the guarantee. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  
 
Financial guarantees (continued) 
 
Any increase in the liability relating to financial guarantees is taken to the consolidated income statement. The premium 
received is recognised in the consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee. 
 
Taxation 
 
The current income tax expense is calculated in accordance with the regulations in force in the respective territories that 
the Bank and its Subsidiaries operate. 
  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated in respect of temporary differences using the liability method. Deferred 
income taxes are provided for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying values for financial reporting purposes, except where the deferred income tax arises from the initial recognition of 
goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recorded only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at tax rates that are 
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.  
 
Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint 
ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
Georgia and Ukraine also have various operating taxes that are assessed on the Group’s activities. These taxes are included 
as a component of other operating expenses.  
 
Investment property 
 
The Bank holds certain properties as investments to earn rental income, generate capital appreciation or both. Investment 
property is measured initially at cost, including subsequent costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is 
stated to fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair values of investment property are included in the 
consolidated income statement as “Net gains from revaluation of investment property”. 
 
Property and equipment 
 
Property and equipment, except for buildings, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment in value. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of equipment when that cost is incurred if the 
recognition criteria are met. Buildings are measured at fair value less depreciation and impairment charged subsequent to 
the date of the revaluation. 
 
The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.  
 
Following initial recognition at cost, buildings are carried at a revalued amount, which is the fair value at the date of the 
revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Valuations are 
performed frequently enough to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying 
amount. 
 
Any revaluation surplus is credited to the revaluation reserve for property and equipment included in equity, except to the 
extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in the consolidated income statement, 
in which case the increase is recognised in the consolidated statement of income. A revaluation deficit is recognised in the 
consolidated income statement, except that a deficit directly offsetting a previous surplus on the same asset is directly 
offset against the surplus in the revaluation reserve for property and equipment. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  
 
Property and equipment (continued) 
 
An annual transfer from the revaluation reserve for property and equipment to retained earnings is made for the difference 
between depreciation based on the devalued carrying amount of the assets and depreciation based on the assets original 
cost. Additionally, accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of 
the asset and the net amount is restated to the devalued amount of the asset. Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve 
relating to the particular asset being sold is transferred to retained earnings. 
 
Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the 
following estimated useful lives: 
 

 Years 
Buildings 50 
Furniture and fixtures  10 
Computers and office equipment 5 
Motor vehicles 5 

 
The asset’s residual values, useful lives and methods are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each financial year-end. 
 
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the life of the related leased asset. The assets residual values, useful lives and 
methods are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each financial year-end. 
 
Costs related to repairs and renewals are charged when incurred and included in other operating expenses, unless they 
qualify for capitalization. 
 
Goodwill 
 
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business 
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of 
the acquired subsidiary or associate at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on an acquisition of a subsidiary is included in 
intangible assets. Goodwill on an acquisition of an associate is included in the investments in associates. Following initial 
recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may be impaired. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, 
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that 
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the 
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is so allocated: 
 
 represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes; 

and 
 is not larger than a segment based on either the Group’s primary or the Group’s secondary reporting format 

determined in accordance with IAS 14 “Segment Reporting”. 
 

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating 
units), to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating 
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating 
unit (group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with 
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on 
disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the 
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  
 

Other intangible assets  
 

The Group’s other intangible assets include computer software. Computer software is recognized at cost and amortized 
using the straight-line method over its useful life, but not exceeding a period of ten years.  
 
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a 
business combination is fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost 
less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be 
either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic lives of 
4 to 10 years and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. Amortisation 
periods and methods for intangible assets with finite useful lives are reviewed at least at each financial year-end.  
 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but tested for impairment annually either individually or at 
the cash-generating unit level. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine 
whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable.  
 
Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recorded as an expense as incurred. Software 
development costs (relating to the design and testing of new or substantially improved software) are recognised as 
intangible assets only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the software so that it will be 
available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future 
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the 
development. Other software development costs are recognised as an expense as incurred. 
 
Provisions 
 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, and it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate of the amount of obligation can be made. 
 
Insurance liabilities 
 

General insurance liabilities 
 

General contract liabilities are based on the estimated ultimate cost of all claims incurred but not settled at the balance 
sheet date, whether reported or not, together with related claims handling costs and reduction for the expected value of 
salvage and other recoveries. Significant delays can be experienced in the notification and settlement of certain type of 
general insurance claims, particularly in respect of liability business, environmental and pollution exposures - therefore the 
ultimate cost of which cannot be known with certainty at the balance sheet date.  
 
Provision for unearned premiums 
 

The proportion of written premiums, gross of commission payable to intermediaries, attributable to subsequent periods is 
deferred as unearned premium.  The change in the provision for unearned premium is taken to the consolidated income 
statement in order that revenue is recognized over the period of risk or, for annuities, the amount of expected future 
benefit payments.  
 
Liability adequacy test 
 

At each balance sheet date, a liability adequacy test is performed, to ensure the adequacy of unearned premiums net of 
related deferred acquisition costs. In performing the test, current best estimates of future contractual cash flows, claims 
handling and policy administration expenses, as well as investment income from assets backing such liabilities, are used. 
Any inadequacy is immediately charged to the consolidated income statement by establishing an unexpired risk provision.  
 
Retirement and other employee benefit obligations 
 
The Group provides management and employees of the Group, with private pension plans. These are defined contribution 
pension plans covering substantially all full-time employees of the Group. The Group collects contributions from its 
employees. When an employee reaches the pension age, aggregated contributions, plus any earnings earned on the 
employee’s behalf are paid to the employee according to the schedule agreed with the employee. Aggregated amounts are 
distributed during the period when the employee will receive accumulated contributions.  
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  
 
Share-based payment transactions 
 
Employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive share-based remuneration, whereby employees render 
services as consideration for the equity instruments (‘equity settled transactions’). 
 
Equity-settled transactions  
 
The cost of equity settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which they 
are granted.  
 
The cost of equity settled transactions is recognized together with the corresponding increase in equity, over the period in 
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date when the relevant employee is fully 
entitled to the award (‘the vesting date’). The cumulative expense recognized for equity settled transactions at each 
reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best 
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The consolidated income statement charge or credit 
for the period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognized as at the beginning and end of that period. 
 
No expense is recognized for the awards that do not ultimately vest except for the awards where vesting is conditional 
upon market conditions (a condition linked to the price of the Bank’s shares) which are treated as vesting irrespective 
whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.  
 
Where the terms of an equity settled award are modified, the minimum expense is recognized as if the terms had not been 
modified. An additional expense is recognized for any modification which increases the total fair value of the share based 
payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of the modification.  
 
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it has vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not 
yet recognized for the award is recognized immediately. However if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and 
designated as the replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and the new awards are treated as if they 
were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph. 
 
Share capital 
 

Share capital 
 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. External costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares, other than on a 
business combination, are shown as a deduction from the proceeds in equity. Any excess of the fair value of consideration 
received over the par value of shares issued is recognised as additional paid-in capital. 
 
Treasury shares 
 

Where the Bank or its subsidiaries purchases the Bank’s shares, the consideration paid, including any attributable 
transaction costs, net of income taxes, is deducted from total equity as treasury shares until they are cancelled or reissued. 
Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received is included in equity. Treasury shares are 
stated at par value, with adjustment of premiums against share premium. 
 
Dividends  
 

Dividends are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity at the balance sheet date only if they are declared before 
or on the balance sheet date. Dividends are disclosed when they are proposed before the balance sheet date or proposed or 
declared after the balance sheet date but before the consolidated financial statements are authorised for issue.  
 
Segment reporting 
 
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in providing products or services (business 
segments) or in providing products or services within particular economic environment (geographic segment), which is 
subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.  The Group determines that the primary and 
secondary segments are business and geographical, respectively. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  
 
Contingencies 
 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated balance sheet but are disclosed unless the possibility of any 
outflow in settlement is remote. A contingent asset is not recognised in the consolidated balance sheet but disclosed when 
an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 
 
Income and expense recognition   
 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue 
can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised: 

 
Interest and similar income and expense 

 

For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost and interest bearing securities classified as trading or available-for-
sale, interest income or expense is recorded at the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where 
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. The calculation takes into account all 
contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) and includes any fees or incremental costs 
that are directly attributable to the instrument and are an integral part of the effective interest rate, but not future credit 
losses. The carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability is adjusted if the Group revises its estimates of 
payments or receipts. The adjusted carrying amount is calculated based on the original effective interest rate and the 
change in carrying amount is recorded as interest income or expense. 

 
Once the recorded value of a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been reduced due to an impairment 
loss, interest income continues to be recognised using the original effective interest rate applied to the new carrying 
amount. 

 
Fee and commission income 

 

The Group earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its customers. Fee income can 
be divided into the following two categories: 

 
- Fee income earned from services that are provided over a certain period of time 

 

Fees earned for the provision of services over a period of time are accrued over that period. These fees include 
commission incomes and asset management, custody and other management and advisory fees. Loan commitment fees for 
loans that are likely to be drawn down and other credit related fees are deferred (together with any incremental costs) and 
recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan. 
 

- Fee income from providing transaction services 
 

Fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party – such as the arrangement 
of the acquisition of shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses – are recognised on completion of the 
underlying transaction. Fees or components of fees that are linked to a certain performance are recognised after fulfilling 
the corresponding criteria. 

 
Dividend income 

 
Revenue is recognised when the Bank’s right to receive the payment is established. 
 
Premium income 
 

For non-life insurance business, premiums written are recognized at policy inception and earned on a pro rata basis over 
the term of the related policy coverage. Estimates of premiums written as at the balance sheet date but not yet received, are 
assessed based on estimates from underwriting or past experience and are included in premiums earned.  
  
Claims  
 

General insurance claims incurred include all claim losses occurring during the year, whether reported or not, including the 
related handling costs and reduction for the value of salvage and other recoveries and any adjustments to claims 
outstanding from previous years. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  
 

Income and expense recognition (continued) 
 
Claims handling costs include internal and external costs incurred in connection with the negotiation and settlement of 
claims. Internal costs include direct expenses of the claims department and any part of the general administrative costs 
directly attributable to the claims function.  
 
Functional and reporting currencies and foreign currency translation 
 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Georgian Lari, which is the Bank’s presentation currency. The 
Bank’s functional currency is US Dollar effective 1 January 2007. Prior to 1 January 2007, Georgian Lari was its functional 
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements 
of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the 
functional currency, converted at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated into functional currency at functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the 
balance sheet date. Gains and losses resulting from the translation of foreign currency transactions are recognised in the 
consolidated income statement as gains less losses from foreign currencies - translation differences. Non-monetary items 
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of 
the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 
 
Differences between the contractual exchange rate of a certain transaction and the NBG exchange rate on the date of the 
transaction are included in gains less losses from foreign currencies (dealing). The official NBG exchange rates at  
31 December 2007 and 2006 were 1.5916 and 1.714 Lari to USD 1 and 2.3315 and 2.256 Lari to EUR 1, respectively. 
 
As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of the entities whose functional currency is different from the 
presentation currency of the Group are translated into Georgian Lari at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet 
date and, their income statements are translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The exchange 
differences arising on the translation are taken directly to a separate component of equity. On disposal of a subsidiary or an 
associate whose functional currency is different from the presentation currency of the Group, the deferred cumulative 
amount recognised in equity relating to that particular entity is recognised in the consolidated income statement. 
 
Change in functional currency 
 
Prior to 1 January 2007, the Bank determined that the Georgian Lari (“GEL”) was its functional currency as it was the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the Bank operated.  
 
In 2007 however, the Bank performed a re-assessment of its functional currency in relation to International Accounting 
Standard 21 - “Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates” (IAS 21) due to the following: 
 

 The USD share of the Bank’s assets and liabilities was constantly increasing; 
 Pricing of the loans is primary based on the cost of funds which are sourced primarily from USD denominated 

offshore banking borrowings and deposits; at the same time GDRs of the Bank, floated on the London Stock 
Exchange, are priced and traded in USD. 

 After the Bank listed its shares in the form of Global Depositary Rights on  the London Stock Exchange in 
November 2006, communication, planning and execution of business activities of the Bank with shareholders are 
generally 

 
As a result, the Bank has changed its functional currency from GEL to USD starting 1 January 2007.  
 
In accordance with IAS 21 - “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates”, the change in the functional currency 
was accounted for prospectively from 1 January 2007. In these consolidated financial statements assets and liabilities in the 
comparative balance sheet as at 31 December 2006, were translated to the USD using the exchange rate as at 31 December 
2006, equal to GEL 1.714/USD 1. The consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2007 was 
translated to GEL using the average exchange rate for 2007, of GEL 1.692/USD 1, and the consolidated balance sheet as 
at 31 December 2007 were translated to the USD using the exchange rate as at 31 December 2007 of GEL 1.5916/USD 1. 
Any differences arising from translation is included in a separate component of equity. Upon the change in the functional 
currency all equity components were retranslated at the exchange rate as at 1 January 2007. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Changes in accounting policies 
 
The Group followed the same accounting policies with those applied in the consolidated financial statements as at  
31 December 2007 and for the year then ended, except as disclosed below: 
 
Investment property 
 
Effective 1 January 2007, the Group started to present investment property using fair value model. Adoption of this 
change in accounting policy did not have any significant effect on the 2006 consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
 
Segment reporting 
 
In 2007 the Group has revisited its segment policy relating to the allocation of assets and liabilities to the business 
segments and have accordingly revised the 2006 segment reporting to be consistent with the basis of allocation in 2007 
segment reporting. 
 
Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations 
 
The Group has adopted the following new and amended IFRSs and IFRIC Interpretations during the year. Adoption of 
these Standards and Interpretations did not have any effect on the financial performance or position of the Group. They 
did however give rise to additional disclosures. 
 
IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ and amendment to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements – Capital Disclosures’  
 
IFRS 7 requires additional disclosure of qualitative and quantitative information regarding exposure to risks arising from 
financial instruments. In particular, it specifies minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. IFRS 7 
replaces IAS 30 ‘Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial Institutions’ and the disclosure 
requirements in IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation’. 
 
The amendment to IAS 1 introduces disclosures relating to the level of an entity’s capital and how it is managed. 
 
The new disclosures are included throughout the consolidated financial statements.  
 
IFRIC 8 ‘Scope of IFRS 2’  
 
IFRIC 8 clarifies that IFRS 2 ‘Share-Based Payments’ applies to any arrangement by which equity securities are granted or 
liabilities (based on the value of an entity’s equity securities) are incurred and the identifiable consideration appears to be 
less than the fair value of the equity securities granted or the liabilities incurred. The adoption of IFRIC 8 did not have any 
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
 
IFRIC 9 ‘Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives’  
 
IFRIC 9 requires an entity to assess upon entering into a contract, whether this contains an embedded derivative and 
prohibits reassessment unless there is a change to the contract terms as a result of which there are significant changes in 
the cash flows. The adoption of IFRIC 9 did not have any impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.  

 
IFRIC 10 ‘Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment’  
 
IFRIC 10 provides that, should any impairment losses be recognized in the interim financial statements in relation to 
goodwill, available-for-sale investments in equity securities or unquoted equity securities carried at cost, these impairment 
losses may not be reversed in subsequent interim periods or when preparing the annual financial statements. The adoption 
of IFRIC 10 did not have any impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.  
 
Standards and interpretations that are issued but not yet effective 
 
Up to the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements, certain new standards, interpretations and 
amendments to existing standards have been published that are not yet effective for the current reporting period and which 
the Group has not early adopted, as follows:  
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Standards and interpretations that are issued but not yet effective (continued) 

 
IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009) 
 
IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14 ‘Segment Reporting’ and adopts a management-based approach to segment reporting. The 
information reported would be that which management uses internally for evaluating the performance of operating 
segments and allocating resources to those segments. This information may be different from that reported in the balance 
sheet and income statement and entities will need to provide explanations and reconciliations of the differences. The group 
will make the necessary changes to the presentation of its operating segments once it assesses the impact of this Standard 
on their consolidated financial statements. 
 
IFRIC 11, IFRS 2 ‘Group and Treasury Share Transactions’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 March 2007) 
 
IFRIC 11 requires arrangements whereby an employee is granted options to buy equity shares, to be accounted for as 
equity-settled schemes by an entity even if the entity chooses or is required to buy those equity shares from another party, 
or the shareholders of the entity provide the equity instruments granted. The interpretation also extends to the way in 
which subsidiaries, in their separate financial statements, account for such schemes when their employees receive rights to 
equity instruments of the parent. 
 
Amendment to IAS 23 ‘Borrowing Costs’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009) 
  
The option in the current standard to expense borrowing costs to the income statement in case of a qualifying asset has 
been eliminated. All borrowing costs must be capitalised if they are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction 
of a qualifying asset. A qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its 
intended use or sale. In accordance with the transitional requirements of the standard, the Group will adopt this as a 
prospective change. Accordingly, borrowing costs will be capitalised on qualifying assets with a commencement date after 
1 January 2009. No changes will be made for borrowing costs incurred to this date that have been expensed.  
 
IFRIC 12 ‘Service Concession Arrangements’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008)  
 
IFRIC 12 outlines an approach to account for contractual arrangements arising from entities providing public services. It 
provides that the operator should not account for the infrastructure as property, plant and equipment, but recognise a 
financial asset and/or an intangible asset. IFRIC 12 is not relevant to the Group.  
 
IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008)  
 
IFRIC 13 requires customer loyalty award credits to be accounted for as a separate component of the sales transaction in 
which they are granted and therefore part of the fair value of the consideration received is allocated to the award credits 
and deferred over the period that the award credits are fulfilled. The Group expects that this Interpretation will not have a 
material impact on their consolidated financial statements at the date of adoption.  
 
IFRIC 14 ‘IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction’ (effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008)  
 
IFRIC 14 provides guidance on how to assess the limit on the amount of surplus in a defined benefit scheme that can be 
recognised as an asset under IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’. It also explains how this limit, also referred to as the ‘asset ceil ing 
test’, may be influenced by a minimum funding requirement and aims to standardise current practice. The Group expects 
that this amendment will have no impact on their consolidated financial statements.  
 
Further Amendment to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009)  
 
IAS 1 has been revised to enhance the usefulness of information presented in the financial statements. The main revisions 
are the introduction of a new statement of comprehensive income that combines all items of income and expense 
recognised in profit or loss together with ’other comprehensive income‘ and the requirement to present restatements of 
financial statements or retrospective application of a new accounting policy as at the beginning of the earliest comparative 
period, i.e. a third column on the balance sheet. The Group will make the necessary changes to the presentation of its 
consolidated financial statements in 2009.  
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Standards and interpretations that are issued but not yet effective (continued) 

 
Amendment to IFRS 2 ‘Share Based Payment – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2009)  
 
The Amendment clarifies two issues. The definition of ‘vesting condition’, introducing the term ‘non-vesting condition’ for 
conditions other than vesting conditions. It also clarifies that the same accounting treatment applies to awards that are 
effectively cancelled by either the entity or a counterparty. The Group will assess the impact of this amendment on their 
consolidated financial statements at the date of adoption.  
 
Revisions to IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ and Amendment to IAS 27 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’ (effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009)  
 
Main changes to the existing standards refer to: (a) addition of an option to measure minority interests (now called ‘non-
controlling interests’) at fair value; (b) recognition of goodwill for step acquisitions; (c) recognition of acquisition-related 
costs; (d) recognition of contingent consideration; (e) transactions with non-controlling interests which do not result in loss 
of control; (f) allocation of subsidiary’s losses between controlling and non-controlling interests; (g) re-measurement of 
retained interest on loss of control of a subsidiary. The Group will assess the impact of the revision on their consolidated 
financial statements at the date of adoption. 
 
Amendments to IAS 32 and IAS 1 Puttable Financial Instruments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009) 
 
The amendment to IAS 32 requires certain puttable financial instruments and obligations arising on liquidation to be 
classified as equity if certain criteria are met. The amendment to IAS 1 requires disclosure of certain information relating to 
puttable instruments classified as equity.  
 
 

4. Significant Accounting Estimates  
 
Estimation uncertainty 
 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the Group to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
reported amounts. These estimates are based on information available as of the date of the consolidated financial 
statements. Actual results, therefore, could differ from these estimates. The most significant estimates are discussed below:  
 
Allowance for impairment of loans and receivables 
 
The Group regularly reviews its loans and receivables to assess impairment. The Group uses its judgment to estimate the 
amount of any impairment loss in cases where a borrower is in financial difficulties and there are few available sources of 
historical data relating to similar borrowers. Similarly, the Group estimates changes in future cash flows based on the 
observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a group, or national 
or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the group. Management uses estimates based on 
historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in 
the group of loans and receivables. The Group uses its judgment to adjust observable data for a group of loans or 
receivables to reflect current circumstances. 
 
Contingent liabilities 
 
The Group is subject to the possibility of various loss contingencies arising in the ordinary course of business. The Group 
considers the likelihood of the loss or the incurrence of a liability as well as its ability to reasonably estimate the amount of loss 
in determining loss contingencies. An estimated loss contingency is accrued when it is probable that a liability has been incurred 
and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated.  The  Group  regularly  evaluates  current information  available  to  
determine  whether  such  accruals  are required. As of 31 December 2007, the Group did not record any contingent liabilities.  
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4. Significant Accounting Estimates (continued) 
 
Estimation uncertainty (continued) 
 
Impairment of goodwill 
 
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in 
use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make 
an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in 
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 December 2007 was 
GEL 110,072 (2006: 40,279). More details are provided in Note 5. 
 
Impairment of long-lived assets 
 
Long-lived assets consist primarily of real estate investments, property, investments in associates, goodwill and intangible 
assets. The Group evaluates the long-lived assets for impairment annually or when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate, in management’s judgment, that the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable.  
 
Impairment of investments  
 
The Group holds investments in several companies, including those that do not trade in an active market. Future adverse 
changes in market conditions or poor operating results could result in losses that may not be reflected in an investment’s 
current carrying value, thereby requiring an impairment charge in the future. The Group regularly reviews its investments 
to determine if there have been any indicators that the value may be impaired. These reviews require estimating the 
outcome of future events and determining whether factors exist that indicate impairment has occurred.  
 
 

5. Business Combinations 
 
JSC Galt and Taggart Bank  
 
On 30 May 2007 the Group acquired 100% of JSC Galt and Taggart Bank (former JSC Cascade Bank), a banking institution 
operating in Georgia. The fair values of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of JSC Cascade Bank as of the 
date of acquisition were provisionally estimated at:  
 

 Fair value 
recognized on 

acquisition 
Carrying  

value 
   
Cash and cash equivalents 2,557 2,557 
Due from credit institutions 256 256 
Investment securities available-for-sale 6,565 6,565 
Investments in associates 64 64 
Loans to customers 1,786 1,786 
Property and equipment  121 121 
Intangible assets  41 41 
Prepayments and accrued interest receivables 1,458 1,458 
Deferred tax assets 524 524 
 13,372 13,372 
   Amounts owed to credit institutions 9 9 
Amounts owed to customers 2,085 2,085 
Other liabilities 1,039 1,035 
 3,133 3,129 
Fair value of net assets 10,239 10,243 
   
Goodwill arising on acquisition   599  
Consideration paid  10,838  
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5. Business Combinations (continued) 
 
JSC Galt and Taggart Bank (continued) 
 
The net cash outflow on acquisition was as follows:  
 

 2007 
Cash paid  10,838 
Cash acquired with the subsidiary  (2,557) 
Net cash outflow 8,281 

 
If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, the net income of the Group would have been  
GEL 75,768 and the total revenue would have been GEL 363,823.  
 
The primary factor that contributed to the cost of business combination that resulted in the recognition of goodwill was 
the positive synergy brought into the Group’s operations. 
 
JSC Universal Bank of Development and Partnership 
 
On 1 January 2007 the Group acquired 9.92% of JSC Universal Bank of Development and Partnership, a banking institution 
located in the Ukraine. On 1 October 2007 the Group acquired up to 98.76% of the JSC Universal Bank of Development and 
Partnership.  
 
The fair values of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of JSC Universal Bank of Development and 
Partnership as of 1 January 2007 and 1 October 2007 were provisionally estimated at:  
 
 

 1 January 2007 1 October 2007 
 Fair value 

recognized on 
acquisition 

Carrying  
value 

Fair value 
recognized on 

acquisition 
Carrying  

value 
     
Cash and cash equivalents 53,090 53,090 134,584 134,584 
Due from credit institutions 61 61 5,649 5,649 
Loans to customers 215,062 215,062 198,201 198,201 
Investment securities available-for-sale 8,356 8,356 18,013 18,013 
Property and equipment  4,872 4,872 7,399 7,399 
Intangible assets 618 618 700 700 
Other assets 258 258 503 503 
 282,317 282,317 365,049 365,049 
     Amounts owed to credit institutions 22,073 22,073 21,288 21,288 
Amounts owed to customers 188,774 188,774 252,341 252,341 
Debt securities issued 7,463 7,463 12,965 12,965 
Deferred income tax liabilities 4,299 4,299 6,664 6,664 
Other liabilities 446 446 2,581 2,581 
 223,055 223,055 295,839 295,839 
Fair value of net assets 59,262 59,262 69,210 69,210 
     
Share of net assets acquired 9.922%  88.844%  
Fair value of net assets acquired 5,880  61,489  

 

Total fair value of net assets acquired 67,369 
Recognized Core Deposit Intangible  1,688 
Goodwill arising on acquisition   68,016 
Consideration paid  137,073 
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5. Business Combinations (continued) 
 
JSC Universal Bank of Development and Partnership (continued) 
 
The net cash outflow on acquisition was as follows:  
 

 2007 
Cash paid  137,073 
Cash acquired with the subsidiary  134,584 
Net cash outflow 2,489 

 
If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, the net income of the Group would have been GEL 
80,344 and the total revenue would have been GEL 414,832. 
 
The primary factor that contributed to the cost of business combination that resulted in the recognition of goodwill was 
the positive synergy brought into the Group’s operations. 
 
JSC Nova Technology 
 
On 23 November 2007 the Group acquired 51% Nova Technology LLC, an electronic payment service provider operating 
in Georgia. The fair value of identifiable assets of the company as of the date of acquisition were provisionally estimated at 
GEL 2,771, while liabilities at GEL 691. The provisional goodwill on acquisition amounted to GEL 411 and net cash 
outflow from acquisition amounted to GEL 1,486.  
 
Acquisitions in 2006  
 
The fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of major business combinations that occurred 
during 2006 (i.e. JSC Intellect Bank, JSC Insurance Company Aldagi, Intertour LLC, Register Center LLC and Georgian-
American Medical Rehabilitation Center Nautilus LLC) in aggregate as of the date of acquisition were provisionally 
estimated at:  

 Recognized on 
acquisition 

Carrying  
value 

   
Cash and cash equivalents 12,182 12,182 
Due from credit institutions 3,246 3,246 
Deposits with banks 117 117 
Investment securities– available-for-sale 92 92 
Investments in associates 199 1,238 
Loans to customers 8,644 8,644 
Other debtors and receivables 2,614 2,614 
Property and equipment 7,206 6,113 
Intangible assets 256 1,103 
Reinsurance assets 7,990 7,990 
Other assets 3,352 2,297 
 45,898 45,636 
   Amounts owed to credit institutions 8,175 8,175 
Amounts owed to customers 37,419 37,419 
Amounts owned to reinsurers 2,734 2,734 
Unearned premiums reserve  4,558 4,588 
Claims reserves 5,491 5,491 
Borrowings 3,783 3,783 
Accounts payable 768 768 
Advances received 590 590 
Other liabilities 3,232 3,332 
 66,750 66,880 
Fair value of net assets (20,852) (21,244) 
    
Goodwill arising on acquisition 34,975 – 
Consideration paid 14,123 – 
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5. Business Combinations (continued) 
 
The total net cash inflow on all acquisitions was as follows:  
 

 2006 
Cash paid  11,923 
Cash acquired with the subsidiary  (12,182) 
Net cash inflow (259) 

 
If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the period, the profit (loss) of the group would have been GEL 
4,149 and the total revenue would have been GEL 120,247.  
 
 

6. Segment Information  
 
The primary segment is determined to be business segment as the Group’s risks and rates of return are affected predominantly 
by differences in the products and services produced. Secondary segment information is reported geographically. The 
operating businesses are organised and managed separately according to the nature of the products and services provided, with 
each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers different products and serves different markets. 
 
For management purposes, the Group is organised into seven business segments: 
 
Retail Banking Principally handling individual customers’ deposits, and providing consumer 

loans, overdrafts, credit card facilities and funds transfer facilities. 
 

Corporate and Investment Banking  Principally handling loans and other credit facilities and deposit and current 
accounts for corporate and institutional customers.  

 

Brokerage Principally providing brokerage, custody and corporate finance services to its 
individual as well as corporate customers. Brokerage also possess its own 
proprietary book for trading as well as for non-trading purposes, comprising 
primarily of trading and investment securities.  

 

Wealth Management Principally providing wealth management services to VIP individual 
customers.  

 

Asset Management Principally providing asset management services to VIP corporate customers.  
 

Insurance Principally providing wide-scale insurance services to corporate and individual 
customers. 

 

Corporate Centre Principally providing back office services to all business segments of the Bank  
 

 
For purposes of presentation in these consolidated financial statements, due to the insignificance of certain segments to be 
separately shown as of 31 December 2007 and to be consistent with the 2006 presentation of the business segments, 
Management has combined brokerage and asset and wealth management business segments into one. Therefore, segment 
information presented in these consolidated financial statements is classified as follows:  
 
Retail Banking       Brokerage, Asset and Wealth Management  
Insurance       Corporate Centre 
Corporate and Investment Banking  
 
The Group’s geographical segments are based on the location of the Group’s assets. Income from external customers 
disclosed by geographical segments is based on the geographical location of its customers.In 2007 Group has revised its 
segment reporting policy in respect of the allocation of assets and liabilities to the business segments and have accordingly 
revised the 2006 segment reporting to be consistent with the basis of allocation in 2007 segment reporting.  
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6. Segment Information (continued)  
 

The following table presents operating income and profit and certain asset and liability information regarding the Group’s 
business segments for the year ended 31 December 2007: 
 

 

Retail 
banking 

Corporate  
and investment 

banking 

Brokerage 
and asset and 

wealth 
management 

Corporate 
center Insurance 

Inter-company 
elimination Total 

Revenue        
External operating income        
Net interest income 71,985  55,783  1,182  190  1,079  – 130,219 
Net fees and commission income 21,628  12,057  7,225  (945) 1,783  – 41,748 
Net dealing gains 1,231  3,799  6,009  15,671  -  – 26,710 
Other external revenues 1,264  1,673  23,157  7,754  12,088  – 45,936 
Operating income from other segments – – 15,184 94 4,228 (19,506) – 
        
Total operating income 96,108 73,312 52,757 22,764 19,178 (19,506) 244,613 
Loan impairment charge/reversal  (12,338) (8,988) (332) (274)  4,523 – (17,409) 
        
Results        
Segment results 35,343  36,819  21,339  (4,209) 6,437  – 95,729 
Unallocated expenses       6,017 
Profit before tax       89,712 
Income tax expense       14,070 
Profit for the year       75,642 
        
Assets and liabilities        
Segment assets 1,530,339 1,240,984 123,172 31,159 26,400 – 2,952,054 
Unallocated assets       1,557 
Total assets       2,953,611 
        
Segment liabilities 1,350,734  858,376  101,359  32,953  14,989  – 2,358,411 
Unallocated liabilities       37,209 
Total liabilities       2,395,620 
        
Other segment information        
Capital expenditures:        
Property, plant and equipment  40,178  28,262  11,412  1,546  – – 81,398 
Intangible assets 43,571  28,443  1,041  712  – – 73,767 
Depreciation 4,464  3,283  747  147  – – 8,641 
Amortization 788  364  50  17  – – 1,219 

 
The following table presents operating income and profit and certain asset and liability information regarding the Group’s 
business segments for the year ended 31 December 2006: 
 

 
Retail 

banking 

Corporate and 
investment 

banking 

Brokerage 
and asset and 

wealth 
management 

Corporate 
center Insurance 

Inter-
company 

elimination Total 
Revenue        
External operating income        
Net interest income 31,585 31,890 906 2,341 – – 66,722 
Net fees and commission income 12,917 7,241 3,015 1,513 – – 24,686 
Net dealing gains (losses) 449 1,726 610 9,277 (120) – 11,942 
Other external revenues 140 289 44 1,518 8,491 – 10,482 
Operating income from other segments 1 923 (178) (70) 228 (904) – 
        Total operating income 45,092 42,069 4,397 14,579 8,599 (904) 113,832 
Loan impairment charge/reversal (4,396) (8,433) (398) (539) – – (13,766) 
        
Results        
Segment results 18,056 28,907 961 (10,746) 279 – 37,457 
Unallocated expenses       2,554 
Profit before tax       34,903 
Income tax expense       8,131 
Profit for the year       26,772 
        Assets and liabilities        
Segment assets 483,065 613,445 60,302 17,324 38,407 – 1,212,543 
Unallocated assets – – – – – – 783 
Total assets – – – – – – 1,213,326 
        Segment liabilities 263,057 455,616 72,444 14,533 24,680 – 830,330 
Unallocated liabilities       8,138 
Total liabilities       838,468 
        Other segment information        
Capital expenditures:        
Property, plant and equipment  19,472 6,490 9,102 – 455  35,519 
Intangible assets 9,924 8,175 970 – 18,124  37,193 
Depreciation 2,925 744 702 – 70  4,441 
Amortization 671 171 161 – 17  1,020 
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6. Segment Information (continued)  

 
Secondary segment information – geographical segment 
 
The Group operates in two main geographical markets: (a) Georgia, and (b) Ukraine and Cyprus. The following table show 
the distribution of the Group’s external income, total assets and capital expenditure by geographical segment, allocated based 
on the location of the Group’s assets, for the year ended 31 December 2007: 
 

 
Georgia 

2007 

Ukraine and 
Cyprus 

2007 
Total 
2007 

External income    
Net interest income 124,976 5,243 130,219 
Net fee and commission income 40,088 1,660 41,748 
Net dealing gains 24,601 2,109 26,710 
Other non-interest income 45,532 404 45,936 

Total external income 235,197 9,416 244,613 
    
Total assets 2,591,752 361,859 2,953,611 

    
Capital expenditures 73,931 81,234 155,165 

 
The following table show the distribution of the Group’s external income, total assets and capital expenditure by geographical 
segment, allocated based on the location of the Group’s assets, for the years ended 31 December 2006: 
 

 
Georgia 

2006 

Ukraine and 
Cyprus 

2006 
Total 
2006 

External income    
Net interest income 66,722 – 66,722 
Net fee and commission income 24,686 – 24,686 
Net dealing gains 11,942 – 11,942 
Other non-interest income 10,482 – 10,482 

Total external income 113,832 – 113,832 
    
Total assets 1,213,326 – 1,213,326 

    
Capital expenditures 72,712 –  72,712 

 
All components of external income under “Ukraine and Cyprus” location primarily and materially account for Ukrainian 
operations.  
 

7. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise: 
 

 2007 2006 
Cash on hand 93,710 39,079 
Current accounts with the NBG and NBU, excluding obligatory reserves 35,497 236 
Current accounts with other credit institutions 20,208 12,994 
Time deposits with credit institutions up to 90 days 256,355 55,736 

Cash and cash equivalents 405,770 108,045 
 
As of 31 December 2007 GEL 207,065 (2006: GEL 61,790) was placed on current and time deposit accounts with 
internationally recognized and OECD banks that are the counterparties of the Group in performing international 
settlements. The Group earned up to 2.70% interest per annum on these deposits (2006: 3.60%). 
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6. Segment Information (continued)  

 
Secondary segment information – geographical segment 
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6. Segment Information (continued)  

 
Secondary segment information – geographical segment 
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Cash on hand 93,710 39,079 
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internationally recognized and OECD banks that are the counterparties of the Group in performing international 
settlements. The Group earned up to 2.70% interest per annum on these deposits (2006: 3.60%). 
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6. Segment Information (continued)  

 
Secondary segment information – geographical segment 
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8. Trading Securities 
 
Trading securities owned are comprised of corporate shares amounting to GEL 6,342 as of 31 December 2007 (2006: nil). 
 
 

9. Amounts Due from Credit Institutions 
 
Amounts due from credit institutions comprise: 
 

 2007 2006 
   Obligatory reserves with the NBG and NBU 144,631 61,461 
Time deposits with effective maturity of more than 90 days 5,838 3,314 
Inter-bank loan receivables 4,091 700 

Amounts due from credit institutions 154,560 65,475 
 
Obligatory reserves with NBG and NBU represent amounts deposited with NBG and NBU relating to daily settlements 
and other activities. Credit institutions are required to maintain an interest earning cash deposit (obligatory reserve) with 
NBG and NBU, the amount of which depends on the level of funds attracted by the credit institution. The Group’s ability 
to withdraw these deposits is restricted by the statutory legislature. The Group earned up to 2% annual interest on 
obligatory reserve with NBG (2006: 1.5%). 
 
As of 31 December 2007 GEL 610 (2006: GEL 1,181) was placed on current accounts and inter-bank deposits with one 
(2006: two) internationally recognised OECD banks. Those amounts were pledged to the counterparty bank as security for 
open commitments. 
 
As of 31 December 2007 inter-bank time deposits and loan receivables include GEL 3,979 (2006: GEL 685) placed with  
an Azerbaijani bank (2006: Georgian bank). 
 
 

10. Loans to Customers  
 
Loans to customers comprise: 
 

 2007 2006 
Commercial loans  936,668 403,306 
Consumer loans 331,082 91,901 
Residential mortgage loans 236,397 82,307 
Micro-loans  152,436 101,369 
Gold-pawn loans 28,158 26,979 
Others  19,869 – 
 1,704,610 705,862 
Less – Allowance for loan impairment (28,929) (21,020) 
Loans to customers, net  1,675,681 684,842 
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10. Loans to Customers (continued) 
 

Allowance for impairment of loans to customers 
 
Movements of the allowance for impairment of loans to customers by class are as follows: 
 

 
Commercial 
loans 2007 

Consumer 
loans2007 

Residential 
mortgage 
loans 2007 

Micro-
loans 2007 

Gold-Pawn 
Loans 2007 

Others 
2007 

Total 
2007 

At 1 January 2007 15,522 3,606 1,223 668 1 – 21,020 
Charge/(reversal)   (4,093) 16,264 2,448 2,573 (1) 218 17,409 
Recoveries 4,544 1,856 593 925 – – 7,918 
Write-offs (4,173) (7,577) (1,445) (2,380) – – (15,575) 
Interest accrued on impaired loans  (740) (991) (62) (110) – – (1,903) 
Currency translation difference  60 – – – – – 60 

At 31 December 2007 11,120 13,158 2,757 1,676 – 218 28,929 
        
Individual impairment 5,330 3,311 479 539 – – 9,659 
Collective impairment 5,790 9,847 2,278 1,137 – 218 19,270 
 11,120 13,158 2,757 1,676 – 218 28,929 
Gross amount of loans, individually 
determined to be impaired, before 
deducting any individually assessed 
impairment allowance 24,753 10,366 3,551 1,700 – 1,119 41,489 

 
 

Corporate 
loans 2006 

Consumer 
loans 
2006 

Residential 
mortgage 
loans 2006 

Micro 
loans 2006 

Gold-Pawn 
Loans 2006 

Others 
2006 

Total 
2006 

At 1 January 2006 11,319 1,984 1,834 1,455 394 – 16,986 
Charge/(reversal) 8,652 4,445 448 614 (393) – 13,766 
Recoveries 2,001 592 523 147 – – 3,263 
Write-offs (3,339) (2,674) (1,403) (1,241) – – (8,657) 
Interest accrued on impaired loans  (3,111) (741) (179) (307) – – (4,338) 
At 31 December 2006 15,522 3,606 1,223 668 1 – 21,020 
        
Individual impairment 12,171 16 446 – – – 12,633 
Collective impairment 3,351 3,590 777 668 1 – 8,387 
 15,522 3,606 1,223 668 1 – 21,020 
Gross amount of loans, individually 
determined to be impaired, before 
deducting any individually assessed 
impairment allowance 39,954 195 2,125 – – – 42,274 

 
Individually impaired loans 
 
Interest income accrued on loans, for which individual impairment allowances have been recognized as at 31 December 
2007 comprised GEL 2,324 (2006: GEL 657).  
 
Collateral and other credit enhancements  
 
The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. Guidelines are 
implemented regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and valuation parameters. 
 
The main types of collateral obtained are as follows: 
 

- For commercial lending, charges over real estate properties, inventory and trade receivables. 
- For retail lending, mortgages over residential properties. 
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10. Loans to Customers (continued) 
 
Collateral and other credit enhancements (continued) 

 
Management monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying 
agreement, and monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its review of the adequacy of the allowance for loan 
impairment. 
 
Concentration of loans to customers 
 
As of 31 December 2007 concentration of loans granted by the Group to ten largest third party borrowers comprised 
GEL 226,989 accounting for 13% of gross loan portfolio of the Group (2006: GEL 103,563 and 15%, respectively). An 
allowance of GEL 1,705 (2006: GEL 1,877) was established against these loans.  
 
As of 31 December 2007 and 2006 loans are principally issued within Georgia, and their distribution by industry sector is 
as follows: 
 

 2007 2006 
Individuals  699,456 244,462 
Trade and services  648,086 297,819 
Construction  157,797 78,273 
Agriculture  64,567 13,990 
Mining  55,053 17,674 
Energy  11,512 10,261 
Transport and communication  8,084 23,899 
Others 60,055 19,484 
 1,704,610 705,862 
Less – allowance for loan impairment (28,929) (21,020) 
Loans to customers, net  1,675,681 684,842 

 
Loans have been extended to the following types of customers: 
 

 2007 2006 
Private companies 967,023 434,185 
Individuals 699,456 244,462 
State-owned entities 38,131 27,215 
Loans to customers - Gross 1,704,610 705,862 
Less – allowance for loan impairment             (28,929) (21,020) 
Loans to customers, net            1,675,681 684,842 

 
The following is a reconciliation of the individual and collective allowances for impairment losses on loans to customers: 
 
 2007 2006 
 Individual 

impairment 
Collective 

impairment Total 
Individual 

impairment 
Collective 

impairment Total 
 2007 2007 2007 2006 2006 2006 

At 1 January 12,633 8,387 21,020 11,579 5,407 16,986 
Charge/(reversal)  for the year (4,207) 21,616 17,409 7,259 6,507 13,766 
Recoveries 5,706 2,212 7,918 3,078 185 3,263 
Write-offs (3,945) (11,630) (15,575) (5,680) (2,977) (8,657) 
Interest accrued on impairment 
loans to customers  (588) (1,315) (1,903) (3,603) (735) (4,338) 
Currency translation differences 60 – 60 – – – 

At 31 December  9,659 19,270 28,929 12,633 8,387 21,020 
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11. Finance Lease Receivables 
 

Finance lease receivables comprised the following: 
 

 31 December 
2007 

31 December 
2006 

Minimum lease payments receivables  54,844 11,428 
Less - Unearned finance lease income  (7,354) (2,229) 
 47,490 9,199 
Less - Allowance for impairment  (816) (108) 

Finance lease receivables, net  46,674 9,091 
 
The difference between the minimum lease payments to be received in the future and the finance lease receivables 
represents unearned finance income. 
 
As of 31 December 2007, concentration of investments in five largest lessees comprised GEL 38,723 or 83% of total 
finance lease receivables (2006: GEL 6,734 or 74%) and finance income received from them as of 31 December 2007 
comprised GEL 2,627 or 64% of total finance income from lease. (2006: GEL 754 or 65%). 
 
As of 31 December 2007 lease receivables amounting to GEL 38,783 represent receivables from a Government agency.  
 
Future minimum lease payments to be received after 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006 are as follows:  
 

 31 December 
2007 

31 December 
2006 

Within 1 year  34,087 5,682 
From 1 to 5 years  20,757 5,733 
More than 5 years  – 13 
Minimum lease payment receivables  54,844 11,428 

 
Minimum lease payments to be received after 31 December 2007 and 2006 are denominated in the following currencies:  
 

 31 December 
2007 

31 December 
2006 

US Dollars  48,208 5,494 
Euros  6,636 5,934 
Minimum lease payment receivables  54,844 11,428 

 
The equipment the Group leases out at 31 December 2007 and 2006 can be segregated into the following categories: 
 

 31 December 2007 31 December 2006 
 

Amount 
Number   

of projects Amount 
Number   

of projects 
Air and land transport 44,035 87 1,648 30 
Construction equipment 9,306 29 8,879 15 
Machinery & equipment 1,503 16 901 10 
Minimum lease  
payment receivables  54,844 132 11,428 55 

 
 

12. Investment Securities  
 

Available-for-sale securities comprise: 
 

 2007 2006 
Corporate bonds 24,879 4,353 
Ministry of Finance treasury bills  10,745 – 
Corporate shares 6,763 5,534 
Available-for-sale securities 42,387 9,887 
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12. Investment Securities (continued) 
 
As of 31 December 2007 Corporate bonds included GEL 15,542 investment in six financial institutions in Ukraine. 
Corporate shares include investments in Georgian retail chain and wine producing company amounting to GEL 3,998 and 
GEL 1,555, respectively.  
 
As of 31 December 2006, investments in available-for-sale corporate shares include GEL 4,353 investments in two 
financial institutions in Georgia and Ukraine. Corporate bonds comprise of GEL 5,534 investment in one financial 
institution in Georgia. 
 
Nominal interest rates and maturities of these securities are as follows: 
 

 31 December 2007 31 December 2006 
 % Maturity % Maturity 

Corporate bonds 14.47% 1-6 years 15% 2007 
Ministry of Finance treasury bills 9.61% 1-4 years – – 

 
Held-to-maturity securities comprise: 
 

 2007 2006 
 Carrying value Nominal value Carrying value Nominal value 

NBG Certificates of Deposit 146,016 149,151 140,390 142,976 
State debt securities  38,115 37,930 46,740 46,770 
Corporate bonds  8,263 7,958 114 114 
Ministry of finance treasury bills 70 70   
     
Held-to-maturity securities 192,464 195,109 187,244 189,860 

 
As of 31 December 2007 corporate bonds comprised of GEL 8,263 investments in two Russian financial institutions 
securities.  
 
Contractual interest rates and maturities of these securities are as follows: 
 

 31 December 2007 31 December 2006 
 % Maturity % Maturity 

Corporate bonds 9.50% 2010 14.67% 2007 
Ministry of Finance treasury bills 13.00% 2008 – – 
NBG Certificates of Deposit 9.79% 2008 11.77% 2007 
State debt securities 13.00% 2009 13.00% 2008 

 
 

13. Investments in Associates 
 
Associates  
 
The following associates are accounted for under the equity method: 
 

2007      

Associates 
Ownership 
/ Voting, % Country 

Date of 
incorporation Industry 

Date of 
acquisition 

JSC SB Iberia 49.00% Georgia 12/13/2007 Construction N/A 
JSC Teliani Valley 25.17% Georgia 30/06/2000 Wine production 13/02/2007 
JSC iCall 27.03% Georgia 22/03/2005 Call center 22/11/2006 
JSC One Team 25.00% Georgia 23/04/2007 Entertainment N/A 
Matsne + 28.00% Georgia 29/06/2005 Advertising 15/12/2006 
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13. Investments in Associates (continued) 
 

2006      

Associates 
Ownership 
/ Voting, % Country 

Date of 
incorporation Industry 

Date of 
acquisition 

JSC iCall 27.03% Georgia 22/03/2005 Call center 22/11/2006 
Matsne + 28.00% Georgia 29/06/2005 Advertising 15/12/2006 

 
Movements in investments in associates were as follows: 
 
 2007 2006 
Investments in associates, beginning of year 496 – 
Purchase cost 5,275 496 
Disposal (700) – 
Share of profit   137 – 
Investments in associates as  end of year 5,208 496 

 
Investments in associates at 31 December 2007 include goodwill of GEL 2,413 (2006: GEL 475).  
 
The following table summarises certain financial information of the associates: 
 
Aggregated assets and liabilities of associates 2007 2006 
Assets 15,611 166 
Liabilities  (5,722) (147) 

Net assets 9,889 19 
 
Aggregated revenue and profit of associates 2007 2006 
Revenue 10,973 – 
Profit 1,089 – 

 
 

14. Investment Property 
 

 2007 2006 
At 1 January  1,224 – 
Purchases 10,499 1,224 
Transfers from property and equipment (Note 15) 5,132 – 
Net change in fair value through profit and loss 16,362 – 
Fair value adjustment through equity 1,848 – 
At 31 December  35,065 1,224 
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15. Property and Equipment 
 
The movements in property and equipment during 2007 were as follows: 
 

 Buildings 
Furniture & 

fixtures 
Computers &  

equipment 
Motor 

vehicles 
Leasehold 

improvements 
Assets under 
construction Total 

Cost or revaluation        
31 December 2006 37,652 21,005 11,483 1,824 2,027 4,168 78,159 
Acquisition through business 
combinations 4,147 1,782 2,759 336 – 34 9,058 
Additions 25,249 18,900 7,912 3,492 526 16,261 72,340 
Disposals – (69) (946) (35) (89) (445) (1,584) 
Transfers 5,398 – – – 1,647 (7,045) – 
Transfers to investment property (5,132) – – – – – (5,132) 
Revaluation 66,975 – – – – – 66,975 
Currency translation adjustment 795 667 308 148 – – 1,918 
31 December 2007 135,084 42,285 21,516 5,765 4,111 12,973 221,734 
        Accumulated impairment        
31 December 2006 and  
31 December 2007 467 – – – – – 467 
        Accumulated depreciation        
31 December 2006 1,227 4,314 4,097 749 477 – 10,864 
Depreciation charge 926 3,236 3,041 744 694 – 8,641 
Currency translation difference (7) – 2 (5) – – (10) 
Disposals (14) (19) (538) (182) (61) – (814) 
Revaluation (2,070) – – – – – (2,070) 
31 December 2007 62 7,531 6,602 1,306 1,110 - 16,611 
        Net book value:        
31 December 2006 35,958 16,691 7,386 1,075 1,550 4,168 66,828 

31 December 2007 134,555 34,754 14,914 4,459 3,001 12,973 204,656 
 
The movements in property and equipment during 2006 were as follows: 
 

 
Buildings 

Furniture & 
fixtures 

Computers &  
equipment 

Motor 
vehicles 

Leasehold 
improvements 

Assets under 
construction Total 

Cost or revaluation         
31 December 2005 22,262 11,354 8,636 1,323 1,314 369 45,258 
Acquisition through business 
combinations  4,758 1,129 889 194 236 – 7,206 
Additions  9,427 8,639 3,847 556 211 5,633 28,313 
Disposals  (137) (117) (1,889) (249) (165) (61) (2,618) 
Transfers  1,342 – – – 431 (1,773) – 
31 December 2006 37,652 21,005 11,483 1,824 2,027 4,168 78,159 
        Accumulated impairment         
31 December 2005 and 2006  467 – – – – – 467 
        Accumulated depreciation        
31 December 2005 719 3,054 4,087 776 340 – 8,976 
Depreciation charge 616 1,401 1,905 217 302 – 4,441 
Disposals  (108) (141) (1,895) (244) (165) – (2,553) 
31 December 2006 1,227 4,314 4,097 749 477 – 10,864 
        Net book value        
31 December 2005 21,076 8,300 4,549 547 974 369 35,815 

31 December 2006 35,958 16,691 7,386 1,075 1,550 4,168 66,828 
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15. Property and Equipment (continued) 
 
The Group engaged an independent appraiser to determine the fair value of its buildings. Fair value is determined by reference to 
market-based evidence. The latest date of the revaluation was 31 December 2007. If the buildings were measured using the cost 
model, the carrying amounts as of 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006 would be as follows:  
 

 2007 2006 
Cost 62,605 32,148 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (2,815) (1,443) 
Net carrying amount 59,790 30,705 

 
 

16. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 
 

Movements in goodwill and intangible assets during 2007 were as follows: 
 

 
Goodwill 

Core Deposit 
Intangible 

Computer 
software Total 

Cost      
31 December 2006 40,705 – 6,355 47,060 
Acquisition through business 

combinations (Note 5) 69,026 1,688 1,155 71,869 
Additions  767 – 1,131 1,898 
Disposals – – (1,030) (1,030) 
     
31 December 2007 110,498 1,688 7,611 119,797 
     Accumulated amortization  
and impairment     
31 December 2006 426 – 3,205 3,631 
Amortization  charge – – 1,219 1,219 
Impairment charge – – 3 3 
Disposals  – – (967) (967) 
Revaluation of amortization charge – – (79) (79) 
Currency translation difference – – 1 1 
31 December 2007 426 – 3,382 3,808 
     Net book value:     
31 December 2006 40,279 – 3,150 43,429 

31 December 2007 110,072 1,688 4,229 115,989 
 
Movements in goodwill and intangible assets during 2006 were as follows: 
 

 
Goodwill 

Computer 
software Total 

Cost     
31 December 2005 5,730 4,144 9,874 
Acquisition through business combinations  34,975 255 35,230 
Additions – 1,963 1,963 
Disposals – (7) (7) 
31 December 2006 40,705 6,355 47,060 
    Accumulated amortization and impairment    
31 December 2005 – 2,189 2,189 
Amortization  charge – 1,020 1,020 
Impairment charge 426 – 426 
Disposals  – (4) (4) 
31 December 2006 426 3,205 3,631 
    Net book value:    
31 December 2005 5,730 1,955 7,685 

31 December 2006 40,279 3,150 43,429 
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16. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (continued) 
 

As of 31 December 2007 goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to the following cash-
generating units for impairment testing purposes: 
 

 JSC Bank of Georgia 
 JSC Insurance Company  Aldagi-BCI 
 JSC Universal Bank of Development and Partnership 
 JSC Galt & Taggart Bank 
 JSC Intertour 
 United Georgian Registrar Ltd 
 JSC My Family Clinic 
 JSC Nova Technology 
 
The recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit has been determined based on a value-in-use calculation through a 
cash flow projection based on the approved budget under the assumption that business will not grow and the cash flows 
will be stable. The discount rate applied to cash flow projections is the weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) of each 
particular cash-generating unit. 
 
Carrying amount of goodwill (less impairment) allocated to each of the cash-generating units follows: 
 

 
WACC applied 
for impairment 

Carrying amount of goodwill 
31 December  

2007 
31 December 

2006 
JSC Bank of Georgia  10% 21,308 21,308 
JSC Universal Bank of Development and Partnership 9% 68,016 – 
JSC Insurance Company Aldagi-BCI 13% 18,454 14,259 
JSC Insurance Company BCI 13% – 2,341 
JSC Insurance Company Europace 13% – 1,450 
JSC My Family Clinic 13% 220 – 
JSC Galt & Taggart Bank 10% 599 – 
Intertour LLC 12% 698 514 
United Securities Registrar of Georgia, LLC 14% 366 – 
JSC Nova Technology 14% 411 – 
Company Center LLC 14% – 216 
Register Center LLC 14% – 90 
ICT Delameni LLC 14% – 60 
Holiday Travel LLC 12% – 41 
Total   110,072 40,279 

 
Goodwill amount that arose from JSC Intellect Bank and JSC Tbiluniversal Bank acquisition has been allocated to JSC Bank of 
Georgia, mainly due to the fact that JSC Bank of Georgia has utilized the assets and liabilities of the said financial institutions.  
 
Impairment testing of goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives 
 

Goodwill acquired through business combinations with indefinite lives have been allocated to two individual cash-
generating units, which are also reportable segments, for impairment testing: corporate banking and retail banking. 
 
The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the cash-generating units is as follows: 
 

 2007 2006 
Retail banking 55,036 13,628 
Corporate banking 34,889 7,682 
Insurance 18,673 18,049 
Asset & wealth management and brokerage 1,474 920 
 110,072 40,279 

 
Key assumptions used in value in use calculations 
 

The recoverable amount of the Asset Management unit has been determined based on a value-in-use calculation, using 
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by senior management covering a five-year period. The 
discount rate applied to cash flow projections beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a projected growth rate. 
The following rates are used by the Bank for corporate banking and retail banking: 
 

 Corporate Banking Retail Banking 
 2007, % 2006, % 2007, % 2006, % 
Discount rate 10% 11% 10% 11% 
Projected growth rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 
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16. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (continued) 
 

The following rates are used by the Bank for Insurance and Asset & Wealth Management and Brokerage:   
 

 

Insurance 

Asset & wealth 
management and 

brokerage 
 2007, % 2006, % 2007, % 2006, % 
Discount rate 13% 15% 12%-14% 14% 
Projected growth rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 

 
The calculation of value-in-use for both Asset Management and Retail Banking units is most sensitive to interest margins 
and discount rates assumptions: 
 
Interest margins 
 

Interest margins are based on average values achieved in the three years preceding the start of the budget period. These are 
increased over the budget period for anticipated market conditions. 
 
Discount rates 
 

Discount rates reflect management’s estimate of return of capital employed (ROCE) required in each business. This is the 
benchmark used by management to assess operating performance and to evaluate future investment proposals. Discount 
rates are calculated by using WACC. 
 
 

17. Taxation 
 

The corporate income tax expense comprises: 
 

 2007 2006 
Current income tax expense 7,638 3,697 
Deferred tax expense  – origination and reversal of temporary  differences 17,065 5,427 
Less: Deferred tax recognised directly in equity (10,633) (993) 

Income tax expense 14,070 8,131 
 
The income tax rate applicable to the majority of the Group’s income is 20%. The income tax rate applicable to 
subsidiaries income ranges from 15% to 25% (2006: 20%). The tax rate for interest income on state securities was 10%. 
Corporate income tax rate in Georgia reduced from 20% to 15% effective 1 January 2008. Reconciliation between the 
expected and the actual taxation charge is provided below. 
 
The effective income tax rate differs from the statutory income tax rates. As of 31 December 2007 and 2006 a 
reconciliation of the income tax expense based on statutory rates with actual is as follows: 
 

 2007 2006 
Profit before income tax expense 89,712 34,903 
Statutory tax rate 20% 20% 
   Theoretical income tax expense at statutory tax rate 17,942 6,981 
Tax at the domestic rates applicable to profits in the respective country  25 – 
Non-deductible share-based compensation expenses 964 517 
Interest income  – 46 
Other income  62 – 
State securities at lower tax rates (1,900) – 
Permanent differences 63 – 
Change in unrecognized deferred tax assets 144 – 
Effect of reduction in tax rate (3,226) – 
Non-deductible expenses:   
- impairment of intangible assets – 40 
- other impairment losses (153) 75 
- entertainment and business trips – 225 
- other 149 247 
Income tax expense 14,070 8,131 
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17. Taxation (continued) 
 

Georgia currently has an updated tax code which has been adopted and put in force in 2005. Applicable taxes include 
corporate income tax (profits tax), individuals withholding taxes, property tax and value added tax, among others. 
However,  regulations are often unclear or nonexistent and few precedents have been established. This creates tax risks in 
Georgia substantially more significant than typically found in countries with more developed tax systems. Management 
believes that the Group is in substantial compliance with the tax laws affecting its operations. However, the risk remains 
that relevant authorities could take differing positions with regard to interpretative issues.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities as of 31 December and their movements for the respective years follows: 
 

 

2005 

Origination and reversal  
of temporary differences 

2006 

Origination and reversal 
of temporary differences Effect of 

business 
combi-
nation 2007 

In the  
income 

statement 
Directly  
in equity 

In the  
income 

statement 
Directly  
in equity 

Tax effect of deductible  
temporary differences:         
Amounts due to credit institutions – 1,457 – 1,457 (1,422) – –  35 
Loans to customers – – – – 80 –  80 
Securities issued – – – –  – 55 55 
Reinsurance reserves – – – – 21 – – 21 
Reinsurance premiums payables – – – – 103 – – 103 
Allowances for impairment  
and provisions for other losses 59 788 – 847 (622) 

– – 
225 

Tax losses carried forward 446 (446) – – 1,313 – – 1,313 
Finance lease receivables 12 (12) – – 7 – – 7 
Intangible assets 119 (119) – – 181 – – 181 
Property and equipment 30 (30) – – 2 – – 2 
Other assets – – – – 115 –  115 
Other libilities  – – – – 263 – 39 302 
Gross deferred tax assets 666 1,638 – 2,304 41 – 94 2,439 
Unrecognized deferred tax assets (63)  – 63 (148) – (122) (207) 
Deferred tax assets 603 1,638 – 2,367 (107) – (28) 2,232 
   –      Tax effect of taxable temporary 
differences:         
Amounts due to credit institutions – – – – – – 1,710 1,710 
Amounts due to customers – – – – 502 – 123 625 
Securities available-for-sale – – – – 150 – 32 182 
Loans to customers 665 915 993 2,573 (305) – 2,223 4,491 
Reinsurance reserves – – – – 27 – – 27 
Insurance receivables – – – – 6 – – 6 
Allowances for receivables 124 (124) – – 38 – – 38 
Property and equipment 1,638 4,136 – 5,774 3,149 10,173 1,060 20,156 
Investment property – – – – 2,743 460 – 3,203 
Intangible assets – 731 – 731 277 – – 1,008 
Other assets 78 (78) – – 414 – 522 936 
Other liabilities 185 491 – 676 (676) –  – – 
Deferred tax liabilities 2,690 6,071 993 9,754 6,325 10,633 5,670 32,382 
         
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)  (2,087) (4,433) (993) (7,387) (6,432) (10,633) (5,698) (30,150) 

 
As of 31 December tax assets and liabilities consist of the following: 
 

 2007 2006 
Current tax assets  998 – 
Deferred tax assets  559 – 

Tax assets  1,557 – 
   Current tax liabilities  6,500 751 
Deferred tax liabilities  30,709 7,387 

Tax liabilities  37,209 8,138 
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18. Other Impairment Allowance and Provisions 
 

The movements in other impairment allowances and provisions were as follows:  
 

 
Investments  
in associates  

Other  
assets 

Guarantees and 
commitments Total 

31 December 2005 279 919 975 2,173 
Charge/(reversal) (176) 309 (303) (170) 
Write-offs (103) (700) – (803) 
Recoveries – – – – 
31 December 2006 – 528 672 1,200 
Charge/(reversal) – (696) 331 (365) 
Write-offs – (100) – (100) 
Recoveries – 274 – 274 
31 December 2007 – 6 1,003 1,009 

 
Allowance for impairment of assets is deducted from the carrying amounts of the related assets. Provisions for claims, 
guarantees and commitments are recorded in liabilities.  
 
 

19. Other Assets and Liabilities 
 

Other assets comprise: 
 

 2007 2006 
Reinsurers assets 15,768 11,279 
Insurance premiums receivables  14,354 5,791 
Prepayments for purchase of property and equipment  10,725 5,029 
Account receivables 3,690 807 
Operating taxes receivables  3,500 783 
Foreclosed assets  3,415 4,543 
Settlements on operations with securities  2,614 826 
Operating lease receivables  1,286 226 
Receivables from factoring operations 1,249 – 
Receivables from money transfers  997 3,853 
Due from reinsurers 219 – 
Other  3,505 680 
 61,322 33,817 
Less – Allowance for impairment of other assets (Note 18) (6) (528) 

Other assets 61,316 33,289 
 
Foreclosed assets represent assets repossessed from the borrowers of the Bank. These assets are not used for their 
intended purposes and are being held for short-term purposes with intent of sale.    
 
Other liabilities comprise: 
 

 2007 2006 
Accruals for employee compensation  20,943 4,476 
Unearned premiums reserve  18,712 9,405 
Insurance claims reserves  13,101 6,860 
Creditors  10,907 12,920 
Other taxes payable  7,384 623 
Reinsurance accounts payable  6,151 4,288 
Accounts payable 4,783 2,033 
Amounts payable for acquisitions  1,316 2,475 
Pension benefit obligations 1,262 – 
Dividends payable  317 313 
Other 10,268 1,165 
Other liabilities 95,144 44,558 
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19. Other Assets and Liabilities (continued) 
 
Amounts payable for acquisitions includes GEL 1,084 hold-back amount for acquisition of JSC Galt and Taggart Bank. 
Dividends payable represent dividends accrued but not collected by the shareholders of the Bank. These dividends are 
those declared for years 1997 through 2006.    
 
 

20. Amounts Due to Credit Institutions 
 
Amounts due to credit institutions comprise: 
 

 2007 2006 
Correspondent accounts 18,119 2,920 
Time deposits and inter-bank loans 62,009 79,180 
Borrowings from international credit institutions 821,667 142,281 
Amounts due to credit institutions 901,795 224,381 

 
During 2007 the Group received short-term funds from Georgian banks in different currencies. As of 31 December 2007 the 
Group had an equivalent of GEL 4,744 (2006: GEL 871) in foreign currencies received as deposits from Georgian banks. In 
2007 the Group paid up to 5% interest on these deposits (2006: 6%). 
 
Time deposits and inter-bank loans, and borrowings from international credit institutions were comprised of: 
 

As of  31  December  2007 
 
Credit institution 

Grant  
date 

Contractual 
maturity Currency 

Interest  
rate per annum 

Facility 
amount in 

original 
currency 

Outstanding 
Balance as of  

31 December 2007 
in GEL (*) 

BG Finance B.V. 8-Feb-07 8-Feb-12 USD 9% 200,000 323,110 
Merrill Lynch International 21-Dec-07 21-Jan-09 USD USDLIBOR+7.65% 65,000 101,577 
Citibank International PLC 17-Aug-07 17-Aug-08 USD LIBOR+1.9% 55,000 85,505 
Citibank International PLC 17-Aug-07 17-Feb-09 USD LIBOR+2.2% 43,500 69,386 
Merrill Lynch International 17-Aug-07 17-Aug-17 USD LIBOR+5.995% 35,000 58,135 
National Bank of Georgia 31-Dec-07 4-Jan-08 GEL 14% 30,000 30,000 
Citibank International PLC 20-Aug-07 20-Aug-10 USD LIBOR+2.75% 25,000 45,665 
Semper Augustos B.V. 31-Oct-07 25-Oct-17 USD 11.65% 15,000 24,360 
National Bank of Georgia 21-Feb-06 20-Feb-08 GEL 6% 20,000 20,014 
Netherlands  Development  Finance Company 22-Jan-07 15-Mar-14 USD LIBOR+3.3% 12,500 20,157 
European Bank for  Reconstruction and Development 17-Dec-07 Revolving USD LIBOR+1.5% 5,800 9,253 
World Business Capital 17-Feb-06 1-Oct-16 USD LIBOR+2.75% 10,000 12,728 
World Business Capital 29-Mar-07 25-Mar-17 USD LIBOR+2.75% 4,607 7,363 
Hillside Apex Fund Ltd (subordinated debt) 14-Aug-06 14-Aug-16 USD LIBOR+6.20% 5,000 8,354 
AKA Ausfuhrkredit-Gesellschaft m.b.H. 18-Nov-03 Revolving EUR LIBOR+2% 5,000 6,626 
Commerzbank AG 16-Dec-05 30-Dec-10 USD LIBOR+1.3% 5,000 5,816 
Balances less than GEL 5,000 various various various various – 55,627 
Total       883,676 

 

As of  31  December  2006 
 
Credit institution 

Grant  
date 

Contractual 
maturity Currency 

Interest  
rate per annum 

Facility 
amount in 

original 
currency 

Outstanding 
Balance as of  

31 December 2006 
in GEL (*) 

HBK Investments LP (Semper Augustus B.V.) 
(convertible subordinated debt) 1-Oct-06 27-Sep-16 USD 4% 25,000 43,335 

Citibank N. A. USA 24-Mar-06 24-Sep-07 USD LIBOR+4.75% 25,000 42,886 
Merrill Lynch International 15-Aug-06 15-Aug-07 USD LIBOR+2.65% 25,000 44,320 
National Bank of Georgia 21-Feb--06 20-Feb-08 GEL 6.20% 20,000 20,000 
World Business Capital 17-Feb-06 01-Oct-13 USD LIBOR+2.75% 10,000 17,168 
Hillside Apex Fund Ltd (subordinated debt) 14-Aug-06 14-Aug-16 USD LIBOR+6.20% 5,000 8,996 
AKA Ausfuhrkredit-Gesellschaft m.b.H. 18-Nov-03 Revolving EUR LIBOR+2% 5,000 6,973 
Commerzbank AG  16-Dec-05 30-Dec-10 USD  LIBOR+1.3% 5,000 6,586 
International Finance Corporation 30-Jun-03 15-Sep-10 USD LIBOR+4% 5,000 6,399 
Balances less than GEL 5,000 various various various various – 24,798 
Total       221,461 

 

* - includes accrued interest 
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20. Amounts Due to Credit Institutions (continued) 
 
The borrowing received on 1 October 2006 from a fund, HBK Investments L.P. (Semper Augustus B.V.), had 
convertibility feature valid for 2 years from the loan granting date (convertibility period). HBK was able to convert the 
granted loan into ordinary shares of the Bank for price equal to USD 21.6 per share. According to the contract there was 
no lower end limit to the volume of conversion. As of 31 December 2007 HBK has exercised the convertibility option. 
For details please see Note 23.  
 
In February 2007 BG Finance B.V., a special purpose entity with limited liability incorporated under the laws of the 
Netherlands, issued an aggregate principal amount of US$ 200 million 9.0% Loan Participation Notes (“LPN”) due in 
2012. The LPNs were issued for the sole purpose of financing a loan of the Bank pursuant to a loan agreement dated  
6 February 2007 between BG Finance B.V. and the Bank. These LPNs are listed on the official list of the UK Listing 
Authority and traded on the London Stock Exchange.  
 
Agreements for such borrowings contain certain covenants establishing for the Group different limits for capital adequacy, 
liquidity, currency position, credit exposures, leverage and others. As of 31 December 2006 and 2007, the Group complied 
with all the covenants of the loans received from credit institutions. 
 
 

21. Amounts Due to Customers 
 
The amounts due to customers include the following: 
 

 2007 2006 

Current accounts 737,045 361,164 
Time deposits 618,431 198,482 
Amounts due to customers 1,355,476 559,646 
   
Held as security against letters of credit 9,673 6,788 

Held as security against guarantees 16,701 1,079 
 
At year-end, amounts due to customers of GEL 302,246 (22%) were due to the 10 largest customers (2006: GEL 139,866 (25%)). 
 
Amounts due to customers include accounts with the following types of customers: 
 

 2007 2006 
Individuals 582,991 273,650 
Private enterprises 662,808 209,312 
State and budget organizations 109,677 76,684 

Amounts due to customers 1,355,476 559,646 
 
The breakdown of customer accounts by industry sector is as follows: 
 

 2007 2006 
Individuals  582,991 273,650 
Trade and services 354,874 107,082 
Governmental 109,677 76,684 
Energy 78,410 6,758 
Mining 68,407 31,757 
Construction 62,953 25,977 
Transport and communication 61,636 18,515 
Agriculture 260 625 
Other 36,268 18,598 

Amounts due to customers 1,355,476 559,646 
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22. Debt Securities Issued 
 
Debt securities issued consisted of the following: 
 

 2007 2006 
Series A bonds  1,603 – 
Series B bonds  3,390 – 
Promissory notes issued – 1,073 

Debt securities issued 4,993 1,073 
 
In October 2005 the Bank issued two series (A and B) of domestic non-documentary interest bearing bonds denominated 
in Ukrainian Hryvnia (“UAH”). The total volume of issuance was 40,000 bonds for the total amount of  
UAH 40,000 (GEL 14,164) thousand (at par). Series A bonds bear interest at 8.50% p.a. and mature in October 2008. 
Series B bonds bear interest rate at 12.00% p.a. and mature in October 2010.  
 
 

23. Equity 
 
As of 31 December 2007, authorized share capital comprised 32,835,619 common shares, of which 27,154,918 were issued 
and fully paid (2006: 25,335,619 common shares, of which 25,202,009 were issued and fully paid). Each share has a 
nominal value of one (1) Georgian Lari. Shares issued and outstanding as of 31 December 2007 are described below.  
GEL 99 comprises non-cash contribution to share capital.  
 
Movements of outstanding, issued and fully paid shares during 2007 and 2006 were as follows: 
 

 Number  
of shares 

Amount  
of shares 

 Ordinary Ordinary 
31 December 2005 14,728,784 14,729 
Increase in share capital 9,448,225 9,448 
Increase in share capital arising from share-based payments (Note 27) 175,000 175 
Increase in share capital for placement of future share-based payments into 

trust 850,000 850 
31 December 2006  25,202,009 25,202 
Increase in share capital 1,157,407 1,157 
Increase in share capital arising from share-based payments (Note 27) 145,502 146 
Increase in share capital for placement of future share-based payments into 

trust 650,000 650 
31 December 2007 27,154,918 27,155 

 
Share capital of the Group was paid by the shareholders in Georgian Lari and they are entitled to dividends in Georgian 
Lari. For 2007 net income attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank was GEL 72,484 (2006: 26,983). As of 31 
December 2007 weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year was 24,503,722 (2006: 
16,635,635). At 31 December 2007 the diluted number of ordinary shares was 24,598,722 shares (2006: 18,673,356). Thus, 
the basic and diluted earnings per share amounted to GEL 2.958 (2006: 1.622) and GEL 2.947, respectively (2006: 1.445).  
The 2007 dilution includes the effect of dilution of 95,000 shares deliverable to former shareholders of JSC Europace. The 
2006 dilution included the effect of share-based compensation of 650,000 shares (Note 27), guaranteed share-based 
compensation (Note 27), HBK conversion option (Note 20), and other dilutions of 95,000 shares. There has been no 
transaction involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the reporting date and the date of completion of 
these consolidated financial statements.  
 
In March 2006 the Group issued 11,640 shares in exchange for 25% equity interest in an existing subsidiary Georgian 
Leasing Company LLC.  
 
In November and December 2006 8,880,207 shares of the Bank in the form of GDRs were sold on the London Stock 
Exchange (the “LSE”) pursuant to an initial public offering to institutional investors. 7,440,207 shares in the form of 
GDRs were sold by the Bank while the balance was sold by the selling shareholders. Each GDR represents 1 ordinary 
share of the Bank. Bank of New York acts as a depository for these shares.  
 
On 2 August 2007 the Bank transferred 650,000 shares in the form of GDRs to Abacus Corporate Trustee Limited.  
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23. Equity (continued) 
 
On 18 August 2007 the Bank converted the convertible loan from HBK Semper Augustus for GEL 37,158 to equity and 
accordingly issued 1,157,407 shares in the exchange (Note 20).  
 
As of 31 December 2007 treasury shares of GEL 1,737 at a value and additional paid-in capital of GEL 12,116 comprise 
the Group’s shares owned by its subsidiary Galt & Taggart Securities, purchased in the open market (2006: treasury shares 
of GEL 222 and additional paid-in capital of GEL 2,657). 
 
Treasury shares of Georgian Lari 1,500,000 par value comprise Group’s shares in the form of GDRs held by Abacus 
Corporate Trustee Limited. (2006: 850). Of these, 206,000 GDRs were awarded and 68,660 GDRs vested in 2006 (Note 
27). Another 322,167 GDRs were awarded in 2007.  
 
During the year ended 31 December 2007, 145,502 ordinary shares of GEL 146 at par value and additional paid-in capital 
of GEL 948 have been granted as compensation to top management (2006: GEL 175 at par value and additional paid-in 
capital of GEL 402).  
 
In April 2006 the Group declared dividends of GEL 776 in respect of 2005 financial results being Georgian Lari 0.05 per 
share.  
 
Movements in other reserves 
 

 

Revaluation 
reserve for 
property  

and 
equipment 

and 
Investment 

Property 

Unrealised 
gains/(losses) 
on investment 

securities 
available- 
for-sale 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve Total 

     
At 1 January 2006  5,369 – – 5,369 
Depreciation of revaluation reserve, net of tax (112) – – (112) 
At 31 December 2006 5,257 – – 5,257 
     
Revaluation of buildings and investment property 70,893 – – 70,893 
Tax effect of revaluation of buildings (10,634) – – (10,634) 
Depreciation of revaluation reserve, net of tax (112) – – (112) 
Net unrealised gains   

on available-for-sale investments – 3,340 – 3,340 
Transfer of net realized gains on investment securities 

available-for-sale to the consolidated income statement – (2,481) – (2,481) 
Minority interest share in revaluation of property and 

equipment (964) – – (964) 
Currency translation differences – – 2,055 2,055 

At 31 December 2007 64,440 859 2,055 67,354 
 
Nature and purpose of other reserves 
 
Revaluation reserve for property and equipment 
The revaluation reserve for property and equipment is used to record increases in the fair value of buildings and 
investment property and decreases to the extent that such decrease relates to an increase on the same asset previously 
recognised in equity.  
 
Unrealised gains/(losses) on investment securities available-for-sale 
This reserve records fair value changes on available-for-sale investments.  
 
Foreign currency translation reserve 
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign subsidiaries.  
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24. Commitments and Contingencies 

 
Legal 
 
In the ordinary course of business, the Group is subject to legal actions and complaints. Management believes that the 
ultimate liability, if any, arising from such actions or complaints will not have a material adverse effect on the financial 
condition or the results of future operations of the Group. 
 
Financial commitments and contingencies 
 
As of 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006 the Group’s financial commitments and contingencies comprised the 
following:  
 

 2007 2006 
Credit-related commitments   
Undrawn loan facilities 39,962 44,337 
Letters of credit 23,130 33,802 
Guarantees 145,627 77,198 
 208,719 155,337 
   Operating lease commitments   
Not later than 1 year 6,200 2,774 
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 12,232 9,490 
Later than 5 years 5,902 8,417 
 24,334 20,681 
   Capital expenditure commitments 2,623 1,129 
   Less – Provisions (Note 18) (1,003) (672) 
Less – Cash held as security against letters of credit and guarantees  (26,374) (7,867) 
   
Financial commitments and contingencies - net 208,299 168,608 

 
As of 31 December 2007 the capital expenditures represented the commitment for purchase of property GEL 1,028, 
equipment of GEL 698 and software of GEL 897. As of 31 December 2006 the capital expenditure commitments 
represent the commitment for purchase of property of GEL 533, equipment of GEL 348, and software of GEL 248. 
 
 

25. Net fee and Commission Income 
 
Net fees and commission income comprises:  
 

 2007 2006 
Settlements operations 25,488 15,074 
Guarantees and letters of credit 7,548 4,713 
Cash collection 6,079 4,257 
Brokerage service fees 3,448 2,632 
Currency conversion operations 1,284 824 
Advisory 215 178 
Other 4,296 461 
Fee and commission income 48,358 28,139 
   
Settlements operations (2,692) (1,912) 
Guarantees and letters of credit (1,127) (1,257) 
Cash operations (253) (158) 
Currency conversion operations (162) (81) 
Other (2,376) (45) 
Fee and commission expense (6,610) (3,453) 
Net fee and commission income 41,748 24,686 
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26. Salaries and Other Employee Benefits, and General and Administrative Expenses 
 
Salaries and other employee benefits, and general and administrative expenses comprise:  
 

 2007 2006 
Salaries and bonuses 64,388 28,454 
Social security costs 11,251 4,862 
Salaries and other employee benefits  75,639 33,316 
   Occupancy and rent 6,173 3,223 
Marketing and advertising 4,767 2,564 
Legal and other professional services  4,132 2,289 
Communication  3,132 1,751 
Repairs and maintenance  3,033 1,523 
Office supplies 2,446 2,384 
Security 2,432 1,592 
Travel expenses  1,770 1,072 
Operating taxes 1,720 998 
Banking services 1,533 645 
Penalties  900 50 
Corporate hospitality and entertainment  681 539 
Insurance  559 806 
Personnel training and recruitment 342 399 
Other 2,544 814 

General and administrative expenses 36,164 20,649 
 
 

27. Share-based Payments 
 
In December 2006 Abacus Corporate Trustee Limited acting in its capacity as the trustee of the Bank’s EECP resolved to 
award the Bank’s 206,000 ordinary shares in the form of restricted GDRs to 18 executives of the Group in respect of the 
year ended 31 December 2005. The awards are subject to three year vesting. The Group considers 2 June 2006 as the grant 
date for these awards and estimates that the fair value of shares on 2 June 2006 was 12.85 Georgian Lari per share.  
 
In February 2007 Bank of Georgia’s Supervisory Board resolved to recommend to the trustee to award 267,550 Bank of 
Georgia ordinary shares in the form of restricted GDRs to the Group’s 23 executives pursuant to the EECP in respect of 
the year ended 31 December 2006. The awards are subject to three year vesting. The Group considers 2 June 2006 as the 
grant date for 190,000 of the Bank of Georgia shares in the form of restricted GDRs and 16 February 2007 grant date for 
the remaining  77,550 of Bank of Georgia ordinary shares in the form of restricted GDRs. The Bank of Georgia estimates 
that the fair value of the shares on 16 February 2007 was 45.74 Georgian Lari per share.  
 
The Group’s expense arising from EECP awards was GEL 7,898 for 2007 and GEL 2,009 for 2006.  
 
During 2007 the Group provided the Chairman of the Supervisory Board of the Bank with share-based compensation 
under the terms of the three-year service agreement signed in 2004. The total amount of compensation during 2007 under 
the terms of the service agreement totaled GEL 940 or 125,000 ordinary shares of the Bank. All shares are fully vested 
ordinary shares. The fair value of the shares at the grant date (August 18, 2004) was 3.299 Georgian Lari per share. The fair 
value of the shares was based on weighted average observable market prices for the shares traded at the Georgian Stock 
Exchange at the grant date. Total quantity of the shares granted at the grant date was 600,000 newly issued ordinary shares 
of which 500,000 shares were to vest over a 3-year period on a monthly basis starting 18 August 2004. The remaining 
100,000 shares fully vested as of 31 December 2005. 
 
Fair value of the shares granted at the measurement date has been determined based on available market quotations. 
 
In August 2007 Bank of Georgia’s Supervisory Board resolved to propose to the trustee of the Bank’s EECP the award of 
shares of the Bank in the form of restricted GDRs to the top three executives of the Bank. Each award will vest at the 
third anniversary of the date of grant. Award of each executive comprises of: top grant and annual grant. Top grant is a 
one-time action and has been awarded in 2007 only and its value is restricted by the 200% of the annual base salary of the 
respective executive in 2007. Annual grant will be awarded every year during the three consecutive years’ period as such 
executive will be employed by the Bank and its value is restricted by the 100% of the annual base salary of the respective 
executive during the vesting period. For these reason, the Group estimated the annual expense of share-based 
compensation related to the above mentioned award scheme award equal as 300% of the annual base salary of each 
executive in 2007. Aggregate expense associated with this scheme comprised GEL 3,339 in 2007 
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27. Share-based Payments (Continued) 
 
The weighted average fair value of share-based awards at the measurement date comprised 28.95.Georgian Lari per share (2006: 
12.85). 
 
The Group’s total share-based payment expenses for 2007 comprised GEL 8,992 (2006: 2,586).  
 
Below is the summary of the key share-based payments related data:  
 

Ordinary shares  2007 2006 
Number of shares awarded  145,502 175,000 
- Among them, to top management  145,502 175,000 
Number of shares vested  145,502 175,000 
Weighted average value at grant date, per share (GEL in full amount) 7.52 3.30 
Value at grant date, total (GEL)  1,094 577 
Expense recognized during the year (GEL)  1,094 577 
   

 
GDRs  2007 2006 
Number of GDRs awarded  322,167 206,000 
- Among them, to top management  244,617 185,000 
Number of GDRs vested  - 68,660 
Weighted average value at grant date, per share (GEL in full amount) 28.95 12.85 
Value at grant date, total (GEL)  9,328 2,647 
Expense recognized during the year (GEL) 7,898 2,009 
   

 
All instruments  2007 2006 
Total number of equity instruments awarded  467,669 381,000 
- Among them, to top management  390,119 360,000 
Total number of equity instruments vested  145,502 243,660 
Weighted average value at grant date, per share (GEL in full amount) 22.28 8.46 
Value at grant date, total (GEL)  10,422 3,224 
Total expense recognized during the year (GEL) 8,992 2,586 
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28. Risk Management 
 
Introduction 
 
Risk is inherent in the Group’s activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and 
monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. This process of risk management is critical to the Group’s continuing 
profitability and each individual within the Bank is accountable for the risk exposures relating to his or her responsibilities. 
The Group is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, the latter being subdivided into trading and non-trading 
risks. It is also subject to operating risks. 
 
The independent risk control process does not include business risks such as changes in the environment, technology and 
industry. They are monitored through the Bank’s strategic planning process. 
 
Risk management structure 
 
The Supervisory Board is ultimately responsible for identifying and controlling risks.  
 
Supervisory board 
 
The Supervisory Board is responsible for the overall risk management approach and for approving the risk strategies and 
principles. 
 
Management board 
 
The Management Board has the responsibility to monitor the overall risk process within the Group. 
 
Audit committee 
 
The Audit Committee has the overall responsibility for the development of the risk strategy and implementing principles, 
frameworks, policies and limits. It is responsible for the fundamental risk issues and manages and monitors relevant risk 
decisions. It is an independent body and is directly monitored by the Supervisory Board.  
 
Bank treasury 
 
Bank Treasury is responsible for managing the Bank’s assets and liabilities and the overall financial structure. It is also 
primarily responsible for the funding and liquidity risks of the Bank. 
 
Internal audit 
 
Risk management processes throughout the Group are audited annually by the internal audit function, that examines both 
the adequacy of the procedures and the Group’s compliance with the procedures. Internal Audit discusses the results of all 
assessments with management, and reports its findings and recommendations to the Audit Committee. 
 
Risk measurement and reporting systems 
 
The Group’s risks are measured using a method which reflects both the expected loss likely to arise in normal circumstances and 
unexpected losses, which are an estimate of the ultimate actual loss based on statistical models. The models make use of 
probabilities derived from historical experience, adjusted to reflect the economic environment. The Group also runs worse case 
scenarios that would arise in the event that extreme events which are unlikely to occur do, in fact, occur. 
 
Monitoring and controlling risks is primarily performed based on limits established by the Bank. These limits reflect the 
business strategy and market environment of the Bank as well as the level of risk that the Bank is willing to accept, with 
additional emphasis on selected industries. In addition the Bank monitors and measures the overall risk bearing capacity in 
relation to the aggregate risk exposure across all risks types and activities. 
 
Information compiled from all the businesses is examined and processed in order to analyse, control and identify early 
risks. This information is presented and explained to the Management Board,  and the head of each business division. The 
report includes aggregate credit exposure,  hold limit exceptions, liquidity ratios and risk profile changes Senior 
management assesses the appropriateness of the allowance for credit losses on a quarterly basis. The Management Board 
receives a comprehensive risk report once a quarter which is designed to provide all the necessary information to assess 
and conclude on the risks of the Group. 
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28. Risk Management (continued) 
 
Introduction (continued) 
 
For all levels throughout the Bank, specifically tailored risk reports are prepared and distributed in order to ensure that a ll 
business divisions have access to extensive, relevant and up-to-date information. 
 
A daily briefing is given to the Management Board and all other relevant employees of the Group on the utilisation of 
market limits proprietary investments and liquidity, plus any other risk developments. 
 
Risk mitigation 
 
As part of its overall risk management, the Group uses derivatives and other instruments to manage exposures resulting 
from changes in interest rates, foreign currencies, equity risks, credit risks, and exposures arising from forecast transactions. 
While these are intended for hedging, these do not qualify for hedge accounting.  
 
The Group actively uses collateral to reduce its credit risks (see below for more detail). 
 
Excessive risk concentration 
 
Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the same 
geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be 
similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of 
the Group’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry or geographical location. 
 
In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risks, the Group’s policies and procedures include specific guidelines to focus 
on maintaining a diversified portfolio. Identified concentrations of credit risks are controlled and managed accordingly.  
 
Credit risk  
 
Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a loss because its customers, clients or counterparties failed to discharge 
their contractual obligations. The Group manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is 
willing to accept for individual counterparties and for geographical and industry concentrations, and by monitoring 
exposures in relation to such limits. 
 
The Group has established a credit quality review process to provide early identification of possible changes in the 
creditworthiness of counterparties, including regular collateral revisions. Counterparty limits are established by the use of a 
credit risk classification system, which assigns each counterparty a risk rating. Risk ratings are subject to regular revision. 
The credit quality review process allows theGroup to assess the potential loss as a result of the risks to which it is exposed 
and take corrective action. 
 
Derivative financial instruments 
 
Credit risk arising from derivative financial instruments is, at any time, limited to those with positive fair values, as 
recorded in the balance sheet.  
 
Credit-related commitments risks 
 
The Group makes available to its customers guarantees which may require that the Group make payments on their behalf. 
Such payments are collected from customers based on the terms of the letter of credit. They expose the Bank to similar 
risks to loans and these are mitigated by the same control processes and policies. 
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28. Risk Management (continued) 
 
Credit risk (continued) 
 
The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the balance sheet, including 
derivatives. The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation through the use of master netting and 
collateral agreements. 
 
 

Notes 

Gross 
maximum 
exposure 

2007 

Gross 
maximum 
exposure 

2006 
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on hand) 7 312,060 68,966 
Trading securities 8 6,342 – 
Amounts due from credit institutions 9 154,560 65,475 
Loans to customers 10 1,675,681 684,842 
Net investments in leases 11 46,674 9,091 
Investment securities  12   

-Available-for-sale  42,387 9,887 
-Held-to-maturity  192,464 187,244 

  2,430,168 1,025,505 
Financial commitments and contingencies 24 208,299 168,608 
Total credit risk exposure  2,638,467      1,194,113 

 
Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value, the amounts shown above represent the current credit risk exposure 
but not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of changes in values. 
 
For more detail on the maximum exposure to credit risk for each class of financial instrument, references shall be made to 
the specific notes. The effect of collateral and other risk mitigation techniques is shown below. 
 
Credit quality per class of financial assets 
 
The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Group through internal credit ratings. The table below shows the 
credit quality by class of asset for loan-related balance sheet lines, based on the Group’s credit rating system. 
 
 Neither past due nor impaired 

Past due or 
individually 

impaired 2007 
Total 
2007 

 

Notes 
High grade 

2007 

Standard 
grade 
2007 

Sub-
standard 

grade 
2007 

Amounts due from credit institutions 9 154,560 – – – 154,560 
       
Loans to customers 10      

Corporate lending  855,112 32,539 110 48,907 936,668 
Consumer lending  242,844 64,561 2,793 20,884 331,082 
Residential mortgages  224,065 7,486 71 4,775 236,397 
Micro-loans  147,052 1,419 59 3,906 152,436 
Gold Pawn Loans  28,158 – – – 28,158 
Other  2,062 15,849 272 1,686 19,869 

    1,653,853 121,854 3,305 80,158 1,859,170 
       
Debt investment securities 12      

Available-for-sale  42,387 – – – 42,387 
Held-to-maturity  192,464 – – – 192,464 

  234,851 – – – 234,851 

Total  1,888,704 121,854 3,305 80,158 2,094,021 
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28. Risk Management (continued) 
 
Credit risk (continued) 
 
 Neither past due nor impaired 

Past due or 
individually 

impaired 2006 
Total 
2006 

 

Notes 
High grade 

2006 

Standard 
grade 
2006 

Sub–
standard 

grade 
2006 

Amounts due from credit institutions 9 65,475 – – – 65,475 
       
Loans to customers 10      

Corporate lending  342,632 636 2 60,036 403,306 
Micro–loans  98,984 467 22 1,896 101,369 
Consumer lending  62,178 22,616 858 6,249 91,901 
Residential mortgages  77,157 883 – 4,267 82,307 
Gold Pawn Loans  26,979 – – – 26,979 

  673,405 24,602 882 72,448 771,337 
Debt investment securities 12      

Available–for–sale  9,887 – – – 9,887 
Held–to–maturity  187,244 – – – 187,244 

  197,131 – – – 197,131 

Total  870,536 24,602 882 72,448 968,468 
 
Past due loans to customers include those that are only past due by a few days. An analysis of past due loans, by age, is 
provided below. The majority of the past due loans are not considered to be impaired. 
 
It is the Group’s policy to maintain accurate and consistent risk ratings across the credit portfolio. This facilitates focused 
management of the applicable risks and the comparison of credit exposures across all lines of business, geographic regions 
and products. The rating system is supported by a variety of financial analytics to provide the main inputs for the 
measurement of counterparty risk. All internal risk ratings are tailored to the various categories and are derived in 
accordance with the Group’s rating policy. The attributable risk ratings are assessed and updated regularly.  
 
The credit risk assessment policy for non-past due and individually non-impaired financial assets has been determined by 
the Bank as follows: 
 
A financial asset that has neither been in past due more than 30 days nor individually impaired is assessed as a financial 
asset with High Grade; 
 
A financial asset that is neither past due nor impaired for reporting date, but historically used to be past due more than 30 
is assessed as a financial asset with Standard Grade;   
 
A financial asset  that is neither past due nor impaired for reporting date, but historically used to be past due more than 60 
days or borrower of this loan has at least an additional borrowing in past due more than 60 days as of reporting date is 
assessed as a financial asset with  Sub-Standard Grade.   
 
Aging analysis of past due but not impaired loans per class of financial assets 
 

 Less than 
30 days 

2007 

31 to  
60 days 

2007 

61 to  
90 days 

2007 

More than 
90 days 

2007 
Total 
2007 

Amounts due from credit institutions – – – 564 564 
      
Loans to customers      

Corporate lending 22,549 1,774 80 4,371 28,774 
Micro-loans 2,175 – – – 2,175 
Consumer lending 10,008 58 40 1,180 11,286 

Residential mortgages 2,640 47 31 – 2,718 

Other 567 616 411 – 1,594 

Total 37,939 2,495 562 6,115 47,111 
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28. Risk Management (continued) 
 
Credit risk (continued) 
 

 Less than 
30 days 

2006 

31 to  
60 days 

2006 

61 to  
90 days 

2006 

More than 
90 days 

2006 
Total 
2006 

Loans to customers      
Corporate lending 19,805 – 42 2,285 22,132 
Micro-loans 878 8 11 4 901 
Consumer lending 3,371 40 20 41 3,472 
Residential mortgages 1,881 – 11 2 1,894 

Total 25,935 48 84 2,332 28,399 
 
See Note 10 for more detailed information with respect to the allowance for impairment of loans to customers. 
 
Carrying amount per class of financial assets whose terms have been renegotiated 
 
The table below shows the carrying amount for renegotiated financial assets, by class.  
 

 2007 2006 
Loans to customers   

Corporate lending 10,651 4,964 
Micro loans 638 221 
Consumer lending 3,221 67 
Residential mortgages 5,625 184 
Other 762 – 

Total 20,897 5,436 
 
Impairment assessment  
 
The main considerations for the loan impairment assessment include whether any payments of principal or interest are 
overdue by more than 150 days or there are any known difficulties in the cash flows of counterparties, credit rating 
downgrades, or infringement of the original terms of the contract. The Group addresses impairment assessment in two 
areas: individually assessed allowances and collectively assessed allowances. 
 
Individually assessed allowances 
 
The Group determines the allowances appropriate for each individually significant loan on an individual basis. Items 
considered when determining allowance amounts include the sustainability of the counterparty’s business plan, its ability to 
improve performance once a financial difficulty has arisen, projected receipts and the expected dividend payout should 
bankruptcy ensue, the availability of other financial support and the realisable value of collateral, and the timing of the 
expected cash flows. The impairment losses are evaluated at each reporting date, unless unforeseen circumstances require 
more careful attention. 
 
Collectively assessed allowances 
 
Allowances are assessed collectively for losses on loans to customers that are not individually significant (including credit 
cards, residential mortgages and unsecured consumer lending) and for individually significant loans where there is not yet 
objective evidence of individual impairment. Allowances are evaluated on each reporting date with each portfolio receiving 
a separate review. 
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28. Risk Management (continued) 
 
Credit risk (continued) 
 
The collective assessment takes account of impairment that is likely to be present in the portfolio even though there is not 
yet objective evidence of the impairment in an individual assessment. Impairment losses are estimated by taking into 
consideration of the following information: historical losses on the portfolio, current economic conditions, the appropriate 
delay between the time a loss is likely to have been uncured and the time it will be identified as requiring an individually 
assessed impairment allowance, and expected receipts and recoveries once impaired. Local management is responsible for 
deciding the length of this period which can extend for as long as one year. The impairment allowance is then reviewed by 
credit management to ensure alignment with the Bank’s overall policy. 
 
Financial guarantees and letters of credit are assessed and provision made in a similar manner as for loans. 
 
The geographical concentration of Group’s assets and liabilities is set out below: 
 

 2007 2006 
 

Georgia OECD 

CIS and 
other 

foreign 
banks Total Georgia OECD 

CIS and 
other 

foreign 
banks Total 

Assets:         
Cash and cash equivalents 105,393 207,049 93,328 405,770 40,370 61,790 5,885 108,045 
Trading securities – – 6,342 6,342 – – – – 
Amounts due from  

credit institutions 140,852 609 13,099 154,560 62,602 1,166 1,707 65,475 
Loans to customers 1,452,649 – 223,032 1,675,681 684,842 – – 684,842 
Finance lease receivables 46,674 – – 46,674 9,091 – – 9,091 
Investment securities:         
- available-for-sale 6,234 231 35,922 42,387 9,819 67 1 9,887 
- held-to-maturity 184,201 – 8,263 192,464 187,244 – – 187,244 
Others 396,938 17,281 15,514 429,733 136,866 8,062 3,814 148,742 
 2,332,941 225,170 395,500 2,953,611 1,130,834 71,085 11,407 1,213,326 
Liabilities:         
Amounts due to credit 

institutions 104,731 791,054 6,010 901,795 42,773 181,608 – 224,381 
Amounts due to customers 1,085,505 – 269,971 1,355,476 559,646 – – 559,646 
Debt securities issued – – 4,993 4,993 1,073 – – 1,073 
Others 116,455 6,673 10,228 133,356 45,560 6,013 1,795 53,368 
 1,306,691 797,727 291,202 2,395,620 649,052 187,621 1,795 838,468 

Net balance sheet position 1,026,250 (572,557) 104,298 557,991 481,782 (116,536) 9,612 374,858 
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28. Risk Management (continued) 
 
Liquidity risk and funding management 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due under normal and 
stress circumstances. To limit this risk, management has arranged diversified funding sources in addition to its core deposit 
base, manages assets with liquidity in mind, and monitors future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. This incorporates 
an assessment of expected cash flows and the availability of high grade collateral which could be used to secure additional 
funding if required. 
 
The Group maintains a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assets that can be easily liquidated in the event of an 
unforeseen interruption of cash flow. The Group also has committed lines of credit that it can assess to meet liquidity 
needs. In addition, the Group maintains a cash deposit (obligatory reserve) with the NBG, the amount of which depends 
on the level of customer funds attracted.  
 
The liquidity position is assessed and managed by the Bank primarily on a stand-alone basis, based on certain liquidity 
ratios established by the NBG. As at 31 December, these ratios were as follows: 
 

 2007, % 2006, % 
Average liquidity  ratio for the year 47.5% 30.9% 
Maximum Liquidity ratio 92.7% 65.7% 
Minimum Liquidity ratio 19.5% 19.6% 

 
Average liquidity ratio is calculated on stand-alone bases for JSC Bank of Georgia as annual average (arithmetic mean) of 
daily liquidity ratios computed as percentage of liquidity assets in liabilities determined by National Bank of Georgia as 
follows: 
 
Liquid assets - comprise cash, cash equivalents and other assets that have character to be immediately converted into cash. 
Those assets include investment securities issued by Georgian Government plus Certificates of Deposit issued by NBG up 
to 10% of liabilities used in calculation of average liquidity ratio and not including amounts due from credit institutions, 
other than inter-bank deposits, and/or debt securities of Governments and Central Banks of non-OECD countries, 
amounts in nostro accounts which are under lien,   impaired inter-bank deposits, amounts on obligatory reserve with NBG 
that are pledged due to borrowings from NBG.  
 
Liabilities  - comprise sum of total liabilities and off-balance sheet commitments not including subordinated loans, those 
commitments that are to be exercised or settled later than six month from reporting date, financial guarantees and letters 
of credit fully collateralized by cash covers in the bank,  commitments due to dealing operations with foreign currencies. 
Maximum and minimum rates of liquidity ratio are taken from historical data of appropriate reporting years. 
 
 
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2007 based on 
contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. Repayments which are subject to notice are treated as if notice were to be 
given immediately. However, the Group expects that many customers will not request repayment on the earliest date the 
Bank could be required to pay and the table does not reflect the expected cash flows indicated by the Bank’s deposit 
retention history. 
 
Financial liabilities 
As at 31 December 2007 

Less than 
3 months 

3 to 12 
months 

1 to 5 
years 

Over 
5 years Total 

Amounts due to credit institutions 128,421 192,214 679,129 201,732 1,201,496 
Amounts due to customers 1,006,758 302,902 77,374 3,785 1,390,819 
Debt securities issued and other liabilities 5,130 4,153 4,220 149 13,652 

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 1,140,309 499,269 760,723 205,666 2,605,967 
 
Financial liabilities 
As at 31 December 2006 

Less than 
3 months 

3 to 12 
months 

1 to 5 
years 

Over 
5 years Total 

Amounts due to credit institutions 15,817 115,239 70,207 63,261 264,524 
Amounts due to customers 441,049 99,614 24,888 1,260 566,811 
Debt securities issued  – 1,494 – – 1,494 

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 456,866 216,347 95,095 64,521 832,829 
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28. Risk Management (continued) 
 
Liquidity risk and funding management (continued) 
 
The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Group’s financial commitments and contingencies. 
 

 Less than 
3 months 

3 to 12 
months 

1 to  
5 years 

Over 
5 years Total 

2007 114,361 76,578 55,364 18,429 264,732 
2006 114,848 36,268 14,482 11,549 177,147 

 
The Group expects that not all of the contingent liabilities or commitments will be drawn before expiry of the 
commitments. 
 
The maturity analysis does not reflect the historical stability of current accounts. Their liquidation has historically taken 
place over a longer period than indicated in the tables above. These balances are included in amounts due in less than three 
months in the tables above.  
 
Included in due to customers are term deposits of individuals. In accordance with the Georgian legislation, the Bank Group is 
obliged to repay such deposits upon demand of a depositor. Refer to Note 21.  
 
Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in 
market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchanges, and equity prices. The Group classifies exposures to market risk 
into either trading or non-trading portfolios. Trading and non-trading positions are managed and monitored using other 
sensitivity analysis. Except for the concentrations within foreign currency, the Group has no significant concentration of 
market risk. 
 
Market risk  
Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair values of 
financial instruments. The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in interest rates, 
with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s income statement. 
 
The sensitivity of the income statement is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on the net interest income for 
one year, based on the floating rate non-trading financial assets and financial liabilities held at 31 December 2007. 
The sensitivity of equity is calculated by revaluing fixed rate available-for-sale financial assets at 31 December 2007 for the 
effects of the assumed changes in interest rates based on the assumption that there are parallel shifts in the yield curve. 
During 2007 and 2006 sensitivity analysis did not reveal significant potential effect on Group Equity.  
 

Currency 
Increase in basis points 

2007 

Sensitivity of net  
interest income 

2007 
Sensitivity of equity 

2007 
UAH 0.75% - 267 
EUR 0.75% (71) – 
USD 0.75% (3,097) – 

 

Currency 
Decrease in basis points 

2007 

Sensitivity of net 
interest income  

2007 
Sensitivity of equity 

2007 
UAH -1.25% - (445) 
EUR -1.50% 142 – 
USD -1.25% 5,393 – 
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28. Risk Management (continued) 
 
Market risk (continued) 
 

Currency 
Increase in basis points 

2006 

Sensitivity of net 
interest income 

2006 
Sensitivity of equity 

2006 
UAH 0.50% - 22 
EUR 1.50% (178) (178) 
USD 0.50% (611) (611) 

 

Currency 
Decrease in basis points 

2006 

Sensitivity of net 
interest income 

2006 
Sensitivity of equity 

2006 
UAH -1.00% - (44) 
EUR -0.50% 59 59 
USD -1.00% 1,221 1,221 

 
Currency risk 
 
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The 
Management Board has set limits on positions by currency based on the NBG regulations. Positions are monitored on a 
daily basis.  
 
The tables below indicate the currencies to which the Group had significant exposure at 31 December 2007 on its trading 
and non-trading monetary assets and liabilities and its forecast cash flows. The analysis calculates the effect of a reasonably 
possible movement of the currency rate against the Georgian Lari, with all other variables held constant on the income 
statement (due to the fair value of currency sensitive non-trading monetary assets and liabilities). The effect on equity does 
not differ from the effect on the income statement. A negative amount in the table reflects a potential net reduction in 
income statement or equity, while a positive amount reflects a net potential increase. During 2007 and 2006 sensitivity 
analysis did not reveal significant potential effect on Group Equity. 
 

Currency 

Change in 
currency 
rate in % 

2007 

Effect on 
profit 

before tax 
2007 

Effect on 
equity 
2007 

Change in 
currency 
rate in % 

2006 

Effect on 
profit 

before tax 
2006 

Effect on 
equity 
2006 

       
EUR 4.6% 104 – 4.2% (2) – 
GBP 5.0% (137) – 7.4% (9) – 
RUR 0.1% 24 –    
UAH 0.7% (38) – 0.7% 8 – 
USD 3.5% (2,450) – 3.6% (327) – 

 
Prepayment risk 
 
Prepayment risk is the risk that the Group will incur a financial loss because its customers and counterparties repay or 
request repayment earlier or later than expected, such as fixed rate mortgages when interest rates fall. 
 
The Group uses regression models to project the impact of varying levels of prepayment on its net interest income. The 
model makes a distinction between the different reasons for repayment (e.g. relocation, refinancing and renegotiation) and 
takes into account the effect of any prepayment penalties. The model is back tested against actual outcomes. 
 
The effect on profit before tax for one year and on equity, is as follows: 
 

 Effect on net  
interest income 

Effect on  
equity 

2007 25,658 – 
2006 52,521 – 
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28. Risk Management (continued) 
 
Operational risk 
 
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, fraud or external events. When controls fail to 
perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, or lead to financial loss. 
The Group cannot expect to eliminate all operational risks, but through a control framework and by monitoring and 
responding to potential risks, the Group is able to manage the risks. Controls include effective segregation of duties, 
access, authorisation and reconciliation procedures, staff education and assessment processes, including the use of internal 
audit. 
 
 

29. Fair Values of Financial Instruments 
 
Set out below is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments that are 
carried in the financial statements. The table does not include the fair values of non-financial assets and non-financial 
liabilities. 
 
 Carrying 

value 
2007 

Fair value 
2007 

Unrecognised 
gain/(loss) 

2007 

Carrying 
value 
2006 

Fair value 
2006 

Unrecognised 
gain/(loss) 

2006 
Financial assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 405,770 405,770 – 108,045 108,045 – 
Trading securities 6,342 6,342 – – – – 
Amounts due from credit 
institutions 154,560 154,560 – 65,475 65,475 – 
Loans to customers 1,675,681 1,675,681 – 684,842 684,842 – 
Finance lease receivables 46,674 46,674 – 9,091 9,091 – 
Investment securities:       
- available-for-sale 42,387 42,387 – 9,887 9,887 – 
- held-to-maturity 192,464  191,572 – 187,244 187,244 – 
       
Financial liabilities       
Amounts due to credit        

institutions 901,795 901,795 – 224,381 224,381 – 
Amounts due to customers 1,355,476 1,355,476 – 559,646 559,646 – 
Debt securities issued 4,993 4,993 – 1,073 1,073 – 
       
Total unrecognised change 
in unrealised fair value   –   – 
 
The following describes the methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values for those financial instruments 
which are not already recorded at fair value in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Assets for which fair value approximates carrying value 
 
For financial assets and financial liabilities that are liquid or have a short term maturity (less than thee months) it is assumed 
that the carrying amounts approximate to their fair value. This assumption is also applied to demand deposits, savings 
accounts without a specific maturity and variable rate financial instruments. 
 
Fixed rate financial instruments 
 
The fair value of fixed rate financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost are estimated by comparing market interest 
rates when they were first recognised with current market rates offered for similar financial instruments. The estimated fair 
value of fixed interest bearing deposits is based on discounted cash flows using prevailing money-market interest rates for 
debts with similar credit risk and maturity. For quoted debt issued the fair values are calculated based on quoted market prices. 
For those notes issued where quoted market prices are not available, a discounted cash flow model is used based on a current 
interest rate yield curve appropriate for the remaining term to maturity. 
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29. Fair Values of Financial Instruments (Continued) 
 
Financial instruments recorded at fair value 
 
The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value, between those whose fair value is based 
on quoted market prices, those involving valuation techniques where all the model inputs are observable in the market, and 
those where the valuation techniques involves the use of non-market observable inputs. 
 
 

Quoted 
market price 

2007 

Valuation techniques 
– market observable 

inputs 
2007 

Valuation 
techniques – non-
market observable 

inputs 
2007 

Total 
2007 

Financial assets     
     
Trading securities 6,342 – – 6,342 
Investment securities – available-for-sale 36,770 5,617 – 42,387 
 43,112 5,617 – 48,729 
 
 

Quoted 
market price 

2006 

Valuation techniques 
– market observable 

inputs 
2006 

Valuation 
techniques – non-
market observable 

inputs 
2006 

Total 
2006 

Financial assets     
     
Trading securities – – – – 
Investment securities – available-for-sale 4,353 5,534 – 9,887 
 4,353 5,534 – 9,887 
 
 

30. Maturity Analysis of Financial Assets and Liabilities 
 
The table below shows an analysis of financial assets and liabilities according to when they are expected to be recovered or 
settled. See Note 28 “Risk management” for the Group’s contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.  
 
 2007 2006 
 Within one 

year 
More than 
one year Total 

Within one 
year 

More than  
one year Total 

Financial assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 405,770 – 405,770 108,045 – 108,045 
Trading securities 6,342 – 6,342 – – – 
Amounts due from credit institutions 153,893 667 154,560 62,276 3,199 65,475 
Loans to customers 929,246 746,435 1,675,681 410,545 274,297 684,842 
Finance lease receivables 31,225 15,449 46,674 241 8,850 9,091 
Investment securities:       

– available–for–sale 7,787 34,600 42,387 9,887 – 9,887 
– held–to–maturity 176,466 15,998 192,464 159,641 27,603 187,244 

Total 1,710,729 813,149 2,523,878 750,635 313,949 1,064,584 
       
Financial liabilities       
Amounts due to credit institutions 146,815 754,980 901,795 100,248 124,133 224,381 
Amounts due to customers 1,280,911 74,565 1,355,476 536,647 22,999 559,646 
Debt securities issued 1,578 3,415 4,993 1,073 – 1,073 
Total 1,429,304 832,960 2,262,264 637,968 147,132 785,100 

Net 281,425 (19,811) 261,614 112,667 166,817 279,484 
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30. Maturity Analysis of Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued) 
 

The Group’s capability to discharge its liabilities relies on its ability to realize an equivalent amount of assets within the 
same period of time. In the Georgian marketplace, many short-term credits are granted with the expectation of renewing 
the loans at maturity. As such, the ultimate maturity of assets may be different from the analysis presented above. In 
addition, the undiscounted financial liability analysis gap does not reflect the historical stability of current accounts. Their 
liquidation has historically taken place over a longer period than indicated in the tables above. These balances are included 
in amounts due in less than one month in the tables above.  
 
The Group’s principal sources of liquidity are as follows: 
 

 deposits;  
 debt issues; 
 proceeds from sale of securities; 
 inter-bank deposit agreement; 
 principal repayments on loans; 
 interest income; and 
 fees and commissions income. 
 
As of 31 December 2007 deposits amounted to GEL 1,355,476 (2006: GEL 559,646) and represented 57% (2006: 67%) of 
Group’s total liabilities. These borrowings continue to provide a majority of the Group’s funding and represent a well-
diversified and stable source of funds. As of 31 December 2007 amounts owed to other credit institutions amounted to 
GEL 901,795 (2006: GEL 224,381) and represented 38 % (2006: 27%) of total liabilities.  
 
In management’s opinion, liquidity is sufficient to meet the Group’s present requirements. 
 
 

31. Related Party Disclosures 
 

In accordance with IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”, parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control 
the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. In considering 
each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form. 
 
Related parties may enter into transactions which unrelated parties might not, and transactions between related parties may 
not be effected on the same terms, conditions and amounts as transactions between unrelated parties. 
 
The volumes of related party transactions, outstanding balances at the year end, and related expenses and income for the 
year are as follows: 
 

 2007 2006 
 

Parent  
Asso-
ciates 

Key 
management 

personnel Parent 
Asso-
ciates 

Key 
management 

personnel 
Loans outstanding at 1 January, gross – 6,010 312 – 3,272 1,143 
Loans issued during the year – 14,237 507 – 11,494 591 
Loan repayments during the year – (6,649) (299) – (8,756) (1,422) 
Other movements – – – – – – 
Loans outstanding at 31 December, gross – 13,598 520 – 6,010 312 
Less: allowance for impairment at 31 December – (324) (10) – (185) (6) 
Loans outstanding at 31 December, net – 13,274 510 – 5,825 306 
       Interest income on loans – 1,102 58 – 634 10 
Loan impairment charge – 139 4 – (55) 17 
       Deposits at 1 January 11,281 2,944 7,252 – 1,751 113 
Deposits received during the year 1,452 95,488 12,038 11,281 36,246 13,672 
Deposits repaid during the year – (93,947) (18,664) – (35,053) (6,533) 
Other movements – – – – – – 
Deposits at 31 December 12,733 4,485 626 11,281 2,944 7,252 
       Current accounts at 31 December       
       Interest expense on deposits 746 178 97 483 147 157 
              Fee and commission income 
Other income – – 852 – – – 

JSC Bank of Georgia and Subsidiaries Notes to 2007 Consolidated Financial Statements

(Thousands of Georgian Lari)



2007 / Annual Report / 101

JSC Bank of Georgia and Subsidiaries Notes to 2007 Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

(Thousands of Georgian Lari) 
 
 

59 

31. Related Party Disclosures (continued) 
 
Compensation of key management personnel was comprised of the following: 
 

 2007 2006 
Salaries and other benefits 16,104 3,723 
    - Among them, termination benefits 4,876 - 
Share-based payments compensation 8,992 2,586 
     - Among them, termination benefits 1,944 - 
Social security costs 4,124 282 
Recruitment costs  20 24 
Total key management compensation 29,240 6,615 

 
There were 70 number of key management personnel as 31 December 2007 (2006: 57 number) 
 

32. Capital 
 
The Group maintains an actively managed capital base to cover risks inherent in the business. The adequacy of the 
Group’s capital is monitored using, among other measures, the ratios established by the Basel Capital Accord 1988 and the 
ratios established by the NBG in supervising the Bank.  
 
During the past year, the Bank and the Group had complied in full with all its externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to ensure that the Bank complies with externally imposed 
capital requirements and that the Group maintains strong credit ratings and healthy capital ratios in order to support its 
business and to maximise shareholders’ value. 
 
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and 
the risk characteristics of its activities. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the 
amount of dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue capital securities. No changes were 
made in the objectives, policies and processes from the previous years. 
 
NBG capital adequacy ratio 
 
The NBG requires banks to maintain a minimum capital adequacy ratio of 12% of risk-weighted assets, computed based 
on IFRS financial statements. As of 31 December 2007 and 2006, the Bank’s capital adequacy ratio on this basis was as 
follows:  
 

 2007 2006 
Core capital 368,959 307,620 
Supplementary capital 162,867 87,599 
Less: Deductions from capital (166,230) (17,236) 
Total regulatory capital 365,596 377,983 
   
Risk-weighted assets 2,796,443 1,325,114 
   
Banks capital adequacy ratio 13.1% 28.5% 

 
Regulatory capital consists of Core capital, which comprises share, additional paid-up capital, retained earnings including 
current year profit, foreign currency translation and minority interests less accrued dividends, net long positions in own 
shares and goodwill. Certain adjustments are made to IFRS-based results and reserves, as prescribed by the NBG. The 
other component of regulatory capital is Supplementary capital, which includes subordinated long-term debt preference 
shares and revaluation reserves. 
 

JSC Bank of Georgia and Subsidiaries Notes to 2007 Consolidated Financial Statements

(Thousands of Georgian Lari)



102 / JSC Bank of Georgia 

JSC Bank of Georgia and Subsidiaries Notes to 2007 Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

(Thousands of Georgian Lari) 
 
 

60 

32. Capital (continued) 
 
Capital adequacy ratio under Basel Capital Accord 1988 
 
The Group’s capital adequacy ratio, computed in accordance with the Basel Capital Accord 1988, with subsequent 
amendments including the amendment to incorporate market risks, as of 31 December 2007 and 2006, follows: 
 

 2007 2006 
Tier 1 capital 464,516 366,177 
Tier 2 capital 159,914 57,534 
Less: Deductions from capital (214,615) (37,124) 
Total regulatory capital 409,815 386,587 
   
Risk-weighted assets 1,859,330 804,117 
   
Tier 1 capital ratio 25.0% 45.5% 
Total capital ratio 22.0% 48.1% 

 

Minimum capital adequacy ratio 8% 8% 
 
 

33. Events Subsequent to Balance Sheet Date 
 

On 23 January 2008 the shareholders’ extraordinary general meeting (EGM) of the Bank acknowledged the resignation of 
Mr. Lado Gurgenidze, Chairman of the Supervisory Board and approved the nomination of Mr. Kakha Kiknavelidze as a 
member of the Supervisory Board. 
 
On 10 January 2008 the Bank obtained a USD 65 million senior loan facility arranged, structured and provided by Merrill 
Lynch International. The term of the facility is 13 months and can be extended to 24 and 36 months by mutual consent.  
 
On 18 January 2008 Caucasus Energy & Infrastructure (CEI), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Bank as of 31 December 
2007, went publicly listed at the Georgian Stock Exchange. On 15 February 2008 CEI completed a private placement of its 
shares and consequently raised US$50 million primarily for the purpose of investing in the construction of small and 
medium size hydropower plant in Georgia and other infrastructure projects. As a result of the public listing and private 
placement, the BOG shareholdings in CEI reduced from 100% to 8%. Further, in March 2008 CEI issued its first 
Euroclearable GDR with 1 GDR representing 10 local shares. 
 
On 13 February 2008 the Bank sold four million new ordinary shares in the form of GDRs at a price of USD 25 per GDR 
(the “Offer Price”). The offering raised gross proceeds of USD 100 million. The offering represents approximately 14.7% 
of the issued share capital before the offering. The Offer Price is equal to 1.6% discount to the prevailing closing market 
price on the date of the offering. ING Bank acted as Sole Book runner, Unicredit Group was the Joint Lead Manager and 
Galt and Taggart Securities, the Bank’s brokerage subsidiary, acted as Selling Agent, of the offering.   
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